
 
 
 
 
A Meeting of the PLANNING COMMITTEE will be held at 
the Civic Offices, Shute End, Wokingham, RG40 1BN on 
WEDNESDAY 12 OCTOBER 2016 AT 7.00 PM 
 
 
 

 
Andy Couldrick 
Chief Executive 
Published on 4 October 2016 
 
 
 
 
This meeting will be filmed for inclusion on the Council’s 
website. 

 
Please note that other people may film, record, tweet or blog 
from this meeting.  The use of these images or recordings is 
not under the Council’s control. 

Public Document Pack



 

 

Our Vision 

A great place to live, an even better place to do business 

Our Priorities 

Improve educational attainment and focus on every child 
achieving their potential 

Invest in regenerating towns and villages, support social and 
economic prosperity, whilst encouraging business growth 

Ensure strong sustainable communities that are vibrant and 
supported by well designed development 

Tackle traffic congestion in specific areas of the Borough 

Improve the customer experience when accessing Council 
services 

The Underpinning Principles 

Offer excellent value for your Council Tax 

Provide affordable homes 

Look after the vulnerable 

Improve health, wellbeing and quality of life 

Maintain and improve the waste collection, recycling and fuel 
efficiency 

Deliver quality in all that we do 



 

MEMBERSHIP OF THE PLANNING COMMITTEE 
 
Councillors  

Tim Holton (Chairman) Chris Singleton (Vice-
Chairman) 

Chris Bowring 

Philip Houldsworth John Kaiser Malcolm Richards 
Rachelle Shepherd-DuBey Wayne Smith Bill Soane 

 
 

ITEM 
NO. 

WARD SUBJECT 
PAGE 
NO. 

    
53.    APOLOGIES 

To receive any apologies for absence. 
 

    
54.    MINUTES OF PREVIOUS MEETING 

To confirm the Minutes of the Meeting held on 14 
September 2016. 

5 - 10 

    
55.    DECLARATION OF INTEREST 

To receive any declaration of interest 
 

    
56.    APPLICATIONS TO BE DEFERRED AND 

WITHDRAWN ITEMS 
To consider any recommendations to defer 
applications from the schedule and to note any 
applications that may have been withdrawn. 

 

    
57.   Norreys APPLICATION NO - 161839 BELL FARM, BELL 

FOUNDRY LANE, WOKINGHAM 
Recommendation:  Conditional Approval, subject to 
Legal Agreements. 

11 - 58 

    
58.   Arborfield; 

Barkham; 
Finchampstead 
South; 
Swallowfield 

APPLICATION NO - 161747 LAND AT ARBORFIELD 
GARRISON, BIGGS LANE ('PARCELS A-G') 
Recommendation:  Conditional Approval 

59 - 90 

    
59.   Shinfield South APPLICATION NO - 161631 PULLEYN 

TRANSPORT, CHURCH LANE, THREE MILE 
CROSS 
Recommendation:  Conditional Approval 

91 - 106 

    
60.   Remenham, 

Wargrave and 
Ruscombe 

APPLICATION NO - 162328 LAND ADJACENT TO 9 
MIDDLEFIELDS, RUSCOMBE 
Recommendation:  Conditional Approval 

107 - 120 

    
61.   Barkham APPLICATION NO - 161452 1-3 COPPID HILL, 

BARKHAM ROAD, BARKHAM 
Recommendation:  Conditional Approval, subject to 
Legal agreements. 

 

 

121 - 130 



 

    
62.   Wokingham 

Without 
APPLICATION NO - 162396 2 HOLME GREEN, 
EASTHAMPSTEAD ROAD, WOKINGHAM 
Recommendation:  Conditional Approval  

 

131 - 142 

    
63.    PRE COMMITTEE SITE VISITS 

To consider any recommendations from the Head of 
Development Management to hold pre-committee site 
visits, set out in Members’ Update 

 

   
Any other items which the Chairman decides are urgent  
A Supplementary Agenda will be issued by the Chief Executive if there are any 
other items to consider under this heading. 

 

 
GLOSSARY OF TERMS 
The following abbreviations were used in the above Index and in reports. 
 
C/A Conditional Approval (grant planning permission) 
CIL Community Infrastructure Levy 
R Refuse (planning permission) 
LB (application for) Listed Building Consent 

S106 
Section 106 legal agreement between Council and applicant in accordance 
with the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 

F (application for) Full Planning Permission 
MU Members’ Update circulated at the meeting 
RM Reserved Matters not approved when Outline Permission previously granted 
VAR Variation of a condition/conditions attached to a previous approval 
PS 
Category 

Performance Statistic Code for the Planning Application 

 
  

CONTACT OFFICER 
Arabella Yandle Democratic Services Officer 
Tel 0118 974 6059 
Email arabella.yandle@wokingham.gov.uk 
Postal Address Civic Offices, Shute End, Wokingham, RG40 1BN 



 

MINUTES OF A MEETING OF THE  
PLANNING COMMITTEE 

HELD ON 14 SEPTEMBER 2016 FROM 7.00 PM TO 8.30 PM 
 
Committee Members Present 
Councillors:  Tim Holton (Chairman), Chris Singleton (Vice-Chairman), Chris Bowring, 
Philip Houldsworth, John Kaiser, Malcolm Richards, Rachelle Shepherd-DuBey, 
Wayne Smith and Bill Soane 
 
Other Councillors Present 
Councillors: Anthony Pollock  
 
Officers Present 
Chris Easton, Service Manager, Highways Development Management 
Clare Lawrence, Head of Development Management and Regulatory Services 
Mary Severin, Borough Solicitor 
Arabella Yandle 
Madeleine Shopland 
 
Case Officers Present 
Pooja Kumar 
David Smith 
Alex Thwaites 
Graham Vaughan 
 
44. APOLOGIES  
There were no apologies received. 
 
45. MINUTES OF PREVIOUS MEETING  
The Minutes of the meeting of the Committee held on 17 August 2016 were confirmed as a 
correct record and signed by the Chairman.  
 
MEMBERS' UPDATE 
There are a number of references to the Members’ Update within these minutes. The 
Members’ update was circulated to all present prior to the meeting. A copy is attached. 
 
46. DECLARATION OF INTEREST  
Councillor Richards stated that although he did not have a personal interest in Item 48, 
application no. 162004 Shinfield Eastern Relief Road, South of M4 SDL, he wanted it to be 
noted that he had attended meetings with Officers in his role as Executive Member for 
Highways and Transport regarding the Shinfield Relief Road.  He indicated that he would 
not take part in discussions or vote on this application; however he would remain in the 
room during the consideration of the application 
 
47. APPLICATIONS TO BE DEFERRED AND WITHDRAWN ITEMS  
There were no items withdrawn or deferred. 
 
48. APPLICATION NO 162004 - SHINFIELD  EASTERN RELIEF ROAD, SOUTH OF 

M4 SDL  
Proposal: Application for Variation of Conditions 8 (details of walls, fences and other 
means of enclosure), 10 (details of hard and soft landscape details) and 21 (details of 
Noise Mitigation) of Planning Permission 160011 (Shinfield Eastern Relief Road (ERR)) to 

5

Agenda Item 54.



 

allow for amendments to details of such which were previously submitted to and approved 
in writing by the Local Planning Authority 
 
Applicant: University of Reading 
 
The Committee received and reviewed a report about this application, set out in Agenda 
pages 13 to 34. 
 
The Committee was advised that the Members Update included: 
 

 Clarification of reason for the listing of the application by Councillor Pollock; 

 Clarification regarding wet weather and noise levels; 

 Updated information regarding mature tree planting; 

 Proposed additional condition that the developer monitors the operational noise 
impact of the road upon Oatlands Road properties within 6 months of the road 
opening and submit results no later than 8 months after the road opening. If the 
noise environments experienced were within 3dBLA10, 18h further mitigation 
measures be implemented in accordance with a scheme of mitigation that has first 
been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority; 

 Proposed amendment to condition 2 to update plan numbers. 
 
Nigel Boyer, Shinfield Parish Council, spoke in objection to the application.  He stated that 
the Noise Impact Assessment was based on current traffic volumes and would not take 
into account any growth in traffic volume in future, in particular a possible 100 gravel truck 
movements per day by Cemex UK.  He also expressed concern about the impact of 
increased noise caused by poorly maintained roads, vehicle braking and acceleration and 
the light pollution that might be visible at night over previously open country. 
 
Mark Chatfield, Oatlands Road Residents Committee, spoke in objection to the 
application.  He asked why the application had not been presented as a Material Planning 
Consideration when the original plan had been approved.  He also questioned why 
acoustic fencing was not considered necessary.  
 
Councillor Anthony Pollock, Ward Member, spoke in objection to the application.  He 
stated that the Noise Impact Assessment did not take into account future traffic volume 
and that the noise increase adopted as the significance criteria in the Environmental 
Statement would be passed.  As an adopted road, the cost of any further noise mitigation 
would fall on the Council, so he suggested that the original plan, including its noise 
mitigation measures, be adhered to. 
 
In response to Member questions, the Service Manager, Highways Development 
Management stated that the question of braking and acceleration had been previously 
examined but was not part of the application, these matters are also addressed through 
the detailed design stage of the scheme and where appropriate amendments would have 
been made.  There is also a requirement for a Stage 3 Road Safety Audit to be carried out 
by the developer prior to the opening of the road.  The Head of Development Management 
and Regulatory Services advised that that the road already had planning permission and 
that light and the visual impact had been previously considered.  In regards to the issue of 
light pollution, the Planning Officer outlined the relative distances of the road from 
residences and stated that as the road went North-South and there would be no street 
lighting, that the impact of light pollution would be minimal.  With regards to traffic levels 
the Service Manager, Highways Development Management indicated that this issue had 

6



 

been previously taken into account as the ERR forms mitigation in line with the Council’s 
Core Strategy.  
 
Members raised questions as to whether planned builds of housing stock in Shinfield West 
had been taken into account as part of the Noise Impact Assessment and how the 
completion date of the ERR might be affected should the application be refused. In 
response to Members’ questions, the Officer indicated that the Noise Impact Assessment 
to support the application had taken into account the new houses. However, the proposed 
condition would require this position be monitored and if the noise exceeds the limits 
proposed, the developer would either need to implement the measures outlined in the 
original planning application or apply to implement alternative measures to mitigate the 
impact of the noise. 
 
In regard to acoustic fencing the Head of Development Management and Regulatory 
Services stated that experts had indicated that acoustic fencing was not required.  This 
had been tested by WSP who had agreed with the technical advice submitted. She 
indicated that refusal of the application would provide an opportunity to appeal the decision 
which could lead to a delay in completion of the road.     
 
Members requested that the monitoring of noise levels should include periods of time 
when there were wet roads and at night. 
 
RESOLVED: That application No. 162004 be approved, subject to the conditions set out 
on Agenda pages 14 to 21, with condition 2 amended and the additional condition as set 
out in the Members’ Update. 
 
49. APPLICATION NO 161536 - LAND AT ARBORFIELD GARRISON, BIGGS LANE 

('PARCEL T')  
Proposal: Application for Reserved Matters for the erection of 127 dwellings together with 
access from Princess Marina Drive with associated internal access roads, landscaping, 
open space, footpaths and sustainable urban drainage (SuDS), relating to ‘Parcel T’ land. 
 
Applicant: Crest Nicholson Operations Limited C/O Savills 
 
The Committee received and reviewed a report about this application, set out in Agenda 
pages 35 to 70. 
 
The Committee were advised that the Members’ Update included: 
 

 Clarification of the number of proposed parking spaces. 
 
A Member asked whether consideration could be given to the way the proposed right of 
way would join the Greenway.  The Service Manager, Highways Development 
Management indicated that the Greenway Strategy would deliver new greenway routes 
within Arborfield, the first to be delivered is the proposed connection to and through 
California Country Park which would connect into the footpath provision running adjacent 
to Parcel T.  The form of the crossing on Commonfield Lane between the Greenway and 
Parcel T would be reviewed and delivered by the Council.  
 
A Member asked about affordable housing.  The Planning Officer clarified that all the 
parcels in the Arborfield Garrison Development would include 25% affordable homes with 
the remainder of the required 35% being provided via contributions. 

7



 

 
RESOLVED: That application No. 161536 be approved, subject to the conditions set out 
on Agenda pages 35 to 61. 
 
50. APPLICATION NO 161292 - LAND WEST OF FINCHAMPSTEAD ROAD & ADJ 

TO SAND MARTINS GOLF COURSE, FINCHAMPSTEAD, RG40 3JT  
Proposal:  Full application for the proposed change of use of land from agricultural use to 
equestrian use for the keeping of horses and for the erection of a stable block with 
associated hardstanding, fencing and access track 
 
Applicant:  The Trustees of Peter Washington’s 1982 Trust 
 
The Committee received and reviewed a report about this application, set out in Agenda 
pages 71 to 92. 
 
The Committee were advised that the Members’ Update included: 
 

 Information on the dimensions of the proposed stable blocks and field shelter. 

 4 additional representations from residents and one additional representation from a 
Ward Member. 

 Additional information regarding the impact of manure. 

 Additional information on the impact of the application on the badger setts in the 
local area. 

 Proposed amendment to condition 4 that the development should not commence 
until the vehicular access had been surfaced with a permeable and bonded material 
across the entire width of the access for a distance of 10 metres. 

 Proposed amendment to condition 9 that no more than three horses at any one time 
should be kept or allowed to graze on the application site. 

 
Members had visited the site on Friday 9 September. 
 
In response to a Member question the Service Manager, Highways Development 
Management clarified that the existing gate would be removed and a new gate located a 
minimum of 10 metres back from the edge of the highway to allow adequate clear pull-in 
area for a horse box and vehicles. 
 
RESOLVED:  That application No. 161292 be approved, subject to the conditions set out 
on Agenda pages 71 to 92, with conditions 4 and 9 amended as set out in the Members’ 
Update. 
 
51. APPLICATION NO 161666 - UNIT 21, SUTTONS PARK AVENUE, EARLEY  
Proposal: Full application for demolition of existing industrial unit (Unit 21) and the 
erection of a retail supermarket (use class A1) and a drive-through coffee shop/cafe 
(mixed use class A3/A5) with associated car parking and landscaping 
 
Applicant: Standard Life Assurance Ltd. 
 
The Committee received and reviewed a report about this application, set out in Agenda 
pages 93 to 130. 
 
The Committee was advised that the Members’ Update included: 
 

8



 

 Additional information regarding employment and traffic; 

 Various amendments to the report; 

 Proposed updates to plan numbers in condition 2, 14 and 15; 

 Proposed amendment to condition 24 to clarify the floor space limit; 

 Proposed amendment to condition 28 to reflect a change to delivery hours following 
discussions and negotiations with the applicant. 

 
Tim Marsh, resident, spoke in objection to the application.  He raised concerns about noise 
and litter and questioned the proposed delivery and opening hours and suggested that 
they be curtailed.  He commented on the visual impact of a long white wall, requesting it 
be changed to brick. 
 
Simon Handy, Strutt and Parker, Agent, spoke in favour of the application.  He outlined the 
results of a survey they had carried out of residents and that the majority of responses had 
been positive about the development.  He commented on the measures taken by the 
developers to minimise the impact of the noise of deliveries by designing that these 
activities take place in away from Shepherd House Lane.  He stated that the existing 
property permitted deliveries and waste collection 24/7 and that the times referred to in the 
application represented a reduction of hours.  He stated that staff would be trained to 
maintain the site in regards to bins and litter and that trees would be planted to counter the 
effect of those removed. 
 
The Planning Officer stated that the Environmental Health Team was satisfied with the 
application.  The opening hours were similar to those of comparable stores.   In regards to 
bins, the Council would have an expectation that bins would be provided on site but bins 
outside the site could controlled as part of the application.  He also stated that although the 
white wall referred to was of a slightly different character to others in the area, it was not 
such as to cause harm to the visual amenity of the area.   
 
Members raised questions as to whether it was possible to establish a distance from the 
outlet that would have to be kept clean and free from litter.  They also questioned what 
type of contamination was referred to in item 36 of the planning issues. 
 
Officers stated that establishing an area outside the outlet that would need to be kept 
clean and litter free was not something that could be controlled through the planning 
application.  They stated that there was an Environmental Plan in place to deal with 
possible contamination.  In regards to access and deliveries it was pointed out that the 
plan offered wider aisles in the car park than required and that having the same entry for 
deliveries and the public was now a common feature. 
 
RESOLVED: That application No. 161666 be approved, subject to the conditions set out 
on Agenda pages 93 to 113, with the amendments to conditions 2, 14, 15, 24 and 28 as 
set out in the Members’ Update. 
 
52. PRE COMMITTEE SITE VISITS  
The Head of Development Management and Regulatory Services had recommended that 
pre-Committee site visits be undertaken in respect of the following applications: 
 

 161596 - Land to the West of Thames Valley Park Drive - full application for the 
proposed development of a Park and Ride facility providing approximately 277 
vehicular spaces, motorcycle parking and associated vehicular access and 
landscaping - to assess the impact of the development on the character of the area. 

9



 

 

 161452 - 1-3 Coppid Hill, Barkham Road, Barkham - outline application for the 
erection of 3no 4 bedroom detached dwellings and 1no 2 bedroom bungalow with 
additional parking for 1-3 Coppid Hill (access to be considered) - to assess the 
impact of the development on the character of the area. 

 

 162328 - Land adjacent to 9 Middlefields, Ruscombe - full application for the 
proposed erection of 2no two bedroom semi-detached dwellings with associated 
parking - to assess the impact of the development on the character of the area, 
neighbour amenity and parking provision.  

 

 161631 - Pulleyn Transport, Church Lane, Three Mile Cross - full planning 
application for the demolition of existing office building and erection of a cold store 
warehouse (B8 use class), with ancillary drivers rest accommodation with 
associated parking and landscaping, the closing of the existing access with 
formation of a new means of access - to assess the impact of the development on 
the character of the area and the highway.  

 
RESOLVED: That pre-Committee site visits be undertaken on Friday 7 October 2016 in 
respect of the following applications: 
 

 161596 - Land to the West of Thames Valley Park Drive - full application for the 
proposed development of a Park and Ride facility providing approximately 277 
vehicular spaces, motorcycle parking and associated vehicular access and 
landscaping - to assess the impact of the development on the character of the area. 

 

 161452 - 1-3 Coppid Hill, Barkham Road, Barkham - outline application for the 
erection of 3no 4 bedroom detached dwellings and 1no 2 bedroom bungalow with 
additional parking for 1-3 Coppid Hill (access to be considered) - to assess the 
impact of the development on the character of the area. 

 

 162328 - Land adjacent to 9 Middlefields, Ruscombe - full application for the 
proposed erection of 2no two bedroom semi-detached dwellings with associated 
parking - to assess the impact of the development on the character of the area, 
neighbour amenity and parking provision.  

 

 161631 - Pulleyn Transport, Church Lane, Three Mile Cross - full planning 
application for the demolition of existing office building and erection of a cold store 
warehouse (B8 use class), with ancillary drivers rest accommodation with 
associated parking and landscaping, the closing of the existing access with 
formation of a new means of access - to assess the impact of the development on 
the character of the area and the highway. 

 

10



ITEM NO: 57 
 
Development 
Management 
Ref No  

No weeks on 
day of 
committee 

Parish Ward Listed by: 

161839 15 weeks Wokingham 
Town 

Norreys Major 
Application 

 
Applicant Berkeley Homes 

 
Location Bell Farm, Bell Foundry Lane, Wokingham Postcode  RG40 5QF 

 
Proposal HYBRID APPLICATION  

OUTLINE APPLICATION: A section of the Northern Distributor Road 
(NDR) and associated infrastructure, including a cycle and footway. (All 
Matters Reserved)  
FULL APPLICATION: Phased development for the erection of 128 
dwellings and associated areas of Suitable Alternative Natural Green 
Space (SANG), open spaces and drainage/attenuation.  Two accesses 
from Bell Foundry Lane and a temporary cycle and footway. Demolition 
of existing farm buildings and one dwelling. 
 

Type Major 
PS Category PS1 
Officer David Smith 
 
FOR CONSIDERATION BY Planning Committee on 12th October 2016 
REPORT PREPARED BY Head of Development Management and Regulatory 

Services 
 

SUMMARY 

The application site is 15 hectares in area and occupies a position on the northern edge 
of the existing Wokingham town; comprising mainly open fields with a small group of 
redundant farm buildings to the south. 
 
Full planning permission is sought for 128 new homes on 6.3Ha (21DPH), together with  
a substantial 8.7Ha of publicly accessible greenspace. This significant swathe of green 
space to the north of the site would be of high landscape and recreational value; and 
exceeds minimum requirements for a development of this size. Further mitigation 
strategies are included to protect important ecology on the site. 
 
The application submissions demonstrate that the development would have no 
significant impact upon the highway network, both in the short and longer term. In 
particular the scheme would facilitate the transfer of land, at zero cost to the Council, to 
enable the up-grade of Bell Foundry Lane to the required Northern Distributor Road 
(NDR) and outline consent is sought in this regard. The development would also, 
through its CIL contributions, suitably mitigate its own impact upon local infrastructure. 
 
The application site is within the North Wokingham Strategic Development Location 
(SDL) and as such is in a sustainable location which has been allocated for managed 
growth. The occupants would have relatively easy access to a wide range of services 
via car, bus, walking and cycling routes which are being improved as part of the wider 

11

Agenda Item 57.



master planning of the area. Whilst the site was not specifically identified for housing 
development, the impacts of the development upon the locality would be substantially 
mitigated and, in those circumstances, would not significantly or demonstrably outweigh 
the planning benefits. 
 
The development would include a wide mix of dwelling sizes and types (including 
affordable) which accord with the aims of Government policy regarding social cohesion 
and inclusion. 
 
The development would deliver high quality design that respects the context of the site 
and the surroundings. The proposals have due regard to the landscape context of the 
area and incorporate adequate landscaping to soften the visual impact. There are also 
no existing residential dwellings in the immediate vicinity of the application site that 
could be affected by the development in terms of loss of daylight, sunlight or privacy. 
 
The road layout, car parking and cycle parking is provided in accordance with WBC 
standards. In addition, each of the dwellings satisfy the national standards in terms of 
size; whilst gardens are provided in accordance with WBC’s size standards.  
 
Officers are therefore recommending planning permission for the development, subject 
to the completion of a S106 agreement (Heads of Terms set out herein) and to the 
recommended conditions.  
 

 

PLANNING STATUS 

 North Wokingham Strategic Development Location (Core Strategy Policy CP20) 

 Flood Zone 2 

 5KM Thames Basin Heath SPA 

 Tree Preservation Order 
 

 

RECOMMENDATION 

Approve, subject to the following conditions and completion of S106 agreement 
inclusive of the following Heads of Terms: 

 Safeguarding of a corridor of Land for the delivery of the NDR, for transfer to 
WBC; 

 Affordable Housing Provision – 20% on site provision and 15% provided as a 
commuted sum for off-site provision; 

 SANG delivery, initial maintenance, transfer to WBC and maintenance 
contribution; 

 Strategic Access Management and Maintenance (SAMM) Contribution for the 
Thames Basin Heaths SPA; 

 Open Space delivery and maintenance thereafter; 

 Widening of the footpath on Twyford Road; 

 Additional Highways Planting to south west of the site; 

 Public Transport Subsidy Contribution; 

 My Journey Travel Plan Contribution; 

 Management and Maintenance of the Compound Area off of Twyford Road; 

 Commitments to providing opportunities for local labour in construction; 

 S106 Monitoring Contribution 
 

12



CONDITIONS: 
 
TIME LIMIT AND IMPLEMENTATION 
 
1 The development to which this permission relates must be begun not later than the 
expiration of three years beginning from the date of this decision notice. 
 
Reason: To comply with the provisions of Section 91(1) (a) of the Town and Country 
Planning Act 1990 and Section 51 of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004. 
 
2 The development hereby permitted, other than in respect to the NDR (details of which 
will follow pursuant to condition 3), shall be carried out in accordance with the following 
approved plans, other than where those details are altered pursuant to the requirements 
of the conditions of this planning permission: 
 
Drawings: 
 
Location Plan 3035.110 D 
Component Plan 3035.122 
Masterplan 2623-SK-04 
Housing Site Layout 3035.111 E 
Parking Plan 3035.112 F 
Materials Plan 3035.115 E 
Refuse Plan 3035.118 C 
Cycle Storage Plan 3035.119 B 
Storey Heights Plan 3035.120 C 
Service Margins Plan 3035.121 D 
Adoption Plan 4150449-SK65-P2 
Proposed Drainage and Levels 4150449-SK37-P4 
Proposed Drainage and Levels 4150449-SK38-P4 
House types - 3035.201 A Ps 65 - 68 (A) BHP ; 3035.202 A Ps 29 & 30, 69 & 70 (B1) 
BHP 
3035.203 A Ps 54 & 55 (B1) BHP ; 3035.204 A Ps 56 & 57 (B2) BHP ; 3035.205 A Ps 
18 & 19 (B3) BHP ; 3035.206 A Ps 20-21 (B3) BHP ; 3035.207 A Ps 27 & 28 (B2 + D) 
BHP ; 3035.208 A Ps 13 & 11 (B2 + D) BHP ; 3035.209 A P40 & 42 (B2 + D) BHP ; 
3035.210 A Ps 24 - 26 (B5) BHP ; 3035.211 A Ps 91-93 (B5) BHP ; 3035.212 A P58-61 
(C) BHP ; 3035.213 A P63 & 64 (C) BHP ; 3035.214 A P71 & 72 (C) BHP ; 3035.215 A 
P62, 75 - 78, 83 (E) BHP ; 3035.216 A P94 (E1) BHP ; 3035.217 A P95 (E1) BHP ; 
3035.218 A P96 (E2) BHP ; 3035.219 A P45 (F1) BHP ; 3035.220 A P81 (F1) BHP ; 
3035.221 A P87 (F1) BHP ; 3035.222 B Plot 90 (F1) BHP ; 3035.223 A P73 (F2) BHP ;  
3035.224 A P50 & 51 (F2) BHP 3035.225 A P47 (F3) BHP ;  3035.226 A P49, 82 (F3) 
BHP ; 3035.227 A P74 (F3) BHP ; 3035.228 A P85 (K) BHP ; 3035.229 A P86 (K) BHP ; 
3035.230 A P48 & 79 (N) BHP ; 3035.231 A P52, 80, 88, 89 (O) BHP ; 3035.232 A P53, 
84 (O) BHP ; 3035.233 A Ps 14 - 17 (A,B) BHP ; 3035.234 A 31 - 35 Floor Plans BHP ; 
3035.235 A 31 - 35 Elevations BHP ; 3035.236 A 36 - 39 Floor Plans BHP ; 3035.237 
36 - 39 Elevations BHP ; 3035.238 A P22 & 23 (B2) BHP ; 3035.239 A Ps 121 - 128 (B) 
BHP ; 3035.240 B Aff Flat Floor Plans BHP ; 3035.241 B Aff Flats Elevations BHP ; 
3035.242 A Ps 97 - 100 BHP ; 3035.243 A Ps 43 & 44 Aff 2B BHP ; 3035.244 A 101-
107 Plans BHP ; 3035.245 A 101-107 Elevations BHP ; 3035.246 B PD Flats Floor 
Plans BHP 
3035.247 PD Flats Elevations BHP ; 3035.248 A P46 (F2) BHP ; 3035.249 Garages 
and Carports 1 of 2 BHP ; and 3035.250 B Garages and Carports 2 of 2 BHP. 

13



Landscape - 2623-LA-16 Illustrative Landscape Masterplan-P2 ; 2623-LA-14-P1 SANG 
GA Plan ; 2623-LA-15-P1 Houses GA Plan ; 2623-PP-01 SANG Planting Plan ; 2623-
PP-02-DRAFT_220616 ; 2623-PP-03-DRAFT_220616 ; 2623-PP-04-DRAFT_220616 ; 
2623-PP-05-DRAFT_220616 ; and 2623-PP-06- DRAFT_220616. 
 
Reason: For the avoidance of doubt and in the interests of proper planning. 
 
3. Prior to construction of the Northern Distributor Road (NDR), details of (a) 
access; (b) appearance; (c) landscaping; (d) layout; and (e) scale of the NDR 
(hereinafter called "the reserved matters") shall be submitted to and approved in writing 
by the Local Planning Authority and the construction of the NDR shall be carried out as 
approved. 
 
Reason: In pursuance of s.92 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as amended 
by s.51 of the Planning and Compensation Act 2004). 
 
CONSTRUCTION MANAGEMENT 
 
4 No construction works shall commence before a Construction Environmental 
Management Plan (CEMP) has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority. Construction thereafter shall not be carried out otherwise than in 
accordance with the approved CEMP. The CEMP shall include the following matters: 
 
i) a construction travel protocol or Green Travel plan for the construction phase 
including details of parking and turning for vehicles of site personnel, operatives and 
visitors; 
ii) loading and unloading of plant and materials; 
iii) storage of plant and materials; 
iv) a construction traffic management plan including measures for traffic 
management and a programme of works / phasing / lorry routing including temporary 
signage and potential construction vehicle numbers;  
v) piling techniques including types of piling rig and earth moving machinery; 
vi) provision of boundary hoarding; 
vii) protection of the aquatic environment in terms of water quantity and quality; 
viii) details of proposed means of dust suppression, and mitigation measures for 
noise, vibration and odour; 
ix) details of measures to prevent mud from vehicles leaving the site during 
construction; 
x) details of any site construction office, compound and ancillary facility buildings; 
xi) lighting on site during construction (including temporary); 
xii) measures to ensure no on site fires during construction; 
xiii) details of the haul routes to be used to access the development;  
xiv) demolition protocol including details of how to deal with asbestos.  This shall 
include an Asbestos Management Report providing details of surveys, mitigation, and 
verification of asbestos management, and as appropriate, provision of contingency 
surveys, mitigation and verification to be adopted during the construction phase; 
xv) details of the temporary surface water management measures to be provided 
during the construction phase; 
xvi) details of the excavation of materials and the subsurface construction 
methodology; 
xviii) appointment of a Construction Liaison Officer. 
xix) monitoring and review mechanisms; 

14



 
Any deviation from this Statement shall be first agreed in writing with the Local Planning 
Authority. 
 
Reason:  To protect occupants of nearby dwellings from noise and disturbance during 
the construction period, in the interest of highway safety and convenience and to 
minimise the environmental impact of the construction phase in accordance with 
Wokingham Borough Core Strategy Policies CP1, CP3 and CP6. 
 
5 No construction access to the site shall be taken other than by accesses the details of 
which have first been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority. 
 
Reason: In the interests of highway safety and convenience in accordance with 
Wokingham Borough Core Strategy Policies CP1 and CP6. 
 
6 No development work relating to the development hereby approved shall take place 
other than between the hours of 08:00 am and 06:00 pm Monday to Friday and 08:00 
am to 01:00 pm Saturdays and at no time on Sundays or Bank or National Holidays.  
 
Reason: To protect the occupiers of neighbouring properties from noise and disturbance 
outside the permitted hours during the construction period. Relevant Policies:  Core 
Strategy policies CP1 and CP3. 
 
LEVELS 
 
7 The development hereby approved shall be constructed to the finished ground levels 
and finished floor levels shown on drawings 4150449-SK66 P2 and 4150449-SK67 P2; 
levels which shall be fully implemented before occupation of the relevant dwellings. 
  
Reason: To ensure a high quality of development that relates well to surrounding 
buildings and the landscape in accordance with NPPF, Wokingham Borough Core 
Strategy Policies CP1, CP3, CP19 and CC03 of the Managing Development Delivery 
Local Plan (Feb 2014). 
 
CONTAMINATION 
 
8 No works of construction shall commence at the site until such time as a 
contamination risk assessment of the application site (commencing with a  preliminary 
risk assessment followed by intrusive sampling if found to be necessary) and a scheme 
of mediation (if necessary) has been submitted to and approved in writing by the local 
planning authority. The scheme of mediation shall need to follow the guidelines set out 
in BS10175 ‘Code of Practice for the Investigation of Potentially Contaminated Sites’ 
and CLR11 Model procedures for the management of Land Contamination. Before 
buildings on the application site are occupied the remediation works to make the land 
suitable for its intended use,  as set out in the approved scheme of mediation, shall be 
completed and a validation report shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the 
local planning authority. 

 
Reason: To protect future residents from the potentially harmful effects of contamination 
– Core Strategy Policies CP1 and CP3. 
 

15



9 If, during development, contamination not previously identified is found to be present 
at the site then no further development (unless otherwise agreed in writing with the 
Local Planning Authority) shall be carried out until the developer has submitted, and 
obtained written approval from the Local Planning Authority for, a remediation strategy 
detailing how this unsuspected contamination shall be dealt with. The remediation 
strategy shall be implemented as approved, verified and reported to the reasonable 
satisfaction of the Local Planning Authority. 
 
Reason: To ensure that the development does not impact unacceptably upon existing 
ground conditions, geology, hydrology and hydrogeology of the site and surrounding 
area – Core Strategy Policies CP1 and CP3. 
 
DESIGN AND APPEARANCE 
 
10 Notwithstanding the approved drawings, and prior to the commencement of 
development works above ground level, samples and a schedule of all materials to be 
used in the external elevations of the development hereby approved shall be submitted 
to and approved in writing by the local planning authority. The development shall 
thereafter be carried out in accordance with the approved details. 
 
Reason: To ensure an adequate quality of detailed design so as to safeguard and 
enhance the visual amenities of the locality - Core Strategy Policies CP1 and CP3 and 
Managing Development Delivery Local Plan Document Policies CC04 and CC05. 
 
11 No plumbing or pipes, other than rainwater pipes, shall be fixed to the external faces 
of buildings. 
 
Reason: To ensure an appropriate standard of design - Core Strategy Policies CP1 and 
CP3 and Managing Development Delivery Local Plan Document Policies CC04 and 
CC05. 
 
REMOVAL OF PERMITTED DEVELOPMENT 
 
12 Notwithstanding the provisions of the Town and Country Planning (General 
Permitted Development) Order 1995 (as amended) (or any Order revoking and re-
enacting that Order with or without modification), no buildings, extensions or alterations 
permitted by Classes A, B, C, D and E, of Part 1 of the Second Schedule of the 1995 
Order (or any order revoking and re-enacting that order with or without modification) 
shall be carried out without the written consent of the Local Planning Authority. 
 
Reason: To safeguard the character of the area and residential amenity of future 
occupiers of the properties, in accordance with Wokingham Borough Core Strategy 
Policies CP1 and CP3. 
 
LANDSCAPING AND TREE PROTECTION 
 
13 No works of hard or soft landscaping shall occur at the site other than in accordance 
with full details of such which have first been submitted to and approved in writing by 
the Local Planning Authority. The details to be submitted for written approval shall 
include, as appropriate, the following: 
 

 Soft landscaping details, including a planting plan, schedules of plants (noting 

16



species, planting sizes and proposed numbers/densities); 

 Means of enclosure; 

 Hard surfacing materials; 

 Minor artefacts and structure (e.g. furniture, boardwalks, signs, street lighting, 
external services etc.); and 

 An implementation timetable.  
 
Reason: In the interests of visual amenity in accordance with the NPPF, Wokingham 
Core Strategy Policies CP1 and CP3 and Policy CC03 of the Managing Development 
Delivery Local Plan (Feb 2014). 
 
14 No occupation of the development hereby approved shall occur until a detailed 
Landscape and Ecological Management Plan has been submitted to and approved in 
writing by the Local Planning Authority. The detailed Landscape and Ecological 
Management Plan shall be in accordance with the recommendation and enhancement 
measures contained within the Bell Farm Ecology Ecological Appraisal (Hankinson 
Duckett, August 2015).The Landscape and Ecological Management shall thereafter be 
implemented in accordance with the approved plan unless otherwise approved in writing 
by the local planning authority. 
 
Reason: In order to ensure that the approved landscaping is satisfactorily maintained in 
accordance with NPPF, Wokingham Borough Core Strategy policies CP1, CP3 and 
CP7 and Managing Development Delivery Local Plan Policies CC03 and TB21. 
 
15 No trees, shrubs or hedges within the site which are shown as being retained on the 
approved plans shall be felled, uprooted wilfully damaged or destroyed, cut back in any 
way or removed without previous written consent of the local planning authority; any 
trees, shrubs or hedges removed without consent or dying or being severely damaged 
or becoming seriously diseased within 5 years from the completion of the development 
hereby permitted shall be replaced with trees, shrubs or hedge plants of similar size and 
species unless the local planning authority gives written consent to any variation. 
 
Reason: To secure the protection throughout the time that development is being carried 
out, of trees, shrubs and hedges growing within the site which are of amenity value to 
the area in accordance with Core Strategy policy CP3 and Managing Development 
Delivery Local Plan policies CC03 and TB21. 
 
16 a) No development or other operation within 15m of any existing trees and hedges 
shall commence on site until a scheme which provides for the retention and protection 
of trees, shrubs and hedges growing on or adjacent the site in accordance with BS5837: 
2012 has been submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority (the 
Approved Scheme); the tree protection measures approved shall be implemented in 
complete accordance with the Approved Scheme for the duration of the development. 
 
b) No excavations for services, storage of materials or machinery, parking of vehicles, 
deposit or excavation of soil or rubble, lighting of fires or disposal of liquids shall take 
place within an area designated as being fenced off or otherwise protected in the 
Approved Scheme. 
 
c) The fencing or other works which are part of the Approved Scheme shall not be 
moved or removed, temporarily or otherwise, until all works including external works 
have been completed and all equipment, machinery and surplus materials removed 

17



from the site, unless the prior approval of the local planning authority has first been 
sought and obtained. 
 
Reason: To secure the protection, throughout the time that the development is being 
carried out, of trees shrubs or hedgerows growing within or adjacent to the site which 
are of amenity value in accordance with Wokingham Borough Core Strategy Policies 
CP1 and CP3 and Managing Development Delivery Local Plan Policies CC03 and 
TB21. 
 
ECOLOGY 
 
17 Prior to commencement of above ground works for any sub phase of the 
development a detailed scheme to maintain or enhance the ecological permeability of 
the site (especially with regard to reptiles, amphibians and hedgehogs) shall be 
submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority for that sub phase of 
the development. The mitigation and contingency measures contained within the plan 
shall be implemented in accordance with the approved plan unless otherwise approved 
in writing by the local planning authority. 
 
Reason: To ensure appropriate mitigation for the biodiversity impact of the development 
in accordance with Wokingham Borough Core Strategy Policy CP7. 
 
18 The mitigation, contingency and enhancement measures contained within the hereby 
approved Bat Mitigation Strategy (section C2 of the Bat Survey Report of Buildings: 
ecoconsult: September 2016) shall be implemented in accordance with the approved 
plan unless otherwise approved in writing by the local planning authority. 
 
Reason: To ensure appropriate mitigation for the biodiversity impact of the development 
in accordance with Wokingham Borough Core Strategy Policy CP7. 
 
19 No lighting of principle highways, cycleways, footpaths and any other public areas 
shall be installed at the site other than in accordance with an External Lighting Strategy 
which has first been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority. The strategy shall include the type of lighting, contour illumination plans and 
measures to prevent light pollution and the details as approved shall be provided prior 
to occupation of the relevant dwelling houses, unless otherwise agreed in writing by the 
Local Planning Authority. 
 
Reason: To prevent an adverse impact upon wildlife, especially bats in accordance with 
Wokingham Borough Core Strategy Policy CP7 and to ensure the proper planning of 
the development as required by Core Strategy policies CP1, CP3 and CP19. 
 
20 The mitigation and contingency measures contained within the recommendations 
chapter of the submitted bird Survey Report (Ecoconsult Ltd, June 2016) shall be 
implemented in accordance with the approved plan unless otherwise agreed in writing 
by the local planning authority. 
 
Reason: To prevent an adverse impact upon birds, in accordance with Core Strategy 
Policy CP7. 
 
 
 

18



AMENITY 
 

21 The noise mitigation measures identified and recommended in the submitted 
Noise Impact Assessment (SRL dated 29/10/15 Report No. C/61047A/T01/LIW), 
shall be installed prior to the occupation of the relevant dwelling. 

 
Reason: To protect the amenities of future residents in accordance with Core Strategy 
Policies CP1 and CP3. 
 
22 No construction of dwellings located within phase 3 of the development (as identified 
on drawing 410.CP.105) shall be commenced until such time as the Thames Water 
Sewage Treatment Up-Grade Works (as identified in section 5 of the Odour Impact 
Assessment – TWPS15C_06_FINAL: February 2016) have been completed and written 
confirmation from Thames Water of the completion of such works has been submitted to 
and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 
 
Reason: To ensure an appropriate residential environment for future residents of the 
development – Core Strategy Policies CP1 and CP3. 
 
HIGHWAYS, ACCESS AND PARKING 
 
23 No dwelling shall be occupied until the vehicular accesses, driveways, parking and 
turning areas to serve it, including the unallocated spaces, have been provided in 
accordance with the plans hereby approved. The vehicle parking and turning spaces 
shall be retained and maintained in accordance with the approved details and the 
parking spaces shall remain available for the parking of vehicles at all times and the 
turning spaces shall not be used for any other purpose other than vehicle turning. 
 
Reason: To provide adequate off-street vehicle parking and turning space and to allow 
vehicles to enter and leave the site in a forward gear in the interests of road safety and 
convenience and providing a functional, accessible and safe development and in the 
interests of amenity. Relevant policy: Core Strategy policies CP3 and CP6 and 
Managing Development Delivery Local Plan policy CC07.  
 
24 No dwelling shall be occupied until secure and covered parking for cycles in relation 
to that dwelling has been provided in accordance with details which have first been 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The cycle parking 
(including the storage part of the garages) as approved shall be provided and 
permanently so-retained and available for the parking of bicycles thereafter.  
 
Reason: In order to ensure that secure weather-proof bicycle parking facilities are 
provided so as to encourage the use of sustainable modes of travel. Relevant policy: 
NPPF Section 4 (Sustainable Transport) and Core Strategy policies CP1, CP3 and CP6 
and Managing Development Delivery Local Plan policy CC07. 
 
25 The access from Bell Foundry Lane and the internal roads of the residential 
development shall only be constructed in accordance with full details of such which 
have first been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 
The details of the roads and footways to be submitted shall include construction details 
of the roads and footways, levels, widths, construction materials, depths of construction, 
surface water drainage, lighting and utilities and service margins. The roads and 
footways shall be constructed in accordance with the approved details to road base 

19



level before the relevant part of the development is occupied and the final wearing 
course will be provided within 3 months of the relevant occupation, unless otherwise 
agreed in writing by the local planning authority. 
 
Reason: To ensure that roads and footpaths are constructed to a standard that would 
be suitable for adoption as publicly maintainable highway, in the interests of providing a 
functional, accessible and safe development. Relevant policy: Core Strategy policies 
CP3 and CP6. 
 
26 All existing access points not incorporated in the development hereby permitted shall 
be stopped up by raising the existing dropped kerb, removing the existing bellmouth and 
reinstating the footway verge and highway boundary to the same line, level and detail 
as the adjoining footway verge and highway boundary either prior to occupation of the 
development or in accordance with an alternative timetable which has first been 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 
 
Reason: To limit the number of access points along the site boundary for the safety and 
convenience of the highway users. Relevant policy: Core Strategy policies CP3 and 
CP6. 
 
27 No occupation of the development shall commence until such time as a parking 
management plan for the development (including specific arrangements for prohibiting 
and restricting parking within the substation area accessed from Twyford Road) has 
been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. Thereafter, 
the car parking of the development shall only be operated in accordance with the details 
set out in the approved parking management plan. 
 
Reason: To ensure appropriate management of the car parking at the site. Relevant 
policy: Core Strategy policies CP3 and CP6. 
 
28 No parts of the development hereby approved shall be occupied until pedestrian and 
cycle links to the west, south and east of the development (either permanent 
arrangements or temporary provisions in advance of full delivery of the NDR) have been 
provided in accordance with full details of such which have first been submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 
 
Reason: To ensure delivery of appropriate provision of pedestrian and cycle access 
to/from the site from first occupation so as to encourage sustainable patterns of 
transport (Core Strategy Policies CP1, CP2, CP4 and CP20). 
 
29 No part of the development hereby approved shall be occupied until such time as a 
phased bus strategy identifying bus routes and the indicative location of bus stops 
serving the development has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority. 
 
Reason:  to ensure the provision of sustainable transport measures in accordance with 
NPPF, Wokingham Borough Core Strategy Policies CP1, CP6 and CP20. 
 
FLOODING AND DRAINAGE 
 
30 The development permitted by this planning permission shall be carried out in 
accordance with the approved Flood Risk Assessment (FRA) (references 

20



034_HH4150449_KJ_AD005 Issue 3 and 052_HH4150449_KLJ_AD005 ) hereby 
approved. The mitigation measures shall be fully implemented prior to occupation and 
subsequently in accordance with the timing / phasing arrangements embodied within 
the scheme, or within any other period as may subsequently be agreed, in writing, by 
the Local Planning Authority. 
 
Reason: To prevent flooding by ensuring the satisfactory storage and disposal of 
surface water from the site and providing an overall benefit to the site and the 
surrounding area – Core Strategy Policy CP1 and MDD DPD Policies CC09 and CC10. 
 

31 No drainage works at the site shall commence until such time as the following 
has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority: 

 

1. Approval from the Environment Agency of the proposed flood 
compensation scheme. 

2. Written agreement from Thames Water of the proposed foul drainage 
system. 

3. Details of the proposed surface water drainage scheme in accordance 
with the approved FRA. 

4. Full details of will be responsible for the maintenance of the SuDS 
features, throughout the lifetime of the development. 

 

The drainage works as approved shall be implemented as approved prior to the 
first occupation of the development or in accordance with an alternative delivery 
timetable which has first been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority. No discharge of foul or surface water from the site shall be 
accepted into the public system until the drainage works referred to in the 
strategy have been completed. 

 
Reason: To prevent flooding by ensuring the satisfactory storage and disposal of 
surface water from the site and providing an overall benefit to the site and the 
surrounding area. In addition, to ensure that sufficient capacity is made available to 
cope with the new development; and in order to avoid adverse environmental impact 
upon the community. Core Strategy Policy CP1 and MDD DPD Policies CC09 and 
CC10. 
 
SANG 
 
32 The SANG hereby approved shall be substantially complete and open to the public 
prior to the first occupation of any of the residential dwellings. 
 
Reason: To ensure delivery of the SANG so as to mitigate the otherwise unacceptable 
impacts of the development upon the Thames Basin Special Protection Area (Core 
Strategy Policy CP8). 
 
33 Notwithstanding the details shown on the SANG Layout Plans, development works 
for the SANG shall not commence until such time as the following information has been 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority: 
 

1. Details of litter bins to be provided (number, type and location(s)); 
2. Details of the Information boards (number, type, information to be displayed and 

location(s)); 

21



3. Details of the width of the proposed new footpath network; 
4. Details of the existing vehicle access culvert which should demonstrate that it is 

suitable to accommodate maintenance vehicles of 7.5tonnes;  
5. Details of the gates to be used for the vehicular and pedestrian accesses; 
6. Details of revised bridge designs; 
7. Details of the fencing specification that will secure the southern boundary along 

the Ashridge Stream; and 
8. Details of the landscape planting. 

 
Reason: The details of such contained in the current application submission are either 
lacking, insufficient or unacceptable; and to ensure that the development would 
maximise opportunities for ecology and recreation, in accordance with Policies CP7 and 
CP8 of the Core Strategy. 
 
MISCELLANEOUS 
 
34 All new dwellings shall be provided with the appropriate connections for broadband 
or similar technologies, or ducting that shall enable the connection of broadband or 
similar technologies. 
 
Reason: To ensure that an adequate level of infrastructure is provided in accordance 
with Wokingham Core Strategy Policy CP1 and CC04 of the Managing Development 
Delivery Local Plan (Feb 2014). 
 
35 The development shall include provision for all dwellings with a garden with: 
 
a. A water butt of an appropriate size installed to maximise rainwater collection; and 
b. Space for composting 
 
Reason: To reduce, reuse, and enable the efficient use of water and organic household 
waste in accordance with NPPF, Wokingham Borough Core Strategy Policy CP1, the 
Managing Development Delivery Local Plan Policy CC04, the Sustainable Design and 
Construction Supplementary Planning Document (2010) and the Arborfield Strategic 
Development Location Supplementary Planning Document (2011). 
 
RESERVED MATTERS 
 
36 The Reserved Matters application pertaining to the NDR shall include sufficient detail 
to demonstrate that there will be no flooding from runoff from the NDR for events up to 
the 100 flood event with a suitable allowance for climate change. 
 
Reason: To prevent flooding by ensuring the satisfactory storage and disposal of 
surface water from the site and providing an overall benefit to the site and the 
surrounding area – Core Strategy Policy CP1 and MDD DPD Policies CC09 and CC10. 
 
INFORMATIVES 
 
1 This decision letter does not convey an approval or consent which may be required 
under any enactment, by-law, order or regulation, other than Section 57 of the Town 
and Country Planning Act 1990. 
 
2 The Planning Permission the subject of this decision notice is also subject to a S106 

22



agreement; the requirements of which shall need to be executed by the developer in 
accordance with the requirements set out therein. 
 
3 The applicant is advised that the Council seeks that employers or developers within 
the borough commit to using local labour / contractors where possible. This should 
include: 

  
• Advertisement of jobs within local recruitment agencies / job centres;  
• Recruitment and training of residents from the local area;  
• Seek tender of local suppliers or contractors for work.  
  
 

4 Work on Highway 
The Corporate Head of Environment at the Council Offices, Shute End, Wokingham 
should be contacted for the approval of the access construction details before any work 
is carried out within the highway.  This planning permission does NOT authorise the 
construction of such an access. 

 
5 Mud on Road 
Adequate precautions shall be taken during the construction period to prevent the 
deposit of mud and similar debris on adjacent highways.  For further information contact 
Corporate Head of Environment on tel: 0118 974 6302. 

 
6 Highway Management 
Any works/events carried out either by, or at the behest of, the  developer, whether they 
are located on, or affecting a prospectively maintainable highway, as defined under 
Section  87 of the New Roads and Street Works Act 1991, or on or affecting the public 
highway, shall be coordinated under the requirements of the New Roads and Street 
Works Act 1991 and the Traffic management Act 2004 and licensed accordingly in order 
to secure the expeditious movement of traffic by minimising disruption to users of the 
highway network in Wokingham.  

 
7 Utilities 
Any such works or events commissioned by the developer and particularly those 
involving the connection of any utility to the site, shall be co–ordinated by them in liaison 
with Wokingham Borough Council’s Street Works Team, (telephone 01189 746302). 
This must take place at least three month in advance of the works and particularly to 
ensure that statutory undertaker connections/supplies to the site are coordinated to take 
place wherever possible at the same time. 

 
8 Noise 
The attention of the applicant is drawn to the requirements of Section 60 of the Control 
of Pollution Act 1974 in respect of the minimisation of noise on construction and 
demolition sites.  Application, under Section 61 of the Act, for prior consent to the works, 
can be made to the Environmental Health and Licensing Manager. 
 
9 If otters and/or water voles or signs of otters and/or water voles are encountered at 
any point during development then all works must stop immediately and local Natural 
England office informed. 
 
10 In terms of the SANG requirements pursuant to condition 33 above, the following is 
advised: 

23



1. WBC would prefer a larger more robust metal litter bin such as this type 
preferably steel Broxap type https://www.broxap.com/street-furnishings/litter-
bins/steel-litter-bins/derby-e-slimline.html . In addition it would be good to have 2 
litter bins on site, one near to each entrance. 

2. The current scheme includes a number of Information boards and given that this 
is a local facility WBC would favour a single larger Information Board near to one 
of the entrances. 

3. The current specification does not contain any details of the width of the 
proposed new footpath network. 

4. The vehicle access will need to accommodate maintenance vehicles of 
7.5tonnes.  

5. The current scheme shows vehicular access points that would allow for 
maintenance of the SANG with machinery protected with a wooden field gate. 
This type of gate will not provide adequate site security with regards 
unauthorised vehicular access. In the past WBC have used a DRB PS1 security 
gate which can be supplied to a variable length (3.6m should be adequate) and 
with wire mesh welded on to the gate (150x150mm mesh) preferred colour is 
dark green. 

6. The suggested bridge designs are of insufficient robustness and WBC would 
require that the structural supports beams are steel rather than wood, and given 
the 1.8m width there will be a requirement for at least 2 intermediate steels to 
support the deck, which are not shown on the current drawing. Alternatively WBC 
would be happy to consider a metal deck or even an all metal bridge. 

7. In general WBC would prefer that all the pedestrian entrances used Oxford - 
Medium Mobility kissing wickets http://www.centrewire.com/oxford.htm  

8. Whilst in general the fencing specification is acceptable, it is not clear on the 
drawings how the southern boundary along the Ashridge Stream will be secured 

9. You will need to liaise with the detail on the noticeboards as these will refer to the 
Council as the managing body. 

 

 

RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY 

Application Site: 
 
There is no relevant planning history for this site. 
 

Matthewsgreen Farm: 
 
O/2014/2242 – Outline Planning Permission for Matthewsgreen Farm development, 
comprising of approximately 760 dwellings, a primary school, a local centre, community 
facilities and section of the Northern Distributor Road (NDR) between Toutley Road and 
Twyford Road. Approved - Phase 1 (100 dwellings) and the NDR are currently under 
construction. 
 
152649 – Reserved matters for the construction of the NDR. Approved - Currently under 
construction. 
 
160765 – Reserved matters for Phase 2a (the parcel on the opposite side of Twyford 
Road to the application site) comprising of 84 dwellings and associated landscaping. 
Approved - Development works to commence imminently. 
 

 

24

https://www.broxap.com/street-furnishings/litter-bins/steel-litter-bins/derby-e-slimline.html
https://www.broxap.com/street-furnishings/litter-bins/steel-litter-bins/derby-e-slimline.html
http://www.centrewire.com/oxford.htm


SUMMARY INFORMATION 

For Residential  
Site Area 15 hectares 
Existing units 1 
Proposed units 128 
Number of bedrooms per unit 6x1bed, 31x2bed, 66x3bed, 23x4bed 

and 2x5bed. 
Proposed density - dwellings/hectare 21 
Number of affordable units proposed 35% equivalent - 26 on site (20%), and 

a contribution towards offsite 
provision. 

Previous land use Farm house and associated 
land/buildings 

SANG 8.71 hectares 

 

CONSULTATION RESPONSES 

WBC Waste Services No objection raised 

WBC Environmental 
Health 

No objection, subject to conditions (as included) 

WBC Conservation 
Officer 

No objection 

WBC Drainage No objection, subject to conditions (as included) 

WBC Highways No objection, subject to conditions (as included) 

WBC Ecology No objection, subject to conditions (as included) 

WBC Affordable 
Housing 

No objection 

WBC Landscape 
Architect 

No objection subject to conditions (as included)  
 

Berkshire 
Archaeology 

Advise that given the results of the trial trenching undertaken 
further archaeological investigations are not merited in relation 
to this application. 

Sport England Do not wish to provide detailed comment 

HSE Confirms that no hazards cross the site 

Thames Water No objection, subject to conditions (as included) 

Historic England Recommends that the application should be determined in line 
with national and local policy and with input from WBC’s 
specialist conservation advisor. 

Natural England No objection, with conditions (as recommended) 

Environment Agency No in principle objections. At the time of writing, the 
Environment Agency had requested further clarifications on the 
application submissions. Those clarifications were provided by 
the applicant. Officers will up-date Committee of the 
Environment Agency’s position by way of a Member Up-date. 

Wokingham Town 
Council 

Objects to the application (full comments at appendix A). Their 
objections include [officer comments in brackets]: 
 

 Smells emitting from the sewage works [The works are 
located to the south east of the site, prevailing wind is 
south westerly. Thames Water has a committed schedule 
of up-grade works predicted to reduce odour emissions 
by 43% in comparison to current baseline operations. 

25



Whilst the occurrence of adverse odour impact and 
complaints cannot be completely excluded, the proposed 
up-grade works are considered sufficient to allow the 
development as proposed. Neither Thames Water nor 
WBC’s Environmental Health Officer has raised objection 
to the development.]; 

 Noise Impact from the NDR, which does not seem to 
have been accounted for in the Noise Impact 
Assessment [Residential properties are being placed 
along the length of the NDR as part of the SDL wide 
development and the circumstances with the Bell Farm 
site are no different.]; 

 Flood Risk – the site has not been correctly assessed 
and up-to-date local information has not been included to 
assess the potential flood levels in the area. [The 
application has been reviewed by both the Environment 
Agency and WBC’s Drainage Officer, both of which are 
satisfied with the submissions. Officers are satisfied that 
the development will suitably manage and reduce flood in 
accordance with the relevant Development Plan Policies]; 

 Design – plots 19, 20, 30, 54 to 65, 67, 69, 97 and 101 to 
107 back onto the NDR providing direct access and 
contrary to advice on crime prevention contained within 
the Manual for Streets. The design will line the NDR with 
fencing that will have no sense of place, no relationship 
with its surroundings and no quality control, with a NDR 
section purely designed for vehicles. In addition, it will 
impact the residents’ amenity by increasing the level of 
noise in the rear gardens [The layout, although not all 
directly fronting onto Bell Foundry Lane, has houses 
overlooking the road at the junctions. The three storey 
flats either end of the bell Foundry Lane frontage will also 
provide good levels of address and passive surveillance 
to the road. Given that the field opposite is used for 
sports and recreation, and the significant structural 
planting proposed where rear gardens would back onto 
Bell Foundry Lane, this approach in this instance is 
considered appropriate.]; and 

 The three storey apartment blocks are not within keeping 
of the surrounding area. They will also be detrimental to 
the amenities of plots 18,19, 106 and 107. [Three storey 
development along the NDR has been accepted at the 
other NWSDL sites, including at the directly adjacent 
Phase 2a Matthewsgreen Development. The buildings 
therefore are not considered dominant in context.] 
 

 

NEIGHBOUR REPRESENTATIONS 

26



Letters of consultation were sent to 218 neighbouring property addresses. The 
application was also advertised by way of site notice and press advert. 
 
The followings responses have been received: 
 

No. Letters Sent No. Objections No. Comments No. Support 

218 3 1 0 

 
The following matters are raised [Officer comment in brackets]: 
 
Objections  

 The site was not included for housing development in the North Wokingham 
SDL. [Whilst not specifically identified for development in the North Wokingham 
SDL, this application site is within the SDL and represents a sustainable 
development proposal with substantial public benefits and there are no adverse 
impacts of granting planning permission that would outweigh those benefits. The 
NPPF presumption in favour of sustainable development is met.] 

 Threat to Cantley Park from the widening of the road to accommodate the extra 
traffic generated from the new housing in the locality [The up-grading of Bell 
Foundry Lane as part of the NDR deliverable route has already committed to by 
WBC’s Executive Committee as part of the infrastructure identified as necessary 
to accommodate the SDL development. Works can be accommodated without 
impacting significantly upon Cantley Park.] 

 The rural character of this part of Wokingham has already been undermined by 
excessive building on Mathewsgreen farm. [Whilst there would be an inevitable 
change to the existing landscape as a result of this development, the impacts are 
outweighed by the planning benefits of the development. The scheme also 
provides a large new area of public amenity to the northern boundary]. 

 Loss of views from Cantley Farm Cottages across open land [Private views are 
not protected under planning policy]. 

 Loss of trees and hedgerows threaten wildlife such as bats and birds [Whilst 
certain trees and hedgerows will be lost as part of the development, the losses 
are predominantly necessary to facilitate the NDR (a committed piece of 
infrastructure) and are mitigated by extensive landscape and tree planting as part 
of the development proposals. WBC’s Ecology officer has reviewed the 
submissions and raises no objection to the application in terms of its impact upon 
important wildlife.] 

 Insufficient health care facilities [Not for consideration under this planning 
application.] 

 Lack of school places [There is the existing All Saints Primary School within a 
reasonable walking distance of the application site and a new primary school 
being delivered on the Matthewsgreen development site. St Crispin’s Secondary 
School, within a reasonable walk of the SDL area, would accommodate the older 
pupils. WBC’s Education Authority has been consulted on the application and 
raises no concerns in respect to capacity.] 

 Traffic Impact [The application submissions have demonstrated that the 
development, both individually and cumulatively, will not generate a level of traffic 
that would cause unacceptable harm to the capacity, function or safety of the 
surrounding highway network]. 

 Risk of flooding to the area. [Subject to the recommended conditions, officers are 
satisfied that the development would satisfy the requirements of Core Strategy 
policy CP1 and MDD DPD Policies CC09 and CC10 in respect to managing 

27



drainage and flood risk.] 

 The development will cause noise, disturbance and pollution which are all 
detrimental to health. [There is no evidence to suggest that the development, of 
itself or cumulatively, would cause noise, disturbance and pollution to a degree 
that would outweigh the planning benefits]. 

 The 3 story flats are inappropriate in terms of scale and mass and are totally out 
of keeping with the immediate surround buildings and the countryside. [Three 
storey development along the NDR has been accepted at the other NWSDL 
sites, including at the directly adjacent Phase 2a Matthewsgreen Development. 
The buildings therefore are not considered dominant in context.] 

 
Comments 

 The proposed cycle way along Bell Foundry Lane is welcomed. 

 The 20mph speed limit of the development is welcomed. 

 The applicant should provide access points from the proposed cycle/footway to 
Cantley Park. [This matter would be covered by recommended condition 28].  

 
The Emmbrook Residents’ Association have made the following comments: 
 
NDR 

 Welcome the alignment of the foot and cycle way to the north of the carriageway 
in place of the original alignment within the boundary of Cantley sports field. 

Housing Development 

 Air Quality (Road Emissions) - The submitted Air Quality Site Suitability report is 
based solely on current traffic levels and does not take into account the 
increases in traffic following SDL completions nor take into account the fact that 
the road that the development will front onto, Bell Foundry Lane, is to be part of 
the NDR. [Whilst there will be an increased traffic usage of Bell Foundry Lane 
resultant from its up-grade as part of the NDR works, there is no evidence to 
suggest that road traffic will prove unacceptably harmful to the air quality or noise 
environment on the site. Residential properties are being placed along the length 
of the NDR as part of the SDL wide development and the circumstances with the 
Bell Farm site are no different.] 

 Noise – Again, assessment is based solely on current conditions, with the impact 
of the extra traffic generated by turning Bell Foundry Lane into the NDR ignored. 
Using assumptions from the Matthewsgreen Farm planning applications, the 
27dB minimum recommendation contained within the noise assessment would 
prove to be totally inadequate once the NDR is fully operable. [See response to 
comment above]. 

 Air Quality (Odour) - The southeast corner of this area will be the most liable to 
suffer from odour, which is the area where the block of 13 apartments (10% of 
the development) is located. Also, the suitability of the site for development is 
predicated entirely on Thames Water’s intended improvement works.[Both 
Thames Water and WBC Environmental Health have reviewed the applications 
and raise no objection to the development.] 

 Layout and Appearance – The architecture is not innovative or interesting, and 
has little to distinguish it from other developments. The two blocks of apartments 
dominate the neighbouring buildings.[See Design Section of the Officer 
Assessment below]. 

 Insufficient communal amenity space for the apartment blocks. 

 Parking - The level of parking provided for a mix of 2 & 3 bedroom properties is 
only the equivalent of one per property, and it should also be noted that these are 

28



 

RELEVANT PLANNING POLICY 

National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF)  
 
Adopted Core Strategy: CP1, CP2, CP3, CP4, CP5, CP6, CP7, CP8, CP9, CP10, 
CP11, CP13 CP14, CP15, CP17, CP20 and Appendix 7. 
 
Managing Development Delivery Local Plan Document (MDD Local Plan) adopted 
February 2014: CC01, CC02, CC03, CC04, CC05, CC06, CC07, CC08, CC09, CC10, 
TB05, TB07, TB08, TB21, TB23, TB25 and SAL05. 
 
North Wokingham Strategic Development Location SPD adopted October 2011. 
 
Infrastructure Delivery and Contributions SPD for the Strategic Development Locations 
adopted October 2011. 
 
Wokingham Borough Council Design Guide: Borough Guide Design SPD June 2012  
 
Affordable Housing SPD adopted June 2011.  
 
Sustainable Design and Construction SPD adopted 2010  
 
The councils parking standards as set out within appendix 2 of the Managing 
Development Delivery Local Plan (Feb 2014) and referred to in para. 4.38 of the 
adopted Core Strategy. 
 

 

PLANNING ISSUES 

APPLICATION SITE AND SURROUNDINGS 
 

1. The application site is 15 hectares in area and occupies a position on the 
northern edge of the existing Wokingham town; comprising mainly open fields 
with a small group of redundant farm buildings to the south. The site is bisected 
by the Ashridge Stream which runs east to west and the land falls gently to the 
stream. Established hedgerows divide the northern part of the site into 3 
sections. 

 
2. The site is bounded to the south by Bell Foundry Lane, beyond which is Cantley 

Park. To the west the site is bound by Twyford Road, beyond which sits the 
Matthewsgreen Farm development site. The A327 runs along the northern 
boundary of the site and to the east is the Thames Water Sewage works and 
open fields. 

unallocated. Noting the level of car ownership in Wokingham, and the fact that 
these properties are not within a short walking distance of reliable public 
transport, it cannot be possible that the parking provision is in accordance with 
the expected levels of car ownership.[Officers are satisfied that the development 
meets WBC’s current parking standards]. 

 The affordable housing is all grouped in one area and should be distributed 
around the development. [Officers are satisfied with the Affordable Housing 
provisions. The development will contribute to an SDL wide offer which is clearly 
distributed across the area]. 

29



 
3. The application site is located within the allocated North Wokingham Strategic 

Development Location (SDL) but is not specifically identified for housing delivery. 
 
DEVELOPMENT PROPOSAL 
 

4. Planning permission is sought for 128 new residential properties, ranging from 
one bedroom flats to four/five bedroom family housing. 26 homes (20%) would 
be provided in the form of on-site affordable housing, with the balance to meet 
the policy requirement provided as an off-site commuted sum. The development 
also includes areas of Suitable Alternative Green Space (SANG), informal open 
space, and informal children’s play areas (subject to the Legal Agreement). The 
SANG/ Green Infrastructure to the north of Ashridge Stream totals 8.71ha. 

 
5. This is a ‘hybrid’ planning application: seeking full consent for the housing and 

SANG/Green Infrastructure delivery; and outline consent for the NDR (all matters 
reserved). 

 
6. The housing development is of itself in isolation not directly reliant upon the 

delivery of the NDR, as suitable access could be taken from the existing Bell 
Foundry Lane. That said, the development would form part of the cumulative 
SDL development for which the NDR has been identified as a necessary piece of 
infrastructure. Under WBC’s adopted CIL, the NDR falls to WBC to deliver. The 
application therefore proposes, through the S106 legal agreement, the 
safeguarding of a corridor of land along the Bell Foundry Lane alignment so that 
WBC may in time up-grade that stretch of highway in accordance with the NDR 
design specifications. WBC would thereafter work up the detailed design of 
layout and landscaping of the road through a reserved matters application made 
pursuant to the outline consent. 

 
PRINCIPLE OF DEVELOPMENT AND INFRASTRUCTURE DELIVERY 
 

7. Wokingham Borough Core Strategy policy CP17 establishes a requirement to 
provide at least 13,487 new dwellings with associated development and 
infrastructure in the period 2006-2026. As a strategic response to this housing 
demand, Wokingham has identified that the majority of this new residential 
development will be delivered in four SDLs. By concentrating its housing delivery 
in the four identified SDLs, Wokingham has been able to more strategically plan 
for and deliver the social, environmental and highways infrastructure necessary 
to support this significant population growth; whilst at the same time protecting 
other more sensitive areas of the borough from inappropriate and unsustainable 
development. The ability of the SDLs to deliver a significant number of homes 
phased over the plan period is therefore significant if Wokingham Borough 
Council is to maintain a five year supply of housing and resist speculative 
development of other unallocated sites elsewhere in the borough. 

 
8. The application site sits within the North Wokingham Strategic Development 

Location (SDL), as identified within the Core Strategy Policy 20. The site is not 
however specifically identified for housing development. In addition, WBC can 
demonstrate a five-year land supply of deliverable housing sites so is not reliant 
upon this site to meet its housing targets. 

 

30



9. Notwithstanding, at the heart of the National Planning Policy Framework is a 
presumption in favour of sustainable development, which should be seen as a 
golden thread running through both plan-making and decision-taking. For 
decision making this means approving development proposals that accord with 
the development plan without delay; and, where the development plan is absent, 
silent or relevant policies are out of date, granting planning permission unless 
any adverse impacts of doing so would significantly and demonstrably outweigh 
the benefits, when assessed against the policies in the Framework taken as a 
whole. The NPPF is a material planning consideration of significant weight in the 
determination of this planning application. 

 
10. Although the site is not allocated for housing development at this time, it is 

important to note that the SPD sets out guidance only as to the broad principles 
for the location and type of development within North Wokingham. Importantly, 
the SPD should not be seen as static document and should not preclude 
development coming forward in the SDL provided it is sustainable and does not 
result in significant harm to the local area. This approach has been established / 
accepted at both Keephatch Beech (300 dwellings - North Wokingham SDL) and 
Shinfield West (450 dwellings - South of M4 SDL). 

 
11. This is a sustainable location for development; hence the designation of the 

wider SDL. As an urban extension to the largest town in the Borough, occupants 
of the new homes would have relatively easy access to a wide range of services. 
Wokingham is the largest retail centre, which would be within modest walking 
and cycling distances of the site, along routes which are being improved as part 
of the master planning of the area. Improvement of existing bus services is being 
secured as part of the SDL wide development and the railway station is within an 
easy cycle distance, and a manageable walk. 

 
12. The site, as with all of the SDL sites, suffers from a number of constraints, 

including the need to provide adequate SANG, odour from the sewage works, 
noise and air pollution from the A329(M) and flood risk. However, these 
constraints are dealt with or avoided in the design proposals – which include 
locating the housing to the southern part of the site well away from the A329(M), 
a significant SANG provision to the north and ground works to remodel the 
floodplain which mean no development is within the floodplain. In addition, 
Thames Water have a committed programme of improvements to the sewage 
treatment works which, following completion, are predicted to reduce odour 
emissions by 43% in comparison to current baseline operations. 

 
13. The development would undoubtedly have public benefit. In the first instance the 

development would deliver 128 residential units at a reasonably low 21 DPH, 
inclusive of one and two bed flats and two to five bed houses. The wide mix of 
dwelling sizes and types accords with the aims of Government policy regarding 
social cohesion and inclusion, as do the arrangements for the provision of market 
and affordable housing units. The delivery of housing would support WBC’s 
existing five year housing land supply even further. WBC currently have around a 
6 year housing land supply; however enabling further housing on suitable, 
sustainable sites is likely to further support WBC’s rejection of unsatisfactory, 
less sustainable sites elsewhere. 

 
 

31



14. In the second instance, the development would deliver a significant swathe of 
green space to the north of the site (8.71ha of SANG) as aspired to within the 
Council’s SPD for North Wokingham. This provides both a green buffer between 
the Wokingham settlement and the A329, and high quality public recreational 
provision for both the residents of the new development and for existing 
Wokingham residents. The development therefore would secure a landscape link 
to the proposed area of SANG to the north and the retention of a green wedge 
into Wokingham; both important features identified in the Landscape Framework 
Diagram of the SPD. 

 
15. In the third instance, the development would also facilitate the transfer of land, at 

zero cost to the Council, to enable the up-grade of Bell Foundry Lane to the 
required NDR specifications. It should be noted that there would be no guarantee 
that this land could otherwise ever be acquired or compulsory purchased to 
facilitate this section of the NDR. The NDR in its entirety is identified as 
necessary to accommodate the significant housing development coming forward 
within the SDL. WBC’s Executive has already committed to the up-grade of Bell 
Foundry Lane as part of the NDR deliverable route. In advance of this planning 
application designs had previously been considering land take from Cantley Park 
to provide associated foot and cycle ways. The granting of planning permission 
here would support the Executive’s resolution without recourse to encroaching 
into Cantley Park. 

 
16. In the fourth instance, a range of economic benefits would also derive from the 

development. These include: the creation of a range of construction jobs and 
opportunities; increases in resident expenditure in the locality providing a boost 
to the local economy; and the creation of “spin-off” jobs in services and other 
firms resultant from wage spending and supplier sourcing from the occupiers of 
the new development. These economic effects align well with a wide range of 
national, regional and local policy objectives, in particular, increasing the supply 
of high quality, sustainable housing to meet projected increases in population 
and enhancing economic prosperity through creating employment opportunities 
for local people.  

 
17. To support the delivery of the NWSDL, WBC has prepared a strategic transport 

model which assesses the impact of the major development as well as the 
proposed NDR. The proposed development has been assessed using this 
model. The assessment identifies that the impact of the development, both 
individually and cumulatively with the other SDL development, would not be 
severe and overall operation of the NDR and associated junctions would remain 
well within capacity threshold. The impact of traffic generated by the housing is 
therefore not predicted to be significant in transport terms. 
 

18. In terms of schools there is the existing All Saints Primary School within a 
reasonable walking distance of the application site and a new primary school 
being delivered on the Matthewsgreen development site. The new school will be 
designed for 2 form entry, but has potential to expand to 3 form entry if and when 
required. St Crispin’s Secondary School, within a reasonable walk of the SDL 
area, would accommodate the older pupils. WBC’s Education Authority have 
been consulted on the application and raise no concerns in respect to capacity. 

 
 

32



19. A new community facility is also being provided on the Matthewsgreen 
development, together with a new local centre, which would also help to serve 
the requirements of the new SDL population – including the Bell Farm 
development.  

 
20. Having regard to the above, this application represents a sustainable 

development proposal with substantial public benefits and there are no adverse 
impacts of granting planning permission that would outweigh those benefits. The 
NPPF presumption in favour of sustainable development is met and planning 
permission should be granted. 

 
S106 AND COMMUNITY INFRASTRUCTURE LEVY (CIL) 
 

21. The application would be subject to CIL; monies from which could be directed by 
WBC as appropriate towards improving and funding of local infrastructure 
necessary to mitigate the impacts of the development. 

 
22. In addition to the normal CIL charge, the development would also deliver the 

following s.106 obligations: 
 

 Land for delivery of the NDR; 

 Affordable Housing – On-site provision and commuted sum; 

 Contribution towards My Journey Travel Plans; 

 A Public Transport Services Subsidy Contribution; 

 SANG delivery, transfer to WBC and contribution towards initial maintenance; 

 SAMM contribution; 

 Open Space delivery and maintenance thereafter; 

 Widening of the footpath on Twyford Road; 

 Additional Highways Planting to south west of the site; 

 Management and Maintenance of the Compound Area off of Twyford Road; 

 Commitments to providing opportunities for local labour in construction; and 

 S106 Monitoring fee. 
 

23. The above package is considered reasonable to mitigate the otherwise 
unacceptable impacts of the development upon local infrastructure. It has been 
negotiated having regard to the expectations set out in policy (Policy CP20 and 
Appendix 7 of the Core Strategy, the Infrastructure and Contributions SPD, and 
the North Wokingham SDL Infrastructure Delivery Plan), to the details of the 
scheme and to the substantial planning/public benefits that the scheme would 
deliver. Each of the obligations above has also been negotiated having regard to 
the statutory tests set out in the Community Infrastructure Levy Regulations 
2010; namely they are considered: (i) necessary to make the development 
acceptable in planning terms; (ii) directly related to the development; and (iii) 
fairly and reasonably related in scale and kind to the development. 

 
SANG, OPEN SPACE AND GREEN INFRASTRUCTURE 
 

24. Policy TB08 of the MDD DPD lays out the required standards for development in 
terms of Public Open Space (POS) provision. The development overall would 
provide public open space far in excess of current WBC standards. The open 
space would be provided as follows: 

 

33



Typology WBC Standards Proposals Surplus / 
Deficit 

Parks and 
Gardens 

1.1ha/1,000 population 0.31ha 0 -0.31 

Amenity Public 
Open Space 

0.98ha/1,000 population 0.30ha 0 -0.30 

Children’s Play 0.25ha/1,000 population 0.08ha 0.08ha 0 

Natural 
Greenspace 

2.84ha/1,000 population 0.87ha 0 -0.87 

Outdoor Sports 
Facilities 

1.65ha/1,000 population 0.51ha 0 -0.51 

Allotments 0.52ha/1,000 population 0.16ha 0 -0.16 

SANG 8ha/1,000 population 2.46ha 8.71ha +6.25 

Total POS Requirement 4.69ha 8.79ha +4.1ha 

 
25. Although there are undoubtedly shortfalls in on site provision in some typologies, 

these are more than offset by the over provision of SANG. 
 
AFFORDABLE HOUSING DWELLING MIX AND STANDARD OF RESIDENTIAL 
ACCOMMODATION 
 

26. MDD policy TB05 (Housing Mix) requires that residential development should 
provide an appropriate density and mix of accommodation reflecting the 
character of the area. The development would provide a good mix and balance of 
dwelling types, tenures and sizes, as follows: 

 

 Market Affordable Total 

1 bed flat 0 6 (all social rent) 6 

2 bed flat 10 7 (all social rent) 17 

2 bed house 6 8 (all shared 
ownership) 

14 

3 bed house 61 5 (all social rent) 66 

4 bed house 23 0 23 

5 bed house 2 0 2 

Totals 102 26 (20%) 128 

 
27. Core Strategy Policies and the Infrastructure and Contributions SPD indicate that 

development within the SDLs should secure 35% affordable housing. In this 
instance the 35% requirement is being met by a combination of on-site provision 
(26 units, 20% - see above) and an Affordable Housing contribution to be applied 
by the Council towards off-site affordable housing provision. The contribution 
secured is £1.748m and amounts to £92k for each of the additional 19 (15%) 
dwellings that would otherwise have had to have been provided on site. This is 
significantly more than the £80k per unit secured at Matthewsgreen, Kentwood 
Farm and Keephatch Beech, and is reflective of the rise in values that has 
occurred in the intervening period since the grant of those permissions. By this 
approach, the LPA will be able to ensure the delivery of mixed and balanced 
communities in accordance with policy CP5. 

 
28. All of the dwellings exceed the minimum size standards set out in the National 

Space Standards. In addition, pursuant to recommended condition 21 the 
dwellings will be constructed to achieve appropriate internal ambient noise levels. 

34



It is therefore considered that the development will provide acceptable levels of 
amenity for future occupants. 

 
29. The Borough Design Guide sets a minimum garden depth of 11m. The proposed 

layout complies with these requirements with all houses meeting or exceeding 
the minimum threshold. In addition, permitted development rights of the 
properties would be removed by recommended condition 12 so as to restrict 
unacceptable encroachment into these important garden spaces. 

 
30. It is therefore considered that the development will provide a good mix, balance 

and quality of dwelling types, tenures and sizes so that a wide range of housing 
needs can be met. This will ensure that the development is sustainable in 
meeting the housing needs of the community. The development therefore 
accords with the relevant policies of the development plan in this regard. 

 
DESIGN 
 
Policies and Vision 
 

31. The NPPF sets out overarching principles for design in section 7.  Core Strategy 
policies CP1 and CP3 are consistent with this approach and these require high 
quality design that respects the context of the site and the surroundings.  
Managing Development Delivery policies CC03 and TB21 require that 
development proposals have due regard to the landscape context of the area 
and incorporate adequate landscaping to soften the development. 

 
Layout 
 

32. The development proposes new dwellings to the south of Ashridge Stream, with 
two new accesses formed onto Bell Foundry Lane. The land to the north of the 
stream comprises an area for SANG and Public Open Space with a variety of 
landscape characters and uses. 

 
33. Two access points from Bell Foundry Lane serve the development and provide 

physical and visual links through to the open landscape area to the north. Key 
views through the development focus on retained trees and open landscape 
areas. Other views along formal and informal vistas are created by the building 
form. Focal buildings turn corners, identify routes and create ‘stop to views’. 

 
34. The layout is structured around a hierarchy of roads (designed to the national 

standards set in the ‘Manual for Streets’) comprising the main site access roads 
(5.5m wide with a 2m footpath), secondary access roads (4.8m wide shared 
surfaces) and private drives and courtyards. Parking has been incorporated in 
the layout in a variety of ways, both allocated and unallocated, on plot, on street, 
and in the courtyards. 

 
35. The layout also provides a clear hierarchy of public and private open space and 

movement corridors, which enhance the legibility for users of the SANG. 
 

36. The layout, although not all directly fronting onto Bell Foundry Lane, has houses 
overlooking the road at the junctions. The three storey flats either end of the bell 
Foundry Lane frontage will also provide good levels of passive surveillance to the 

35



road. Given that the field opposite is used for sports and recreation, and the 
significant structural planting proposed where rear gardens would back onto Bell 
Foundry Lane, this approach in this instance is considered appropriate. 

 
Scale and Appearance 
 

37. The built form will generally comprise of 2 storey houses, 2 storey houses with 
rooms in the roof (2 ½ storey) and 3 storey apartment buildings. The variety of 
storey heights creates a variation in roofscape, adding interest and aiding 
legibility within the scheme. Increased storey height is used in particular to create 
focal buildings to stop views, turn corners and identify routes. The 3 storey 
apartment buildings, located at either end of the Bell Foundry Lane frontage, 
would act as successful focal buildings ‘bookending’ the development frontage. 
Three storey buildings have commonly been accepted along the NDR as part of 
the SDL wide development and the scale proposed reflects that of the heights 
approved on Phase 2a of the adjacent Matthewsgreen Development.  

 
38. The topography of the site slopes down towards the stream affording the 

opportunity to provide 2 storey homes with rooms in the roof with views over the 
stream and landscaping beyond. The built form along Ashridge Stream 
comprises mainly detached dwellings in an informal layout, shared surfaces with 
soft edges, spaces between buildings and strong landscape components. This 
character area will present a loose development fringe to the open views from 
the north. 

 
39. Along Bell Foundry Lane a varied frontage will avoid a uniform appearance in 

distance views. Active elevations, including that of the three storey flats, will 
provide appropriate surveillance to the footpath/ cycleway route; whilst the 
buildings interspersed with planted boundaries will reinforce the landscape 
character of the road. Focal buildings will identify corners and access points, with 
a build up of scale and massing. Changes in materials will also emphasise 
important corners and junctions. 

 
Appearance 
 

40. The proposed dwellings will have predominantly red brick elevations, with 
occasional use of render for emphasis. Tile hanging and timber framing details 
will also be used to add interest and variety. Roofs will be finished in slate or tile. 
The choice of materials reflects those typically found in the area and will further 
enable the new development to integrate with the existing environment. 

 
41. The design of the houses has followed the Edwardian and Arts and Crafts 

character of properties common in Wokingham. The traditional proportions and 
details of the village houses have been reflected in the proposed dwellings, with 
the design language expanded at certain places in the scheme to provide 
landmark buildings with a scale and design to emphasise nodal points and 
spaces. A mix of roof configurations and heights will provide a lively and 
interesting roofscape, within a design language of traditional pitches and forms 
that are characteristic of the area. Furthermore, the use of features such as 
porches, dormers, chimneys and bay windows will also reflect the local 
vernacular. 
 

36



42. It is also considered that the development would appear as a natural built 
development extension of the consented development at Matthewsgreen and, 
given the area to the north is being retained as open space, the scheme fits 
easily within the built up character of Wokingham town. 

 
Landscape Strategy 
 

43. Landscape proposals for the site seek to, where possible, retain and enhance the 
vegetation forming the field and site boundaries. The land to the north of 
Ashridge Stream has been retained as informal natural green space with public 
and wildlife benefit; whilst the amenity and hydrological value of Ashridge Stream 
would be improved through localised improvements and earthworks. The 
development would provide new seasonally wet areas to the south of the Stream, 
designed to provide amenity benefit for overlooking residents.  

 
44. Proposed tree planting will enhance the existing vegetated boundaries, whilst 

tree planting to the streets will provide green links through the development and 
visually link Bell Foundry Lane to Ashridge Stream and the SANG to the north. A 
predominance of native species will support biodiversity within the site and 
encourage wildlife back into the area. The species selection proposed has been 
informed by the hierarchy, character and scale of the different areas and open 
spaces. 

 
45. Along Bell Foundry Lane the existing mature trees and hedgerows to the south 

will continue to provide a mature landscape setting and strong buffer to the 
adjacent Cantley Recreation Ground. The road is to be widened with a new 
hedge and trees planted on the Bell Farm side of Bell Foundry Lane. This will 
produce a tree lined route and contribute significantly to softening the visual 
impacts of the development. 

 
Density 
 

46. In the developable area, the net density of the development is approximately 21 
dwellings per hectare (dph), which is lower than the 35DPH generally achieved in 
the SDLs. This accords with Appendix 7 of the Core Strategy and the Masterplan 
SPD ensuring that the proposal reflects the existing surrounding development to 
which the site and SDL would be appended. 

 
Design Conclusions 
 

47. The development would deliver high quality design that respects the context of 
the site and the surroundings.  The development proposals have due regard to 
the landscape context of the area and incorporate adequate landscaping to 
soften the visual impact. In design terms it is considered that the development 
complies with the relevant policies of the development plan; namely Core 
Strategy policies CP1 and CP3 and Managing Development Delivery policies 
CC03 and TB21. 

 
NEIGHBOURING RESIDENTIAL AMENITY 
 

48. The NPPF and Core Strategy policy CP3 require that new development should 
be of a high quality of design that does not cause detriment to the amenities of 

37



adjoining land users.  These principles are reinforced and outlined in greater 
detail within the Council’s Managing Development Delivery document and the 
Borough Design Guide. 

 
49. There are no existing residential dwellings in the immediate vicinity of the 

application site that could be affected by the development in terms of loss of 
daylight, sunlight or privacy. New dwellings proposed to the west of the site 
(Matthewsgreen Phase 2a) would be separated from the new development by 
Twyford Road and the dwellings proposed towards the west of the site are in 
keeping with the scale and design of the development approved for the adjoining 
site. Separation distances between dwellings of the two developments will be 
well in excess of WBC’s guidelines and, as such, there will be no unacceptable 
overbearing or overlooking relationships introduced. 

 
50. Noise, disturbance and inconvenience during the construction period can be 

appropriately minimised as far as is reasonable through good practice and 
through the conditions requiring the submission (for the Council’s approval) of a 
Construction Environmental Management Plan and restricting the hours of 
construction activity. 

 
51. For the reasons set out above, in terms of its impact upon neighbouring 

residential amenity the development need not fail against the relevant policies of 
the Development Plan; namely Core Strategy Policy CP3 and Policy CC06 of the 
MDD DPD. 

 
HIGHWAYS AND TRANSPORT 
 

52. The NPPF seeks to encourage sustainable means of transport and a move away 
from the reliance of the private motor car.  Core Strategy policies CP1, CP4, CP6 
and CP10 broadly echo these principles and indicate that new residential 
development should mitigate any adverse effects on the existing highway 
network.  The NPPF advises, however, that development ‘should only be 
prevented or refused on transport grounds where the residual cumulative impacts 
of development are severe’. 

 
53. The development is principally structured around facilitating the up-grade of Bell 

Foundry Lane as part of the NDR works for the SDL. The final ‘preferred route’ 
option for the NDR was agreed and committed to by WBC’s Executive in 
September 2015. Following WBC’s adoption of CIL the delivery of the NDR 
became the responsibility of WBC and, as set out above, the applicant will be 
obliged under the S106 to transfer land to WBC upon request to accommodate 
WBC’s proposals. Whilst it should be noted that the details of the NDR included 
in the application submissions are indicative only, WBC’s project officer has 
confirmed that the corridor to be safeguarded is sufficient to accommodate the 
NDR requirements – inclusive of the required carriageway width, landscaped 
verges and a segregated pedestrian/cycle way. Detailed design of the NDR will 
need to follow under the Reserved Matters application.  
 

54. In terms of the housing, the traffic generated is not predicted to be significant. 
Using WBC’s Strategic Transport Model, which includes the delivery of the NDR, 
the application submissions demonstrate that the housing would not have a 
significant impact on the local road network when compared to the ‘without’ 

38



development scenario. The submissions also evidence that the traffic generated 
by the housing would be unlikely to materially worsen the existing highway safety 
record. 
 

55. The transport modelling and safety audits undertaken also verify that in the short 
term, the full application for the housing site is capable of operating without the 
need for the NDR to be provided on this section of Bell Foundry Lane first. 
 

56. The proposed development will promote sustainable travel; directly through 
facilitating WBC’s planned up-grade works to Bell Foundry Lane, contributions 
towards WBC’s “My Journey” travel planning service, a bus subsidy contribution 
and the provision of footpath widening along Twyford Road 
 

57. It is the case that there would be no footway or cycle links to the east from the 
site for any properties occupied before the NDR is completed. While current 
estimates have the first occupation occurring only three months before the NDR 
is complete, timescales cannot be guaranteed at this stage and therefore an 
indicative temporary footway / cycle link through Cantley Park has been 
identified. This temporary link could be put in place, if required to cater for 
significant early demand for pedestrian / cycle links to the east, before the NDR 
is completed. Recommended condition 28 deals with this matter. Other off-site 
improvements will also be included. 
 

58. In terms of bus stops, at this stage the nearest stops to the site re on 
Matthewsgreen Road (900m (10-15 mins) walk), Milton Road (1.2km (15-20 
mins) walk), and Wiltshire Road (1.1km (15 - 20 mins) walk). Bus access will 
nevertheless be improved through the provision of services serving the adjacent 
Matthewsgreen development (0.8km (10-15 mins) walk); whilst in the longer 
term, post NDR completion, it is anticipated that new bus stops will be located 
along Bell Foundry Lane meaning that all of the dwellings on the site will be 
within a 5-10 minute walk of a bus stop. Condition 29 requires the submissions of 
a bus strategy for the site to be worked up in more detail. The application is also 
inclusive of a bus subsidy contribution which will help forward fund bus services 
to serve the development/SDL in advance of the critical mass of population 
required to make the services financially viable; hence instilling sustainable 
transport patterns from the outset. 
 

59.  Access for vehicles into the site would be via two new priority junction vehicular 
accesses off Bell Foundry Lane provided at the western and eastern ends of the 
site. Internally the layout is structured around a hierarchy of roads comprising the 
main site access roads, secondary access roads with shared surfaces and 
private drives and courtyards. The layout, inclusive of private turning heads, 
visibility splays and service margins, has been designed in accordance with 
guidance in the Manual for Streets and in accordance with WBC highways 
requirements. The roads will be constructed to adoptable standards, although 
only the primary and secondary roads will be offered for adoption. 
 

60. A minor access off Twyford Road will serve gas, water and electricity 
infrastructure. This has been designed to accommodate servicing vehicles 
entering the site, turning and exiting in forward gear. The service compound will 
be owned and maintained by the site Management Company, who will be 
obligated through the Section 106 Agreement to manage the area responsibly for 

39



its intended use. The application submissions have also demonstrated that 
service compound will have adequate visibility on Twyford Road for vehicle 
speeds of up to 60mph, although vehicle speeds should be far less due to the 
lower speed limit. 

 
61. Car parking is provided in accordance with WBC standards and consists of an 

appropriate mix of allocated and unallocated hardstanding spaces for residents, 
spaces in garages and car ports for residents and hardstanding spaces for 
visitors, as follows: 

 

Type No. spaces Ratio (128 dwellings) 

1. Allocated  198 1.55 

2. Unallocated/Visitor 61 0.48 

Total Allocated + Unallocated + 
Visitor 

259 2.02 

3. Garages 62 0.48 

Total Allocated + Unallocated + 
Visitor + 0.5*Garages 

290 2.27 

 
62. Cycle parking is provided in cycle stores for apartment buildings to accord with 

WBC standards. For houses, cycle parking is accommodated in garages or car 
ports. Final details of cycle parking will be agreed with WBC pursuant to 
condition 24. 

 
63. A Construction Environmental Management Plan (CEMP) will be submitted and 

agreed with the Council prior to construction in each sub-phase. Construction 
traffic to and from the site will be managed, as far as is reasonable, through this 
process. 

 
64. The access strategy for the site therefore provides for sustainable transport 

modes; whilst the development would not cause any significant or severe 
impacts on the function or safety of the road network. The development therefore 
complies with the relevant highways policies of the development plan. 

 
THAMES BASIN HEATHS SPECIAL PROTECTION AREA (SPA) 
 

65. The Thames Basin Heaths Special Protection Area (SPA) was designated under 
European Directive due to its importance for heathland bird species.  Core 
Strategy policy CP8 establishes that new residential development within a 5km 
zone of influence is likely to contribute to a significant impact upon the integrity of 
the SPA. The site lies wholly within this zone and, in accordance with Core 
Strategy Policies CP8, and CP18 and saved South East Plan Policy NRM6, 
mitigation is being provided in the form of Suitable Alternative Natural 
Greenspace (SANG), and a financial contribution towards Strategic Access 
Management and Monitoring (SAMM). 

 
66. The design of the SANG is sympathetic to the landscape and ecological 

considerations of the site. The SANG would be delivered and available in 
advance of any residential occupation of the development. Thereafter the SANG 
would be maintained for a year by the applicant before being transferred to WBC 
(with a financial payment) for management and maintenance in perpetuity.  

40



 
67. Given the SANG proposals and the SAMM contribution, the development both 

alone, and in combination with other plans and projects, is not likely to have a 
significant effect upon the Thames Basin Heaths SPA. Both Natural England and 
WBC’s SANG officer support the development.  

 
LANDSCAPE, TREES AND VISUAL CHARACTER 
 

68. The existing landscape is influenced partly by the edge of town dwellings along 
Matthewsgreen Road, but currently has a semi-rural feel due to existing fields 
and mature hedgerow oaks between the settlement edge and A329(M) and the 
open space around the Cantley Park area. This is however an allocated SDL and 
the proposed Matthewsgreen development to the east of the site will have an 
inevitable urbanising impact upon the character of the landscape in this area. 

 
69. The provision of the SANG to the northern part of the site, inclusive of additional 

planting proposals, would have a beneficial impact upon the landscape character 
in the area. It would retain a clearly perceptible green buffer/wedge between the 
edge of the Wokingham settlement and the A327 – an important aspect of the 
existing spatial masterplan for the SDL. 

 
70. Current evidence suggests that the Bell Foundry Lane hedgerow and trees T7, 

T28 and T29 would likely need to be removed to accommodate the NDR works 
to Bell Foundry Lane; although not to accommodate the proposed housing. The 
NDR is an essential piece of infrastructure required to facilitate the SDL wide 
development, with a resolution for delivery from WBC’s Executive, and that will of 
itself in all likelihood require the removal of the vegetation. Final details of 
landscaping for the NDR will need to be subject to the Reserved Matters 
application and, at this time, officers are investigating the extent to which those 
trees can be retained within the proposed NDR design. If they do have to be 
removed, there would be sufficient space within the new highway verge for 
replacement Oaks. 

 
71. Additional planting is provided on the southern boundary of the site adjacent to 

the NDR and averages about 2m in width and includes a number of trees. The 
planting is sufficient to provide a replacement hedgerow planting and structural 
tree planting. 
 

72. Bearing in mind the location of the site within the SDL, the need to deliver the 
NDR and to the extensive landscaping retained/proposed as part of the 
development, it is considered that the proposals are acceptable in this context. 

 
ECOLOGY 
 

73. Core Strategy Policy CP7, carried forward by MDD LP Policy TB23, requires 
appropriate protection of species and habitats of conservation value.  Design 
Principle 1b (i-ii) is concerned with protection of ecological habitat and 
biodiversity features, together with mitigation of any impacts that do arise. 
 

74. The application is accompanied by various supporting documents, including an 
Ecology Appraisal and Ecological Studies. Wokingham’s Ecology Officer has 
assessed the application and, subject to the recommended conditions, is 

41



satisfied that there would be no significant impact on ecology. 
 
DRAINAGE AND FLOOD RISK 
 

75. The NPPF and Core Strategy policy CP1 seek to ensure that new development 
should avoid increasing and where possible reduce flood risk.  MDD Policy CC09 
seeks to locate vulnerable development away from areas at risk of flooding, and 
Policy CC10 seeks to reduce run-off rates and volumes to as near as greenfield 
as practicably possible. 

 
76. As part of the proposals, existing ground levels will be raised on the southern 

side of the stream and, in conjunction, flood compensation will be undertaken 
with the floodplain moved further north by re-shaping ground levels and providing 
the same floodplain storage of that lost on a level for level basis. By re-shaping 
the flooplain the proposed residential development would be located outside of 
the 1 in 100 year (plus 35% allowance for climate change) flood level. The 
submitted FRA also confirms that following development a ‘Flood Map Challenge’ 
will be required to reclassify the flood zones within the site. 

 
77. The submitted Flood Risk Assessment (FRA) has demonstrated through test 

results that infiltration would not be achievable and therefore the drainage 
strategy proposes to control of runoff from the site at greenfield rates with 
attenuation via swales and ponds. An assessment of the Cantley Park catchment 
has been undertaken which demonstrates that the culvert underneath Bell 
Foundry Lane and the drainage ditch discharging into Ashridge stream has the 
capacity to cater for runoff from events up to and including the 1 in 100 year flood 
event with an allowance for climate change. The applicant has also undertaken 
an assessment of the feeder catchment north of the A329 which demonstrates 
that in a worst case scenario, the extra runoff can be accommodated by the 
proposed compensation scheme which has an extra storage capacity of 294m3. 
 

78. Finished floor levels for the development will be set 600mm above the 1 in 100 
year flood event with a 35% allowance for climate change on the stream levels 
and there is an agreement in principle with Thames Water for a pumping station 
which discharges directly into the sewage treatment works. 

 
79. Based on the above, and subject to the recommended conditions, officers are 

satisfied that the development would meet the requirements of Core Strategy 
Policy CP1 and MDD DPD Policies CC09 and CC10 in respect to managing 
drainage and flood risk. 

 
HERITAGE ASSETS 
 

80. Policy TB24 of the MDD requires development to ‘at least conserve and, where 
possible enhance the important character and special architectural or historical 
interest of listed buildings, conservation areas, monuments or parks and 
gardens, including their setting and views. 

 
81. There are no listed buildings on site and the site does not sit within a 

conservation area. Neither are there any listed buildings, conservation areas, 
monuments or parks and gardens within the vicinity of the site which would have 
their settings adversely impacted by the proposed development. 

42



 
82. In terms of archaeology, trial trenching undertaken at the site recorded a modest 

number of post-medieval features, most of which look to be field boundaries, but 
did not record any archaeological features that would require further 
archaeological investigation within the residential area and attenuation ponds. 
Furthermore, no intrusive works are proposed for the SANG area. Given 
Berkshire Archaeology’s consultation response, WBC officers are satisfied that 
no further archaeological works or investigation need be carried out at the site. 

 
ENVIRONMENTAL HEALTH 
 
Noise and Vibration 
 

83. The proposed development is well distant from existing residential properties. In 
terms of the impact from construction, there would be no adverse impact subject 
to securing appropriate mitigation measures; i.e. by limiting hours of construction, 
and implementing appropriate measures in a Construction Environmental 
Management Plan (CEMP). Noise arising from the completed development 
(principally from vehicular movements) would present no significant impacts and 
a negligible increase over that of the NDR. 

 
Air Quality & Odour 
 

84. The proposed residential properties are located more than 200m from the 
A329M. Current guidance from the Highways Agency is that beyond this distance 
there is significant dispersion of pollution and concentration of pollutants will 
reduce to background levels. Exhaust emissions from the A329M will not 
therefore prove harmful to the air quality experienced at the residential elements 
of the development. 

 
85. Whilst there will be an increased traffic usage of Bell Foundry Lane resultant from 

its up-grade as part of the NDR works, there is no evidence to suggest that road 
traffic will prove unacceptably harmful to the air quality on the site. Residential 
properties are being placed along the length of the NDR as part of the SDL wide 
development and the circumstances with the Bell Farm site are no different. 

 
86. The site also sits adjacent and to the north west of the Thames Water Sewage 

Treatment Works (STW). Prevailing winds are south westerly’s. Odour dispersion 
modelling indicates that a very small proportion of the application site (the south 
eastern corner) is currently likely to be exposed to odour exposure levels from 
the STW that would exceed the Environment Agency indicative odour impact 
criterion for moderately offensive odours. Thames Water however have a 
committed schedule of up-grade works for the STW that are, following 
completion, predicted to reduce odour emissions by 43% in comparison to 
current baseline operations – which would make almost all of the land amenable 
to development. No dwellings are proposed in the very small area of the south 
east corner of the site where odour would likely cause issue. Whilst the 
occurrence of adverse odour impact and complaints cannot be completely 
excluded, the proposed up-grade works are considered sufficient to allow the 
development as proposed. Neither Thames Water nor WBC’s Environmental 
Health Officer has raised objection to the development.  

 

43



Land Quality – Contamination 
 

87. The majority of the site is agricultural land, although part of the site is occupied 
by Bell Farm which accommodates several commercial and industrial units. 
These land uses have the potential to cause contamination and therefore need to 
be suitably assessed. 
 

88. An intrusive investigation has been carried out at the site mainly for geotechnical 
purposes. There is a recommendation in that report that a full Phase 1 and 
Phase 2 investigation needs to be carried out. Subject to those investigations 
and to the implementation of an appropriate scheme of mitigation if proven 
necessary, it is considered that land contamination will not prove a problem for 
future residents of the development. Such matters would be controlled through 
the recommended condition. 

 
SUSTAINABLE DESIGN AND CONSTRUCTION 
 

89. The Government has created a new approach for the setting of technical 
standards for new housing. This has rationalised the pre-existing and many 
differing standards into a simpler, streamlined system. The Government set out 
its policy on the application of these standards in decision-taking and plan-
making in a written Ministerial Statement. The statement withdrew the Code for 
Sustainable Homes. As the Code for Sustainable Homes has been withdrawn, 
WBC can no longer require building to Code Level 4 as a condition to planning 
consent. However, Part L of Building Regs effectively requires the equivalent 
energy efficiency as Code Level 4. Committee therefore need not consider this 
matter further under this planning application. 

 
OTHER MATTERS 
 
Environmental Impact Assessment 
 

90. By letter dated 24th June 2016, the LPA ‘Screened’ the development under the 
requirements of the Environmental Impact Assessment (EIA) Regulations 2011 
(as amended); concluding that the development was not EIA Development for 
the purposes of the Regulations. In doing so the LPA were satisfied that the 
physical scale of the development would not result in a significant increase in 
considerations such as traffic, emissions and noise and is significantly below the 
threshold of 1,000 dwellings which the Planning Practice Guidance indicates is 
likely as having a significant urbanising effect. Furthermore, the characteristics of 
the land and the proposed development are not likely to lead to significant 
environmental impacts and the required infrastructure to deliver the NWSDL has 
already been secured by previous permissions such that the proposal is able to 
mitigate its own impacts. 

 
Third Party Concerns 
 

91. Three third party letters of objection have been submitted. These letters raise 
various concerns, as outlined above. However, none of these matters have led 
recommending officers to reach a different conclusion on the main issues 
outlined above. 

 

44



 

CONCLUSION 

This is a sustainable development that offers substantial public benefit in meeting the 
housing needs of the community and delivering on Wokingham’s development 
aspirations for the North Wokingham SDL. There are no adverse impacts of granting 
planning permission that would outweigh those benefits and the NPPF presumption in 
favour of sustainable development is therefore met. The application will deliver high 
quality development, concentrated in the SDL in accordance with the Council’ spatial 
strategy, and there are no other material planning considerations of significant weight 
that would dictate that the application should nevertheless be refused. Officers are 
therefore recommending the application for approval, subject to the conditions listed 
above and the completion of a S106 agreement. 

 

CONTACT DETAILS 

Service Telephone Email 

Development 
Management and 
Regulatory Services 

0118 974 6428 / 6429 development.control@wokingham.gov.uk 

 
APPENDIX A – Application Drawings 
APPENDIX B – Full comments from Wokingham Town Council 
 

45



This page is intentionally left blank



SANG/ INFORMAL OPEN
SPACE

KEY:

Existing trees

TPO Trees

Area for
Pumping

Station, Gas
Governor

 and Electric
Substation

Footpath Link to SANG

BELL FOUNDRY LANE

10 Apartments
incl coach

house
1-10

11

12

13 14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24
25

26

30

29

28

27

31

32

33

34

35

36
37

3839

40

41

42

43

44

45

46

47

48

49

50
51

52

53

54

55

56 57 58 59
60 61

63

80

81

82

86

95
94

93

92

91

90

89 88
87

85

84

83

79

78

77

76

65

64 66

67

75

74

73

72

69

68

71

70

97

106
107

122
123

124
125

126
127

96

100

101 102
103 108-120

104

98

99

105

128

13 Apartments

121

 Refuse
collection

 Refuse

 Bikes

Footpath Link to SANG

14

13

12

17

18
19

25

26

27

28

67

41

44

46

47
48

49

50

51

52

53

54

56

57
58

59

62

65

70

71

74

45

61

66

68

43

42

55

63

64

69

72

75

73

60

W

a
r
d
 
B

d
y

A
 
3
2
1

D

e
f

49.7m

49.4m

T
r
a
c
k

Lagoon

49.7m

48.8m

0m 10 50m20 30 40

 Bikes

Bins and
Bikes

under

PLANNING

REVISIONS

Drawing Title:

Scale:

Date: Drawn By

Drawing No: Revision:

NOTES:
DIMENSIONS ARE NOT TO BE SCALED FROM THIS DRAWING

ALL DIMENSIONS ARE TO BE CHECKED AGAINST ACTUAL SITE
DIMENSIONS BEFORE ANY WORK IS FABRICATED

The White Barn, Manor Farm, Manor Road
Wantage, Oxfordshire, OX12 8NE

T: 01235 765322 F: 01235 765373

The Mansion House, Hartham Park, Corsham,
Wiltshire, SN13 0RP

T: 01249 700489 F: 01249 470077

info@bhpharwood.co.uk - www.bhpharwood.co.uk

A R C H I T E C T S

COPYRIGHT RESERVED
THIS DRAWING IS THE PROPERTY OF BHP HARWOOD

ARCHITECTS AND MAY NOT BE COPIED, REPRODUCED LENT OR
DISCLOSED WITHOUT THEIR EXPRESS PERMISSION IN WRITING.

Rev. Date Description

Checked

Client :

Berkeley Homes

Job :

Bell Farm
Wokingham

Site Layout

1:500 @ A0

Jun 16 SC/ELD

3035.111 C

A 08.06.16 Minor amend
B 16.06.16 Landscape updated
C 20.06.16 Lineweight amendment

47



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Drawing Number: Date: Scale:

Bell Farm, North Wokingham

Illustrative Landscape Masterplan 2623-SK-04 20/06/16 1:1000@ A1

North

500 10 100m

Open arable land

T
w

yf
or

d 
R

oa
d 

(A
32

1)

Cantley Recreation Ground

Open arable land 

A329(M)

Bell Foundry Lane

49



T
his page is intentionally left blank



51



T
his page is intentionally left blank



53



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Wokingham Town Council Page 1 of 4 27/09/2016 
 

WOKINGHAM TOWN COUNCIL COMMENTS ON 161839 BELL FARM 
 
Smells emitting from the Sewage works 
 
The Odournet odour report dispersion modelling only shows the prevailing wind direction South 
West for the current and the upgraded equipment (p24, 25, 33 &34) away from the proposed 
development using data from the wind rose on page 37. However the wind blows from all directions 
and if you change the wind direction to East or East North East you will see that the whole 
development is engulfed in the odour plume. 
Following the completion of planned upgrade works, as described on P20, odour exposure levels are 
anticipated to decrease by 43% this will still leave 57% of the current odour levels in the surrounding 
air. And it is stated on page 4 & 26, “However the occurrence of adverse odour impact and 
complaints at odour exposure levels below C98, 1-hour = 3 ouE/m3 (moderately offensive smell 
rating from the chart on page 11) cannot be completely excluded. Ultimately the choice of criteria to 
be applied for planning and development purposes will be defined by the Local Planning Authority 
taking account factors such as their risk appetite, published guidance and previous case law”. 
 
WTC feel that the wind direction blowing from the East for 296 hours and from the East North East 
for 419 hours per year, as shown in the two wind roses below, the current and reduced levels of 
odour emissions, with a 3 ouE/m3 odour plume as shown on page 25 Figure 4: “Dispersion model 
output for operations following completion of upgrade works”, having a moderately offensive smell 
rating from the chart on page 11, would be an unacceptable loss of amenity due to the unpleasant 
odour emitted from the sewage works passing over the development. 
 

 
 

Easterly wind direction, speed and hours rose chart 

55



Wokingham Town Council Page 2 of 4 27/09/2016 
 

 
 

 
 

East North Easterly wind direction, speed and hours rose chart 
 
The meteoblue climate diagrams are based on 30 years of hourly weather model simulations and 
available for every place on Earth. They give good indications of typical climate patterns and 
expected conditions (temperature, precipitation, sunshine and wind). The simulated weather data 
have a spatial resolution of approximately 30 km and may not reproduce all local weather effects, 
such as thunderstorms, local winds, or tornadoes. 
https://www.meteoblue.com/en/weather/forecast/modelclimate/wokingham_united-
kingdom_2633708 
 
Noise impact assessment 
 
WTC would like to respectfully point out that Bell Foundry Lane is to be an integral part of the 
Northern Distributor Road and thus it will have a vastly increased traffic flow once completed. We 
note that this has not been included in the calculations for noise assessment of the development 
and the impact on the amenities of the dwellings adjacent to the road. 
 
Figure 8 on page 14, shows the expected noise levels at 1.5 metres representative of garden and 
amenity areas for the dwellings. The levels are expected to be below the WHO guidance level of 55 
dB LAeq, 16 hour however the increased traffic flow along the NDR will take the levels above this. 
 
 
 

56

https://www.meteoblue.com/en/weather/forecast/modelclimate/wokingham_united-kingdom_2633708
https://www.meteoblue.com/en/weather/forecast/modelclimate/wokingham_united-kingdom_2633708


Wokingham Town Council Page 3 of 4 27/09/2016 
 

 

 
 

 
 

Figure 8: Façade noise level predictions (1.5 metre noise map) 
 
Flood risk assessment 
 
WTC is concerned that the risk of flooding on this site has not been correctly assessed and up to date 
local information has not been included to assess the potential flood levels in this area.  
 

1. The Glanville calculations have used the flood outlines for 1947, 1974 and 1981. However 
the significant flooding event of 2007 has not been used and the levels exceeded those of 
previous floods in this area. The Environment Agencies published information does not 
include alterations for the 2007 event and thus the flash flooding graphic and levels are 
incorrect. This incorrect information has been used to produce the new development floor 
levels of 600mm above the 1:100 + 35% event level as stated on page 6 of the Glanville flood 
risk assessment, this will not be achieved thus the development will be at greater risk of 
flooding in the future. 

2. The catchment area for rain water run-off has not included the area north of the site that 
flows under the A329M to the Ashridge stream. This adds to the flooding on this site. 
 

Glanville have produced extra calculations, File attached, to include this area. However they have 
not included the full catchment area according to the topography of the land in their calculations. 
WTC feel that the total catchment area should be increased from 101375msq to 190750msq; this 
would give a run off of 9537.5 cubic metres of run off, for a 50mm/ hour of rain fall and not the 

57



Wokingham Town Council Page 4 of 4 27/09/2016 
 

5068.75 cubic metres as stated. This would result in the flood levels increasing by 418mm and not 
the 222mm as stated. This higher water will result in a higher risk of flooding on this development 
than has been stated in the future. 
 
  
Design 
 
The design of plots 19,20,30,54 to 65,67,69,97 and 101 to 107 places the rear gardens facing the 
new Northern Distributor Road (NDR). This will have the effect of a corridor of fencing, along this 
section of road that will give direct access to the rear of all the properties listed above. 
 
The Manual for Streets, Section 4, layout and connectivity, gives advice on crime prevention. On 
page 47, 4.6.3, it states “Safer Places highlights the following principles for reducing the likelihood of 
crime in residential areas, access to the rear of dwellings from public spaces, including alleys, should 
be avoided – a block layout, with gardens in the middle, is a good way of ensuring this;”  
Page 56, Section 5.6, Quality places, states that, “In general, it is recommended that streets are 
designed with the backs and fronts of houses and other buildings being treated differently. The basic 
tenet is ‘public fronts and private backs’. Ideally, and certainly in terms of crime prevention, back 
gardens should adjoin other back gardens or a secure communal space. Front doors should open on 
to front gardens, small areas in front of the property, or streets”. 
 
The North Wokingham Strategic Development Location SPD states in Section 4 (Key Design 
Principles) that, for Primary Streets, frontage development should be “continuous throughout the 
built areas”. 
 
WTC is concerned that this development has ignored this basic crime prevention design and will lead 
to high crime rates in the future. There will be poor surveillance of the rear gardens due to the 
orientation of the properties against the NDR. 
 
The design will line the NDR with fencing that will have no sense of place, no relationship with its 
surroundings and no quality control, with a NDR section purely designed for vehicles. In addition, it 
will impact the residents’ amenity by increasing the level of noise in the rear gardens. 
 
Plots 1-10, 10 apartments and plots 108-120 13 apartments are not within keeping of the 
surrounding area. The placement of three story apartment blocks facing the NDR at both ends of the 
development is out of keeping with the area. The mass, scale and build form is not appropriate for 
the area and is totally out of character, it will be detrimental to the amenities of plots 18,19, 106 and 
107, and is against CP3 of the adopted Core Strategy. 

58



ITEM NO: 58 
 
Development 
Management 
Ref No  

No weeks on 
day of 
committee 

Parish Ward Listed by: 

161747 Planning 
Performance 
Agreement 

Barkham, 
Finchampstead, 
Swallowfield, 
Arborfield 

Barkham, 
Finchampstead 
South, 
Swallowfield, 
Arborfield 

N/A SDL 
Major 
Development 

 
Applicant Crest Nicholson Operations Limited C/O Boyer Planning Ltd 
Location Arborfield Garrison and adjoining land Postcode RG2 9LN 
Proposal Application for Reserved Matters for the erection of 223 dwellings 

together with access from Sheerlands Road and the Nine Mile Ride 
Extension, with associated internal access roads, parking, landscaping, 
open space, footpaths, bridleways and sustainable urban drainage 
(SUDS), relating to Parcel A-G land. 

Type Reserved Matters 
PS Category 7 
Officer Alex Thwaites 
 
FOR CONSIDERATION BY Planning Committee on 12th October 2016 
REPORT PREPARED BY Head of Development Management and Regulatory 

Services 
 

SUMMARY 

This application relates to land within the ‘Southern Gateway’ character area of the 
Outline planning consent granted under planning application O/2014/2280 which 
established the principle of access to the site together with development parameters. 
The Parcels (A-G) are located to the east of the A327, north of the Nine Mile Ride 
Extension (approved under 153336) and west of Sheerlands Road. The development 
area is also immediately adjacent the existing residential roads of Barker Close and 
Tyler Drive. 
 
The principle of development in this location has been established through its allocation 
by policy CP18 of the Core Strategy and through the Spatial Framework Plan within the 
Arborfield Garrison Supplementary Planning Document together with the outline 
planning permission.  
 
The overarching vision of the SDL is to provide a co-ordinated approach to the delivery 
of infrastructure and services ensuring that developments are of a high quality and are 
sustainable. This includes the provision of schools, community facilities, good quality 
open space and appropriate local transport and links. The outline application for 
Arborfield Garrison was supported by an Infrastructure Delivery Plan (IDP) which 
established how the necessary infrastructure could be delivered. A S106 legal 
agreement secured the proportion of infrastructure attributable to the development at 
Arborfield Garrison and triggers for its delivery. 
 
This current application is for reserved matters application for 223 dwellings, which 
represents phase three of the Arborfield Garrison development. The application seeks 
permission for the details of appearance, landscaping, layout and scale only. Conditions 

59

Agenda Item 58.



applications have also been submitted in parallel to the reserved matters which seek 
approval for other detailed matters such as flooding and drainage.  
 
The application is before the Planning Committee as it is a major development that is 
recommended for approval. It is considered that the development would be a 
sustainable development that represents the second stage of the Arborfield Garrison 
development and would not have a significant detrimental impact on the character of the 
area or on existing residents.  
 
As previously advised, the site is surrounded by key existing and proposed 
infrastructure links, such as the Nine Mile Ride, Sheerlands Road and the A327. The 
proposal is also sited to the south of the existing residential area of Barker Close and 
Tyler Drive. Due to the scale of the site the levels vary within the parcels, however as a 
broad overview the site gently slopes upwards towards the A327. The key 
environmental features on site are the existing mature vegetation that is located along 
the northern boundary of the development. The masterplan has been designed in order 
to retain the mature vegetation as well as leaving a buffer along the northern boundary, 
away from the existing properties in Barker Close. The two open space areas to the 
centre of the development not only gives the development a more open feel but also 
acts as a natural barrier between the character areas in the parcel. The Sustainable 
Drainage Systems (SUDS) have been designed as part of the site layout and there is 
sufficient capacity within the site to accommodate the development.  
 
As defined at outline stage, the proposal also includes an area of the Linear Park and 
LEAP (Locally Equipped Areas of Play) which lies to the south of the parcel, directly 
north of the Nine Mile Ride Extension. This Linear Park includes the bridleway that links 
through the site and will connect the parcel with the rest of the development at 
Arborfield Garrison as well as areas such as Finchampstead and California Country 
Park. 
 
The proposal would provide for an adequate level of amenity for the future occupants of 
the dwellings together with an acceptable impact on ecology, traffic, highway safety and 
flood risk in addition to contributing to the delivery of infrastructure provided jointly by 
the wider SDL. 
 
In design terms, the proposal meets all the council’s standards, in particular internal 
space, garden depths and parking standards. Equally, the proposals follow the 
parameters set out in the outline application and the development comprises of 
generally lower density residential housing, primarily two storeys in height with some 
three storey buildings,   two stories located adjacent to the open countryside. The actual 
design of the units features a more contemporary design that is successfully reflective 
of the first phase of development as well as being compliant with Wokingham Borough 
Council polices. 
 
The proposals are considered to be acceptable and therefore it is recommended that 
Reserved Matters are approved subject to conditions outlined below. 

 

PLANNING STATUS 

 Strategic Development Location (SDL)  

 Modest Development Location 

 Countryside  

 Thames Basin Heaths Special Protection Area 5km – 7km Zone 

60



 Site of Special Scientific Interest 500m Buffer - Longmoor Bog 

 Affordable Housing Thresholds 

 Farnborough Aerodrome Safeguarding Consultation Zone 

 Potentially Contaminated Land - Sewage Works (Disused) 

 TPOs Served 

 Bat Roost 

 

RECOMMENDATION 

APPROVE RESERVED MATTERS subject to the following conditions: 
 

1. Outline Application Compliance 
Nothing herein contained shall be deemed to affect or vary the conditions 

imposed by planning permission O/2014/2280 dated 02/04/2015 which 

conditions shall remain in full force and effect save in so far as they are expressly 

affected or varied by this permission. 

 
2. Plans 

Approved plans – details to be submitted as part of members update (awaiting 

revised / updated plans) 

 

Reason: For the avoidance of doubt and to ensure that the development is 

carried out in accordance with the application form and associated details hereby 

approved. 

 
3. Landscape Maintenance and Management 

Prior to the first occupation of the development a landscape maintenance and 

management plan, including long term design objectives, management 

responsibilities, timescales and maintenance schedules for all landscape areas, 

other than privately owned, domestic gardens, shall be submitted to and 

approved in writing by the local planning authority. The landscape maintenance 

and management plan shall be carried out as approved unless otherwise agreed 

in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 

 
Reason: In order to ensure that provision is made to allow continuing 
enhancement and maintenance and management of the landscaping hereby 
approved. Relevant policy: Core Strategy policy CP3 and Managing 
Development Delivery Local Plan policies CC03 and TB21. 
 

4. Highway Construction Details 
Prior to the commencement of development, full details of the construction of 
roads and footways, including levels, widths, construction materials, colour palette, 
service margin materials, depths of construction, surface water drainage and 
lighting shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning 
authority. The roads and footways shall be constructed in accordance with the 
approved details to road base level before the development is occupied and the 
final wearing course will be provided within 3 months of occupation, unless 
otherwise agreed in writing by the local planning authority. 

 

61



To ensure that roads and footpaths are constructed to a standard that would be 
suitable for adoption as publicly maintainable highway, in the interests of providing 
a functional, accessible and safe development. Relevant policy: Core Strategy 
policies CP3 & CP6. 

 

5. Footway Connectivity 
Prior to the commencement of development, full details of the proposed pedestrian 
facilities and pathways including materials to be submitted to and approved in 
writing by the local planning authority at the following locations: 

a. linking plots 179 to -186, just south of allotments; 
b. linking plot 210 to the bridleway at the northwest corner of the 

development; 
c. link adjacent to plots 120 & 121. 

 
To ensure adequate to ensure satisfactory development in the interests of 
sustainable travel 
in accordance with NPPF, Wokingham Borough Core Strategy Policies CP1, 
CP6 and CP18.  

 

6. Layout of Private Driveways 
Prior to the commencement of development, full details of the proposed private 
driveway layouts and lengths in front of footways, including materials, to be 
submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority. 

Reason: To discourage car parking across footways in the interests of highway 
safety and convenience in accordance with NPPF Wokingham Borough Core 
Strategy Policies CP1 and CP6 and Managing Development Delivery Local Plan 
Policy CC07 and parking standards outlined in Appendix 2 of the Managing 
Development Delivery Local Plan and the Arborfield Strategic Development 
Location Supplementary Planning Document (2011).  
 

7. Surfacing of Access 
No building shall be occupied until the vehicular access has been surfaced with a 
permeable and bonded material across the entire width of the access for a 
distance of 10 metres measured from the carriageway edge. 

To avoid spillage of loose material onto the highway, in the interests of road 
safety. Relevant policy:  Core Strategy policy CP6. 

 

8. Access Prior to Occupation 
No building shall be occupied until the access has been constructed in accordance 
with the approved plans. 

In the interests of highway safety and convenience. Relevant policy:  Core 
Strategy policies CP3 & CP6. 

 

9. Public Transport Strategy 
Prior to the commencement of development, submit an updated public transport 
strategy that includes a bus service within 400m of the proposed development to 
be agreed in writing with the local planning authority.  This is expected to identify 

62



phased bus services to the bus stops proposed on Nine Mile Ride and Sheerlands 
Road.   
 
To ensure adequate to ensure satisfactory development in the interests of 
sustainable travel 
in accordance with NPPF, Wokingham Borough Core Strategy Policies CP1, 
CP6 and CP18.  

 
Informatives 

1. Nothing herein contained shall be deemed to affect or vary the conditions 
imposed by planning permission O/2014/2280 dated 02/04/2015 which 
conditions shall remain in full force and effect save in so far as they are expressly 
affected or varied by this permission. Equally, this permission should be read in 
conjunction with the legal agreement under section 106 of the Town and Country 
Planning Act that accompanies planning permission O/2014/2280 dated 
02/04/2015. 
 

2. The applicant is advised that the Council seeks that employers or developers 
within the borough commit to using local labour / contractors where possible. 
This should include: 
 

• Advertisement of jobs within local recruitment agencies / job centres;  
• Recruitment and training of residents from the local area;  
• Seek tender of local suppliers or contractors for work.  

 
 

3. Work on Highway 
The Corporate Head of Environment at the Council Offices, Shute End, 
Wokingham should be contacted for the approval of the access construction 
details before any work is carried out within the highway.  This planning 
permission does NOT authorise the construction of such an access. 
 

4. Mud on Road 
Adequate precautions shall be taken during the construction period to prevent 
the deposit of mud and similar debris on adjacent highways.  For further 
information contact Corporate Head of Environment on tel: 0118 974 6302. 
 

5. Highway Management 
Any works/events carried out either by, or at the behest of, the  developer, 
whether they are located on, or affecting a prospectively maintainable highway, 
as defined under Section  87 of the New Roads and Street Works Act 1991, or 
on or affecting the public highway, shall be coordinated under the requirements 
of the New Roads and Street Works Act 1991 and the Traffic management Act 
2004 and licensed accordingly in order to secure the expeditious movement of 
traffic by minimising disruption to users of the highway network in Wokingham.  
 

6. Utilities 
Any such works or events commissioned by the developer and particularly those 
involving the connection of any utility to the site, shall be co–ordinated by them in 
liaison with Wokingham Borough Council’s Street Works Team, (telephone 
01189 746302). This must take place at least three month in advance of the 
works and particularly to ensure that statutory undertaker connections/supplies to 

63



the site are coordinated to take place wherever possible at the same time. 
 

7. Noise 
The attention of the applicant is drawn to the requirements of Section 60 of the 
Control of Pollution Act 1974 in respect of the minimisation of noise on 
construction and demolition sites.  Application, under Section 61 of the Act, for 
prior consent to the works, can be made to the Environmental Health and 
Licensing Manager. 
 

 

PLANNING HISTORY 

SO/2010/0611 EIA scoping opinion 23/4/2010 

O/2013/0600 Outline application for 2000 dwellings and 
supporting infrastructure. 

Withdrawn 19/11/2013 

O/2014/2280 OUTLINE PERMISSION FOR: Demolition of 
buildings and phased redevelopment of 
Arborfield Garrison and adjoining land for: Up 
to 2,000 new dwellings (including up to 80 
units of extra care housing). District centre 
comprising a foodstore up to 4,000 sqm gross 
with up to a further 3,500 sqm (gross) floor 
space within Classes A1, A2, A3, A4, A5, B1, 
D1 and D2 (with residential above - Class 
C3)), and transport interchange, village 
square, car parking, servicing and drop off 
area. Up to a further 1,500 sqm (gross) floor 
space within Classes D1 and D2. 
Neighbourhood centre to provide up to 300 
sqm (gross) floor space within Classes A1, 
A2, A3, A4, A5, B1, D1 and D2, with 
parking/servicing area. Secondary school for 
up to 1,500 pupils (Class D1) including sports 
pitches, flood-lit all-weather pitch, and indoor 
swimming pool and parking areas. Up to 
three-form primary school (Class D1) with 
sports pitch and parking areas. Associated 
phased provision of: car parking; public open 
space including sports pitches, 
informal/incidental open space, children's 
play areas including multi-use games area 
(MUGA), skate park, community 
gardens/allotments; landscaping/buffer areas; 
boundary treatments; new roads, footpaths, 
cycleways and bridleways; sustainable urban 
drainage systems, including flood alleviation 
works. 
 
PART 2 - FULL PERMISSION FOR phased 
development of: Creation of two new areas of 
Suitable Alternative Natural Greenspace 
(SANGS) (In the north-eastern part of the 
application site ("Northern SANGS") and at 

Approved 02/04/2015 

64



West Court ("West Court SANGS") including 
car parking areas, path/walkways, fencing 
and associated landscaping; re-use of 
existing MoD gymnasium for 
sports/community uses/centre (Classes 
D1/D2; new roundabout junction to A327 
Reading Road; junction improvements to 
Langley Common Road, Baird Road and 
Biggs Lane; junction improvements and new 
access at Biggs Lane/Princess Marina Drive; 
re-use and improvements to existing site 
accesses from Biggs Lane. 

150162 Reserved Matters application for the erection 
of 113 dwellings with access from Biggs Lane 
and Princess Marina Drive, with associated 
internal access road, parking, landscaping 
and open space, footpaths and sustainable 
Urban Drainage (Suds). 

Approved 26/11/2015 

153336 Reserved Matters application pursuant to 
planning consent O/2014/2280. The 
application relates to the Nine Mile Ride 
Extension, School Access Road and A327 
Roundabout. Details of access, appearance, 
landscaping, layout and scale to be 
considered. 

Approved 24/03/2016 

161536 Application for Reserved Matters for the 
erection of 127 dwellings together with 
access from Princess Marina Drive with 
associated internal access roads, 
landscaping, open space, footpaths and 
sustainable urban drainage (SUDS), relating 
to (parcel T) land. 

Approved 14/09/2016 

 

SUMMARY INFORMATION 

For Residential  
Site Area 6.79 ha 
Existing units MOD Use 
Proposed units 223 
Proposed density - dwellings/hectare 33 d/ha 
Number of affordable units proposed 45 (20%) and 15% commuted sum 
Previous land use Brownfield site (MOD) 
Proposed parking spaces 461 including visitors spaces and 

garages (counted as 0.5 spaces) 

 

CONSULTATION RESPONSES 

Berks, Bucks and Oxon 
Wildlife Trust 

No objection subject to the proposal being carried out in 
accordance with the submitted documents and mitigation 
[Officer Note: Condition 2 secures all documents and plans 
and the proposal must be carried out in accordance with 
said documents/plans] 

Berkshire Archaeology No objection. 
WBC Biodiversity No objection 

65



WBC Building Control No comments received. 
WBC Children Services No comments received. 
WBC Community 
Infrastructure 

No objection. 

WBC Conservation 
Officer 

No objection. 

Crime Prevention Design 
Officer 

No comments received. 

WBC Drainage Comments received requesting minor points of clarification, 
however amended plans and documents submitted and 
under review. 

WBC Economic 
Sustainability Team 

No objection. 

WBC Education Services No comments received. 
Environment Agency No comment. 
WBC Environmental 
Health 

No objection. 

WBC Health and 
Wellbeing 

No comments received. 

WBC Highways No objection – subject to conditions 
Highways England No objection. 
Historic England No comment. 
WBC Trees & Landscape No objection – subject to conditions 
WBC Libraries No comments received. 
Natural England No comment. 
Network Rail No comments received. 
WBC LUTT (Policy) No objection 
WBC Public Rights of 
Way 

No comments received. 

Royal Berkshire Fire and 
Rescue 

No comments received. 

South East Water No comments received. 
South West Train No comments received. 
Southern Gas Networks No comments received. 
Sport England No comment. 
SSE Power Distribution No comments received. 
Thames Water No objection. 
WBC Waste Services No objection. 

 

REPRESENTATIONS 

Arborfield Parish ‘The Parish Council have no comments regarding this 
application.’ 

Finchampstead 
Parish 

While broadly in agreement with the proposed scheme the 
following comments were raised: 
 
Consider the imposition of a covenant on householders adjacent 
to the “Dark corridors”, in order to reduce light pollution from the 
future installation of external lights on properties. [Officer Note: a 
lighting plan is secured through condition 2 to reduce impact on 
the dark corridors and ecology] 
 
The western site boundary with the A327 is a potential area for 

66



noise pollution. Although recognised in the Plan, there are no 
immediate plans to implement any form of mitigation measures. 
This should be reconsidered and implemented at the outset of 
development. [Officer Note: the WBC Environmental Health 
officer is satisfied with the noise mitigation proposed with the 
application] 
 
Provision of high speed broadband to all homes is essential. 
There does not appear to be any mention of its inclusion and 
implementation within the Plan. It must be. [Officer Note: while 
not a planning consideration the applicant has previously 
confirmed on other parcels that high speed internet is to be 
provided] 
 
The plan includes the provision of Allotments. It is unclear which 
authority will have responsibility for the administration and 
management. This matter needs urgent resolution so that the 
new authority may be engaged with the initial plans and set up 
from the outset. [Officer Note: this comment is not a planning 
consideration, however the Council is aware of his issue] 
 
Allotment fencing and gates needs to be deer and rabbit proof. 
[Officer Note: the details and design of the allotments has been 
secured within the outline legal agreement]  

 
Where the Greenway meets Sheerlands Road, provision of a 
pedestrian and/or Pegasus crossing should be considered. 
[Officer Note: this crossing falls outside of the application site 
however forms part of the wider transport and movement strategy 
for the site] 
 
What plans are there for the provision of solar panels to 
properties? [Officer Note: an sustainable energy statement has 
been submitted with the proposal and will be secured under 
Condition 2] 
 
The loop access between the two Nine Mile Ride Extension 
access roads should be capable of providing vehicular 
access[Officer Note: this is the case] 

Barkham Parish ‘This parcel of land is north of the Nine Mile Ride Extension up to 
the A327. A greenway is proposed to run along the southern 
edge which will be a portion of the greenway which crosses the 
whole of the SDL. The crossing of Sheerland Road needs to be 
safe for vulnerable users including cyclists, horses and 
pedestrians. A Pegasus type crossing should be provided at this 
point, even if lights are not included at the outset. [Officer Note: 
this crossing falls outside of the application site] 
  
Though outside the application area, provision to extend the 
greenway from the north west extremity to Baird Road should be 
addressed by WBC. This will ultimately provide a greenway all 
the way from Finchampstead to Farley Hill.  

67



  
The junction of Sheerlands Road and Nine Mile Ride Extension is 
currently a T junction: sufficient land should be retained in order 
that in future years a roundabout could be constructed to cope 
with additional traffic which will ultimately make this a very busy 
junction.’ 

Local Members No comments received. 

Neighbours No neighbour representation received 

 

PLANNING POLICY 

 
National Policy  
 
National Planning Policy Framework 2012 
Technical Guidance to the National Planning Policy Framework 2012 
 
South East Plan 2009  
 
Saved policy NRM6 - Thames Basin Heaths Special Protection Area 
 
Wokingham Borough Core Strategy policies: 
 
CP1 - Sustainable Development 
CP2 - Inclusive Communities  
CP3 - General Development Principles 
CP4 - Infrastructure Requirements 
CP5 - Housing Mix, Density and Affordability  
CP6 - Managing Travel Demand 
CP7 - Biodiversity 
CP8 - Thames Basin Heaths Special Protection Area 
CP9 - Scale and Location of Development Proposals 
CP10 - Improvements to the Strategic Transport Network 
CP11 - Proposals outside Development Limits (including countryside) 
CP13 – Town Centres and Shopping 
CP17 - Housing delivery 
CP18 – Arborfield Garrison Strategic Development Location 
 
Appendix 7 – Additional Guidance for the Development of Strategic Development 
Locations 
 
Managing Development Delivery Document (Local Plan) (adopted February 2014) 
 
CC01 – Presumption in Favour of Sustainable Development 
CC02 – Development Limits 
CC03 - Green Infrastructure, Trees and Landscaping 
CC04 - Sustainable Design and Construction 
CC05 - Renewable energy and decentralised energy networks 
CC06 - Noise 
CC07 - Parking 
CC08 - Safeguarding alignments of the Strategic Transport Network & Road 
Infrastructure 
CC09 - Development and Flood Risk (from all sources)  

68



CC10 - Sustainable Drainage 
TB05 - Housing Mix 
TB07 – Internal Space Standards 
TB08 - Open Space, sport and recreational facilities standards for residential 
development  
TB09 – Residential accommodation for vulnerable groups 
TB12 – Employment Skills Plan 
TB15 – Major Town, and Small Town/District Centre development 
TB16 – Development for Town Centre Uses 
TB20 – Service Arrangements and Deliveries for Employment and Retail Use 
TB21 - Landscape Character 
TB23 - Biodiversity and Development 
TB24 – Designated Heritage Assets (Listed Buildings, Historic Parks and Gardens, 
Scheduled Ancient Monuments and Conservation Areas) 
TB25 - Archaeology  
TB26 – Buildings of Traditional Local Character and Areas of Special Character 
SAL05 - Delivery of Avoidance Measures for the Thames Basin Heath Special 
Protection Areas 
 
Supplementary Planning Documents 
Arborfield Garrison Strategic Development Location Supplementary Planning Document 
(October 2011) 
Infrastructure Delivery and Contributions Supplementary Planning Document (October 
2011) 
Wokingham Borough Design Supplementary Planning Document (2012)  
Wokingham Borough Affordable Housing Supplementary Planning Document (July 
2013) 
Sustainable Design and Construction Supplementary Planning Document (28 May 
2010) 
Planning Advice Note, Infrastructure Impact Mitigation, Contributions for New 
Development (Revised 2014) 
Barkham Village Design Statement (re-adopted as an appendix to the Borough Design 
Guide SPD in May 2012) 
Emerging Arborfield and Newland Village Design Statement (post-consultation, now 
being considered for adoption) 
 
The Council’s parking standards as set out within appendix 2 of the Managing 
Development Delivery Local Plan and referred to in para 4.38 of the Core Strategy 

 

PLANNING ISSUES 

Principle of Development and Infrastructure Delivery 
1. The application site forms part of a larger area designated under the Wokingham 

Borough Core Strategy as the Arborfield Garrison Strategic Development 
Location (SDL). 

 
2. Wokingham Borough Core Strategy policy CP17 establishes a requirement to 

provide at least 13,487 new dwellings with associated development and 
infrastructure in the period 2006-2026. The majority of this new residential 
development will be in four SDLs, of which Arborfield Garrison is one of these. 
Policy CP18 identifies that the Arborfield Garrison SDL will deliver a sustainable, 
well designed mixed use development of around 3,500 dwellings and associated 
infrastructure. 

69



 
3. Core Strategy Policy CP18 is amplified by Appendix 7 of the Core Strategy, the 

Arborfield Garrison Strategic Development Location Supplementary Planning 
Document (SPD) and Infrastructure Delivery and Contributions SPD, which 
address the associated infrastructure impacts across the whole borough. These 
documents establish a requirement for a sustainable, well designed, mixed use 
development and make clear that a co-ordinated approach to the development of 
the SDL will be required to deliver the necessary infrastructure, facilities and 
services to meet the needs of the expanded community.  
 

4. Outline planning permission for the site was granted by Wokingham Borough 
Council on 02/04/2015. This established the principle for development for the site 
together with access for up to 2,000 new dwellings, district centre, 
neighbourhood centre, secondary school, primary school and two Suitable 
Alternative Natural Greenspace (SANGS). These were considered against the 
relevant Core Strategy policies and Local Plan policies. The current application 
seeks reserved matters approval for appearance, layout, landscaping and scale. 
Other issues such as updating the Flood Risk Assessment and Phasing are 
being considered under separate conditions applications. 
 

5. The outline consent included an Infrastructure Delivery Plan and S106 legal 
agreement. The legal agreement secures the coordinated delivery of the 
infrastructure necessary to support the development and fair share of the SDL 
wide infrastructure. These included contributions towards off-site infrastructure 
and services such as roads, education, sports facilities, community facilities and 
green infrastructure. In addition, it secured an affordable housing contribution in 
accordance with the Core Strategy and Infrastructure Delivery and Contributions 
Supplementary Planning Document. 
 

6. The details approved under the outline planning consent established parameters 
for the development including general site layout including the quantum of 
development, indicative location of housing, open space, density and general 
heights of buildings. Access to the site was also established. 
 

Site Description 
7. The application site relates to an area of land within the Outline application that 

lies in the character area of the ‘Southern Gateway’. The application site, referred 
to as ‘Parcels A-G’ at outline, is immediately adjacent to the A327, the Nine Mile 
Ride Extension, Sheerlands Road and Barker Close. 
 

8. As described in the Outline application the existing land use of the site comprises 
of the soon-to-be vacated Arborfield Garrison (MOD use), which is currently not 
accessible to the public. 

 
Dwelling Mix: 

9. MDD LP Policy TB05 requires an appropriate housing mix which reflects a 
balance between the character of the area and the current and projected needs 
of households. 
 

10. The accommodation on the site would be provided within both apartments and 
houses. The mix of dwelling types allows for a mix of smaller units, like for 
example 2 bed dwellings, with larger houses and apartment buildings which 

70



allows for an appropriate housing mix which reflects a balance between the 
character of the area and the current and projected needs of households on the 
market. 

 
11. The table below shows a breakdown of the mix of dwelling types and units on the 

first phase. 
 

  

Privat
e 

Affordabl
e 

Tota
l 

Apts 

1 bed 0 6 6 

2 bed 48 6 54 

House
s 

Maisonett
e 14 6 20 

2 bed 17 11 28 

3 bed 51 14 65 

4 bed 43 2 45 

5 bed 5 0 5 

 
Total 178 45 223 

 
12. The proposal is considered acceptable and provides a good balance of 

accommodation on the site. 
 
Masterplan – Layout 

13. Core Strategy Policies CP1, Sustainable Development and CP3, General 
Principles for Development requires high quality design that respects its context. 
This requirement is amplified by MDD LP Policies CC03, Green Infrastructure, 
Trees and Landscaping and TB21, Landscape Character and Arborfield Garrison 
SPD which requires development proposals to protect and enhance the 
Borough’s Green Infrastructure, retaining existing trees, hedges and other 
landscape features and incorporating high quality - ideally native – planting as an 
integral part of any scheme, within the context of the Council’s Landscape 
Character Assessment.  
 

14. Core Strategy policy CP18, Arborfield Garrison Strategic Development Location 
sets out the concept rational for the design parameters for the Arborfield Garrison 
SDL and these are outlined in further detail in Appendix 7 of the Core Strategy. 
This states that: 
 

The attractive rural setting, which requires a design response to ensure 
the development, is absorbed into the landscape, taking account of 
natural features including watercourses, and to ensure a sense of the 
landscape permeates the development through an open space strategy 
 

15. Further design guidance is provided by the Arborfield Garrison SPD in section 4. 
Design principle 3 is concerned with character and states that there should be 
diversity and distinction in the SDL which should be enhanced through the 
application of character typologies. 
 

16. It is important to set out the site in the context of the wider planning permission 
for Arborfield Garrison. The application parcel itself forms a discrete part of the 
Arborfield Garrison planning unit. In order to ensure consistency of design for the 

71



entire development, the Arborfield Garrison planning consent established design 
principles including indicative parameter plans for development limits, density 
and building heights. Further design guidance was also included within the 
Design and Access Statement. 
 

17. To build upon these principles, a requirement of the outline planning permission 
was for the applicant to submit a design code with the submission of reserved 
matters applications. The purpose of the design code is to ensure continuity of 
development across the site and the application of Garden Village principles in 
the design. In accordance with this requirement, the applicant has provided these 
details which have demonstrated the overarching principles for the entire site and 
are acceptable. The design principles outlined in the code will be expected to be 
incorporated to the wider Arborfield Garrison planning unit. 
 

18. To build upon these principles, a requirement of the outline planning permission 
was for the applicant to submit an acceptable design code (ref: 160303) for 
approval to the council prior to the submission of reserved matters applications. 
The purpose of the design code is to ensure continuity of development across 
the site. In accordance with this requirement, the applicant has provided these 
details which have demonstrated the overarching principles for the entire site. 
The design principles outlined in the code will be expected to be incorporated for 
the other development parcels within the ‘Southern Gateway’ parcel when they 
submitted in the future.  
 

19. The submitted masterplan retains the principles within the outline planning 
application and design code. To reflect this and inform diversity of development, 
the applicant has ensured differing street typologies, building heights and 
landscaping have been applied to promote variety and also manage vehicle 
speeds throughout the site. In addition, consideration has been applied to the 
relationship of the site and the constraints of the surrounding area through the 
application of these differing character areas.  
 

20. The principle layout of the wider site has been established by the primary 
infrastructure application. This established the key routes through the site and 
used the principles outlined in the design code to inform street hierarchy, 
landscaping and drainage features. As these have been established, the layout 
of the main routes are considered acceptable. The layout of this parcel has been 
designed in accordance with site constraints, WBC standards and good practice 
and as such is considered acceptable.  

 
Masterplan – Density 

21. Design principles 3 (a-g) are outlined in the Arborfield Garrison SPD and are 
concerned with the character of the development, including the density of 
development. The Core Strategy approach for the Arborfield Garrison SDL in 
respect to density is outlined in Appendix 7 which indicates an average density of 
30-35 dwellings per hectare (d/ha) across the SDL. Equally the Arborfield 
Garrison planning consent established ‘Parcels B-E’ to be of ‘medium density’ 
(27-40 d/ha) and ‘Parcels F-G’ as ‘lower density’ (15-27 d/ha). Parcels F-G being 
the parcels directly south of the existing residential area of Barker Close and 
Tyler Drive. 
 

22. The overall density proposed by the application equates to 33 d/ha which will 

72



include a provision of 20% on-site affordable housing. The remaining 15% is to 
be commuted off-site. The masterplan shows that density would be greater 
towards the Nine Mile Ride Extension and parts of the A327, while being lower 
near to residential areas or the extremities of the Arborfield Garrison 
development site. The application of lower density development in these areas 
responds well to both the constraints of the site and the edge of development. 
This would provide a good transition between the built forms and surrounding 
countryside or existing residential areas. 
 

23. This approach is considered consistent with the advice provided by the SPD, the 
previously approved outline application and the overall density of development is 
in line with Appendix 7 of the Core Strategy and is therefore acceptable. 
 

Masterplan – Design and Appearance 
24. In terms of the detailed design of the buildings, the Arborfield Garrison SPD 

recommends that the existing built form should be used to inform the design. The 
Design and Access Statement and Design Code include a character analysis of 
the surrounding area and picks out themes that are common in the locality. 
These have been used to help inform the design style of the dwellings which 
generally take on a more contemporary form of design that take clear character 
references from the local vernacular architecture. The design should also be 
influenced and consistent with the Garden Village Principles as well as previously 
approved adjacent parcels, in this case ‘Parcel O1’, ‘Parcel T’ and the approved 
design code. 

 
25. Throughout the site, the applicant has provided a good range of housing types 

and styles ensuring that there is diversity in the built form and a range of housing 
for future occupants. The application of character areas outlined above also 
helps provide variety throughout the site. In addition, there is diversity in the style 
and heights of the dwellings achieved through detailing such as rendering on 
some house types and brick work details on others. This helps to provide a clear 
and legible neighbourhood. 
 

26. The parcel has three natural segments due to the provision of green strips of 
open space within the development, as per the parameters at outline stage. 
While these sections appear separate they provide an excellent amount of 
permeability and access through the site as well as onto the existing road 
networks and wider areas. Public spaces are overlooked by dwellings to ensure 
surveillance and security. The designs of the dwellings and outline parameter 
plans, allow for three storey building to create ‘landmark buildings’ at strategic 
locations which is reflective of the first and second phase of development (Parcel 
O1 and Parcel T). Equally the materials used and details, such as render and 
timber cladding, is reflective of the first phase of development and the current 
detail of Arborfield Garrison as a whole. 
 

27. Whilst the proposal introduces a modern design into the SDL, the NPPF states 
planning policies and decisions should not attempt to impose architectural styles 
or particular tastes and they should not stifle innovation, originality or initiative 
through unsubstantiated requirements to conform to certain development forms 
or styles. It is, however, proper to seek to promote or reinforce local 
distinctiveness. The proposal, whilst modern in design, consists of features that 
are found in the local vernacular. It is considered that the applicant has carefully 

73



considered the design in the context of the surrounding area and proposes a 
design that is respectful to the character of the area while not replicating the 
homogenous design styles of other modern housing estates. 
 

28. The overall design approach for all of the dwellings is considered appropriate, 
although differs from that of the consented schemes on ‘Parcel O1 and T’ in their 
design, offering a new distinct character in this area and is considered successful 
in its approach and respects the context of the site location and in accordance 
with the advice provided by the NPPF, policies CP1 and CP3 together with the 
Arborfield Garrison SPD and Supplementary Planning Guidance. The proposals 
are therefore considered acceptable. 
 

Masterplan – Landscape 
29. Much of the development site is open fields at present whilst there is not a huge 

presence of significant existing vegetation; the masterplan has carefully 
considered the landscape and incorporated this into the design. For the majority 
of the Parcels in A-G there is a strong mature tree line on the northern boundary 
that is adjacent to the existing residential properties in Barker Close this would be 
retained and appropriate buffers have been applied in the layout of the 
development to preserve this. This would help to soften the impact of the houses 
from the outset and provide screening of this parcel as you approach the 
development. 
 

30. Elsewhere in the Parcels there are existing and proposed hedgerows that break 
up the development. Again the layout has been carefully considered to ensure 
that this would be retained with appropriate buffers from the built form. Although 
street planting is limited in some of the internal streets of the site, some key tree 
planting has been achieved with views through to green spaces and landscaping. 
This helps soften the development and there is also hedgerow planting to the 
front of the dwellings in front garden areas where space is limited for tree 
planting.  
 

31. Within the development, landscaping is proposed throughout the residential 
areas. Landscaping strips and SUDs have been established through the primary 
infrastructure and these will include tree planting. Along the main roads in the 
development a regular line of trees is proposed which, when established, will 
give this area an avenue type feel and also help distinguish it as part of the 
primary route for the site. More informal plating is proposed in the other character 
areas which include trees and low level planting. These measures together with 
the proposed boundary treatments would reduce and mitigate the proposed 
development’s impact on the landscape and is generally consistent with the 
advice provided by the Arborfield Garrison SPD. 
 

32. The applicant has carefully considered the landscaping within the site 
masterplan. Where possible existing trees are to be retained and there would be 
no loss of any species considered significant by the Landscape Officer. Semi 
mature trees are proposed within the site layout which would help soften the built 
form and provide a verdant character along the areas of public open space. 
Where existing vegetation has been lost, this has been established at the outline 
planning stage. Particular attention has been given to the northern boundary of 
development parcels and how the proposal links with the Linear Park and this is 
considered acceptable by the Landscape Officer.  

74



 
Masterplan – Conclusion 

33. The design approach taken to inform the layout and appearance of the buildings 
is considered to respond well to the existing landscape features, context of the 
site and surrounding area. The applicant has satisfactorily demonstrated a 
comprehensive approach to the delivery of the dwellings under consideration by 
this reserved matters application. This has been achieved through applying the 
principles of the design code in the proposed layout and the principles of the 
Garden Village.  
 

34. Overall, it is considered that the proposal would not have a significant detrimental 
impact on the character of the area and is broadly in accordance with the 
principles of the relevant planning policies and supplementary planning advice 
and represents high quality development. 
 

Residential Amenity – Impact upon Neighbouring Properties 
35. Core Strategy policy CP3 requires that new development should be of a high 

quality of design that does not cause detriment to the amenities of adjoining land 
users. Separation standards for new residential development are set out in 
section 4.7 of the Borough Design Guide. 
 

36. The proposal is subject to parameters set at outline stage that includes both 
separation distances and open space plans. The most significant of these is the 
northern boundary that is adjacent to the existing properties at Barker Close and 
Tyler Drive. The proposal has been designed to allow a 50 metre distance 
between the properties at Barker Close and the proposed properties in the 
development parcel.  
 

37. This northern boundary to the site comprises if an effective screen of Scots Pine 
trees located on a natural ridgeline. It provides a largely evergreen buffer 
between the development site and the existing residential area/woodland to its 
immediate north. The existing fragmented hedgerow and tree planting will be 
enhanced with infill hedgerow and Scots Pines to screen development from the 
northern boundary. 

 
38. Given the size of the separation distances and the onsite conditions, it is 

considered that there would be no significant impacts to existing residents in 
terms of overlooking, loss of light and overbearing.  
 

Residential Amenity – Noise 
39. Whilst it is acknowledged that there would be a greater level of activity in the 

area arising from the delivery and future occupation of the housing, this would 
not be to an extent that is unusual in a residential area. As the site has been 
identified as being suitable for housing, the principle of residential development in 
this area has been established. The outline permission also secured via condition 
and s106 the construction routes for the proposal in order to keep disruption to a 
minimal. Construction activities would be temporary and Condition 68 of the 
Outline Planning consent controls the hours of operations to 0800-1800 on 
Mondays to Fridays and 0800-1300 on Saturdays. 

 
40. It is considered that the proposal would not result in any significant harm to the 

amenity of the existing residents and is in accordance with policies CP1 and CP3 

75



and supplementary planning guidance.  
 
Residential Amenity – The Amenity of Future Occupants of the Development 

41. The Borough Design Guide and MDD LP policy TB07 set out minimum 
thresholds for private amenity space and internal space standards which new 
residential development should be assessed against. 

 
Private Amenity Space 
42. The Borough Design Guide sets a minimum garden depth of 11.0 metres. In 

terms of the submitted masterplan, the proposed layout complies with these 
requirements with all houses meeting the minimum threshold, apart from one 
unit. This unit, number 79, does however front the linear park and enjoys a wide 
plot of 14 meters and therefore is considered acceptable. Equally, for some of 
the proposed houses, the garden areas are wide which increases the area of 
amenity space. Overall, it is considered the development will provide acceptable 
levels of private amenity space for the future occupants of the dwellings and is in 
accordance with policy. 

 
Internal Space Standards 
43. With respect to internal floor space of the units, since 1st October 2015 national 

space standards have been in place as the Technical housing Space Standards. 
The dwellings comply to National Space standards, meeting requirements for 
overall area, bedroom sizes and storage allowances. 

 
Security 

44. The layout takes into account security and all of the communal areas of open 
space are well overlooked by the proposed housing, as are the areas of parking. 
The layout also means that there are back to back relationships which restrict 
access to private amenity space. 

 
Noise 

45. Core Strategy Policy CP1 and MDD LP Policy CC06 direct development away 
from areas where noise would impact upon amenity and require mitigation where 
noise cannot be completely avoided. Noise impacts from traffic from the A327 
and NMRE upon the new occupiers amenities have been considered and are 
considered acceptable. The Environmental Health officer is satisfied with the 
proposals and therefore there is not considered to be significant impacts to the 
occupants of the proposed dwellings.  

 
Sustainable Design and Construction 

46. Due to the replacement of the Code for Sustainable Homes with national 
standards in Building Regulations, the proposal is no longer required to meet 
Code 4 in line with Policy CC04 of the MDD. However, the policy does require 
that all development should incorporate suitable waste management facilities 
including on-site recycling (composting). It is considered that sufficient internal 
and external storage could be provided to accommodate this. 
 

47. Additionally, there is a condition in the outline permission to secure low and zero 
carbon technologies, so to demonstrate how the development will achieve a 10% 
reduction in carbon emissions beyond the minimum requirement of ‘Part L: 
Building Regulations’.  

 

76



Access and Movement 
48. The outline planning permission established the access points to the site and 

was accompanied with a full Transport Assessment. This involved modelling the 
potential impacts of the development by using the Wokingham Strategic 
Transport Model which included a review of this development site, the Arborfield 
Garrison SDL and the wider Core Strategy development proposals. It was 
demonstrated that there would be no significant harm caused by additional 
houses to both local and the wider transport networks, subject to the delivery of 
the Transport Interventions that were identified and secured through a legal 
process. The current reserved matters application does not deviate from the 
established access points approved under the outline planning application. It 
should be noted that most of the highways related matters are being assessed in 
detail under separate conditions applications. 
 

49. The main site accesses onto the Nine Mile Ride Extension were operationally 
assessed with the planning application for the Nine Mile Extension (reference 
153336) and identified to function satisfactorily. A Road Safety Audited was also 
undertaken. These proposals also include pedestrian, cycle and equestrian 
facilities along the site frontage within the Linear Park. 

 
Access and Movement – Site Layout 

50. The principle accesses to the site would be from the Nine Mile Ride Extension 
(NMRE) which has a direct connection to the new roundabout onto the A327. 
These accesses from the NMRE were consented via the NMRE application 
(reference 153336). 
 

51. The proposal has been designed in accordance to the street hierarchy detailed in 
the Southern Gateway Design Code.  It is composed of Secondary Streets, 
Tertiary Streets type 1, Tertiary Streets type 2 and Access Ways / Parking Courts 
all designed in accordance with Manual for Streets.  The Secondary Streets 
connect to either NMRE or Sheerlands Road and provide the main connection 
links and are 5.5m wide.  The Tertiary Streets have two types, one which roads 
measure 4.8 - 5.5m and  a second  which narrow further measuring 4.1m - 4.8m 
(with 3.7m pinch points where appropriate). As buses are not planned to run 
through this part of the site the 5.5m - 4.8 metres width is appropriate. 
 

52. There are a number of highway features that contribute to the public realm. In the 
central area of parcel G there is a public square area which comprises tight 
bends; this will slow traffic and discourage potential through traffic between 
Sheerlands Road and the NMRE. There is also a slow and tortuous connection 
between parcels F and E across the bridleway which provides connectivity. 
Around parcels E, F & G the streets are set out in a tortuous loop which again 
provides access for traffic travelling slowly but with connectivity. This is intended 
to prevent rat-running through the housing parcels.  

 
53. On the Tertiary Street, pavements have not been provided, however the 

proposed roads have been designed to have a shared surface for good 
pedestrian access within the site and future phases of development in the wider 
Arborfield Garrison development.  

 
54. Additionally, the proposal includes shared surfaces and private drives off the 

tertiary streets that provide access to some residential dwellings. These areas of 

77



road are short in length and often consist of turning heads which will ensure low 
vehicle speeds within these zones. As such this is acceptable. 
 

Access and Movement – Car Parking 
55. In line with Core Strategy Policy CP6, Managing Travel Demand and MDDLP 

Policy CC07: Parking, condition 40 requires reserved matters to incorporate car 
parking in line with the Council’s standards. The standards require allocated 
parking to be supplemented with unallocated or visitor parking.  

 
56. A summary of the car parking provision is provided on the table below: 

 

Total   Visitor 57 0.26 

Total Allocated 350 1.57 

Total Garages 108 0.48 

Total Allocate & Garages 458 2.05 

Total Visitor, allocated & 
garages 515 

2.31 

Total Tandem Parking 84 0.38 

 
57. With garages counted as 0.5 of a space as specified in WBC standards, then the 

effective total spaces are 461 including visitors’ spaces (54+350+57), making the 
average number of spaces per dwelling 2.07 dwelling. If garages are entirely 
excluded from the total then there are 407 spaces, an average of 1.7 spaces per 
dwelling.  
 

58. This parking is in accordance with the WBC parking standards (WBC demand 
calculator assumes that garage accommodation accounts for 0.5 spaces per 
dwelling) and the amount of parking is proportionate to the size of dwelling that it 
is intended to serve. The parking for the proposed dwellings is provided on plot 
with apartment parking also being located on plot. Parking spaces on the 
driveways have been set out to minimise vehicles that can potentially block 
driveways. Visitor parking is also well distributed through the development and 
this is provided in bays which are mainly off-set from the carriageway to reduce 
the level of on carriageway parking.  

 
59. On this basis, the level of parking provided and its location should limit demand 

for on street parking along the primary street and throughout the development. 
As such the proposed parking is considered acceptable on the site. 
 

Access and Movement – Pedestrian, Cycle & Equine Access 
60. There are excellent connections to pedestrian and cycle routes, with the 

bridleway route across the site linking to greenways to the north and the south 
and east.  The bridleway routes through the linear park and will have a crossing 
of Sheerlands Road for connecting to the District Centre, Secondary School and 
further eastwards.  Linking the parcels with the rest of the SDL development site 
is a key element of the development access strategy. Conditions within the 
outline application have secured connections from the site although this will 
come in later phases as per the phasing strategy. Within the parcels A-G 
themselves an extensive network of walk and cycle links have been established 
and where there are cul-de-sacs in most instances have at least a footway 
connecting to other neighbouring parcels. 
 

78



61. Given the proposal at Parcels A-G is only the second phase of the wider 
Arborfield Garrison development it is acknowledged that permeability across the 
wider area remains limited at this early stage. However, the applicant and the 
Council are working to ensure links are established early on in the development 
process to help promote sustainable routes across the wider area and that future 
residents can move between parcels and the wider area safely and easily. 

 
Access and Movement – Cycle Storage 

62. Consistent with Core Strategy Policies CP1, Sustainable Development and CP6, 
Managing Travel Demand, which expect development to make provision to 
support sustainable travel, Condition 29 of the outline planning consent requires 
cycle parking and storage in line with the Council’s standards at the time. These 
are set out in MDDLP Appendix 2: the requirement is for provision of at least one 
cycle space for dwellings with three or fewer habitable rooms, two spaces for 
dwellings with four or five habitable rooms and three cycle spaces for larger 
dwellings. 

 
63. Cycle parking is provided on site in designated individual cycle storage for 

dwellings and communal cycle storage for apartments. All dwellings and 
apartments have been provided with sufficient space for cycle storage/parking in 
accordance with the above requirements and as such the proposals are 
considered acceptable on this basis 

 
Access and Movement – Access to Public Transport 

64. In order to ensure good public transport to the site, a public transport strategy 
has been secured by Condition 33 of the outline planning consent. A new bus 
stop will be provided on the Nine Mile Ride Extension and Sheerlands Road 
which together mean that services will be within a 400m walk of all dwellings. 
Concerns have been identified about the phasing of services and the need for 
some buses to operate along Nine Mile Ride between the A327 and Sheerlands 
Road. A condition to update the Public Transport Strategy to ensure services are 
phased accordingly with the development has been added. 

 
Flooding and Drainage 

65. Core Strategy Policy CP1 and MDD DPD Policies CC09 and CC10 establish that 
new development should avoid increasing and where possible reduce flood risk 
and Arborfield Garrison SPD generally requires provision of a comprehensive 
system for water management, which takes account of existing features and 
includes proposals for effective sustainable urban drainage (SUDS), measures to 
avoid flood risk and new ponds. 
 

66. At the outline stage, the applicant undertook a Flood Risk Assessment which 
determined that the residential part of the outline site is not located within areas 
shown to be at risk of flooding, as indicated by Flood zone 1 on the Environment 
Agency’s Flood map. No housing development is located within areas that flood 
and therefore the proposal is considered acceptable in this regard. 
 

67. Drainage was fully assessed at outline stage and the Council and the EA were 
satisfied that the site has sufficient storage capacity and that the provision of 
SUDs, which will incorporate flood attenuation ponds, can be accommodated on-
site and will mitigate the impacts of the development. The benefit of SUD’s over 
the existing field use is that these should improve the current situation by 

79



preventing water from running off the land too quickly. 
 

68. A raft of measures has been provided to alleviate flood risk for the site and to 
accord with the parameters set at the outline stage. These have been assessed 
by the drainage officer and some minor points of clarification have been 
requested. The applicant has submitted these and at the time of preparation of 
this report the documents and plans are under review. However these relate to 
minor tweaks and will not result in any significant flooding or drainage issues 
locally, merely adjustments to the drainage strategy on the site. The outcome of 
the review will be reported in the members update. 

 
Thames basin Heaths Special Protection Area 

69. The Thames Basin Heaths Special Protection Area (SPA) was designated under 
European Directive due to its importance for heathland bird species. Core 
Strategy policy CP8 establishes that new residential development within a 7km 
zone of influence is likely to contribute to a significant impact upon the integrity of 
the SPA. The Arborfield Garrison SDL falls within this zone of influence and, in 
accordance with Core Strategy policy CP17 and Design Principle 1c (vi), 
mitigation in the form of Suitable Alternative Natural Greenspace (SANG) is 
being provided. 
 

70. The development will be mitigated by the provision of the Suitable Alternative 
Natural Greenspace (SANGS) In the north-eastern part of the outline application 
site ("Northern SANGS") and at West Court ("West Court SANGS"). This has 
been designed to provide sufficient space required to compensate for the growth 
in resident numbers associated with this phase of the Arborfield Garrison 
development. Planning permission for the SANGs has been granted under the 
outline consent (Ref: O/2014/2280) and as such this meets the Natural England’s 
'Guidelines for the Creation of Suitable Alternative Natural Greenspace’ (SANG) 
(2008) in terms of having all the essential features required to attract recreational 
users away from the SPA. Natural England and the Biodiversity Officer are 
satisfied with this approach. The SANG will be open prior to first occupation. 
 

Ecology 
71. Core Strategy Policy CP7, carried forward by MDD LP Policy TB23, requires 

appropriate protection of species and habitats of conservation value. Design 
Principle 1b (i-ii) is concerned with protection of ecological habitat and 
biodiversity features, together with mitigation of any impacts that do arise. The 
Biodiversity Officer has assessed the application and is satisfied that there would 
no significant impact on ecology.  

 
Archaeology 

72. Core Strategy Policy CP3 and MDD LP Policy TB25 require the archaeological 
impact of development to be taken into consideration. An Archaeological 
Evaluation report for the proposal was submitted and Berkshire Archaeology are 
satisfied that, given the nature of the features encountered, no further 
archaeological investigation will be required on this parcel. 
 

Affordable and Specialist Housing 
73. Core Strategy Policy CP5 requires a mix of tenures, including up to 50% 

affordable housing. The Infrastructure and Contributions SPD states that 
development within the SDLs should seek 35% affordable housing which echoes 

80



Appendix 7 of the Core Strategy. 
 

74. The application proposes 45 units of affordable housing on site. Under the 
Outline permission the s106 sought a commuted sum for the provision of off-site 
affordable housing in order to secure the 35% affordable housing required for the 
application. The onsite provision is in accordance with this agreement and 
therefore considered acceptable. 

 

 

 

CONCLUSION 

The reserved matters are consistent with the principles and parameters established by 
the outline planning permission, which themselves reflect the Council’s adopted policies 
and guidance for development within the Arborfield Garrison SDL. It is considered that 
the applications will deliver high quality development in accordance with the Council’ 
spatial strategy and vision and therefore can be recommended for approval. 
 

 

CONTACT DETAILS 

Service Telephone Email 

Development 
Management and 
Regulatory Services 

0118 974 6428 / 6429 development.control@wokingham.gov.uk 

 

81

mailto:development.control@wokingham.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



83



T
his page is intentionally left blank



1

Alex Thwaites

From: Debbie Spilsbury on behalf of Development Control
Sent: 28 July 2016 08:55
To: Alex Thwaites
Cc: Planning Enquiries
Subject: FW: Reserved Matters applications161536 & 161747 ~[UNCLASSIFIED]~

 
 
Debbie Spilsbury 
Technical Assistant 
Development and Regeneration 
Development Management 
Wokingham Borough Council 
PO Box 157 
Shute End 
Wokingham 
Berkshire 
RG40 1WR 
 
 
 
 
  
Direct Line: (0118) 974 6436 
Email: debbie.spilsbury@wokingham.gov.uk 
www.wokingham.gov.uk 
 

From: Arborfield & Newland Parish Council [mailto:parishclerk@arborfield.org.uk]  
Sent: 27 July 2016 16:44 
To: Alex Thwaites; Development Control 
Subject: Reserved Matters applications161536 & 161747 
 
Hi Alex, 
  
RM 161536 – Land at Arborfield Garrison, Biggs Lane ‐ A little late I know but the Parish Council have no 
comments regarding this application and felt that it was very presentable. 
  
RM 161747 – Land at Arborfield Garrison, Sheerlands Road – the Parish Council have no comments 
regarding this application. 
  
Kind Regards, 
 
Alison Ward 
Parish Clerk 
Arborfield & Newland Parish Council 
The Parish Office, Arborfield Village Hall 
Eversley Road, Arborfield, Berkshire, RG2 9PQ 
 
0118 976 1489 
www.arborfield.org.uk 
 
The Parish Office is open 10am ‐ 12noon, Monday to Thursday 

85



2

 
This message, its contents and any attachments to it are private and confidential. Any unauthorized 
disclosure; use or dissemination of the whole or any part of this message (without our prior consent in 
writing) is prohibited. If you are not the intended recipient of this message please notify us immediately. 
No contracts or agreements may be concluded on behalf of the Council solely by means of e‐mail. 
 

Click here to report this email as spam. 

86



1

Alex Thwaites

From: Development Control
Sent: 14 July 2016 16:42
To: Alex Thwaites; Planning Enquiries
Subject: FW: 161536 & 161747 ~[UNCLASSIFIED]~

Parish comments 
 
  
Theresa Brown  
Registration Team Manager  
Development Management 
Wokingham Borough Council  
PO Box 157  
Shute End  
Wokingham  
RG40 1WR  
Direct Line: (0118)974 6433  
Fax: (0118) 974 6484  
Email: theresa.brown@wokingham.gov.uk  
www.wokingham.gov.uk 
 

From: BPC Clerk and BVH [mailto:clerk@barkham-parishcouncil.org.uk]  
Sent: 14 July 2016 13:47 
To: Development Control 
Subject: 161536 & 161747 
 
For Alex Thwaites 
  
161536                  Land at Arborfield Garrison, Biggs Lane, Arborfield            
                                Application for Reserved Matters for the erection of 127 dwellings together with access from 
Princess Marino Drive with associated internal access roads, 
                                landscaping, open space, footpaths and sustainable urban drainage (SUDS), relating to parcel T 
land. 
  
Overall BPC are very happy with the design and layout of this parcel of land.  The soft edge of the development is 
most welcome as this will set the houses back from Commonfield Lane and minimise the visual impact on the 
adjoining countryside.  The greenway through the development will link up with bridleway 14 which leads into 
California Country Park. 
   
Although technically outside the application area, the crossing of Commonfield Lane from Parcel T to Bridleway 14 
needs to be addressed by WBC. There is a tight bend just to the south and  sight lines are poor. Therefore a safe 
crossing point has to be facilitated for vulnerable users including cyclists, horses and pedestrians. 
   
A detail point is that there seems to be a large number of houses proposed with rendered frontages. Additional 
details or use of a selection of colours should be added as different renders or colours: this would create more 
variety and interest. 
                                 
161747                  Parcels A‐ G  
                                Land at Arborfield Garrison, Sheerlands Road 
                                Application for reserved Matters for the erection of 223 dwellings together with access from 
Sheerlands Road and NMRE 
  
This parcel of land is north of the Nine Mile Ride Extension up to the A327.  A greenway is proposed to run along the 
southern edge which will be a portion of the greenway which crosses the whole of the SDL.  The crossing of 

87



2

Sheerland Road needs to be safe for vulnerable users including cyclists, horses and pedestrians.  A Pegasus type 
crossing should be provided at this point, even if lights are not included at the outset.  
  
Though outside the application area, provision to extend the greenway from the north west extremity to Baird Road 
should be addressed by WBC.  This will ultimately provide a greenway all the way from Finchampstead to Farley Hill. 
  
The junction of Sheerlands Road and Nine Mile Ride Extension is currently a T junction: sufficient land should be 
retained in order that in future years a roundabout could be constructed to cope with additional traffic which will 
ultimately make this a very busy junction. 
  
Regards 
  
Judith Neuhofer 
  
Clerk to Barkham Parish Council  
  
  
  

 

Click here to report this email as spam. 

88



 

 

 

 
Mr Alex Thwaites 
Senior Planning Officer 
Wokingham Borough Council 
Civic Offices 
Shute End 
Wokingham RG40 1 BN 
 
 
August 4th 2016 
 
 
Dear Alex 
 
Comments on application reference number 161747 parcels A- G, Sheerlands Rd, Arborfield SDL 
 
Members of the planning sub-committee met to review and discuss this application covering Parcels 
A- G.  While broadly in agreement with the proposed scheme the following comments were raised: 

 

1. Consider the imposition of a covenant on householders adjacent to the “Dark corridors”, in 

order to reduce light pollution from the future installation of external lights on properties. 

2. The western site boundary with the A327 is a potential area for noise pollution.  Although 

recognised in the Plan, there are no immediate plans to implement  any form of mitigation 

measures.  This should be reconsidered and implemented at the outset of development. 

3. Provision of high speed broadband to all homes is essential.  There does not appear to be 

any mention of its inclusion and implementation within the Plan.  It must be. 

4. The plan includes the provision of Allotments.  It is unclear which authority will have 

responsibility for the administration and management.  This matter needs urgent resolution 

so that the new authority may be engaged with the initial plans and set up from the outset. 

5. Allotment fencing and gates needs to be deer and rabbit proof. 

6. Where the Greenway meets Sheerlands Road, provision of a pedestrian and/or Pegasus 

crossing should be considered. 

7. What plans are there for the provision of solar panels to properties? 

8. The loop access between the two Nine Mile Ride Extension access roads should be capable 

of providing vehicular access albeit via a shared space implementation, in particular for 

emergency vehicle use. 

 

 

 
Yours sincerely 
 

Gordon Veitch 

 
Gordon Veitch 
Planning Chair. 
 

89



This page is intentionally left blank



91

Agenda Item 59.



This page is intentionally left blank



93



This page is intentionally left blank



95



This page is intentionally left blank



97



This page is intentionally left blank



99



This page is intentionally left blank



101



This page is intentionally left blank



103



This page is intentionally left blank



161522 Mallards, Basingstoke Road, Spencers Wood, RG7 1AD 
Proposal Application to vary condition 11 of planning consent (F/2014/1372 – 31/10/2014 to allow 

changes to opening hours to 6am to 11pm Monday to Sunday, also removal of condition 
13, relating to delivery times.   

Planning Officer Pooja Kumar Comments by 11 July 2016 
Our comment  Shinfield Parish Council opposes an extention of the existing opening hours and the 

permitting of deliveries on Sundays and bank holidays. This site is not comparable to the 
Co-op in Shinfield or the Budgens at Three Mile Cross, as these have their own parking 
and delivery areas off the street. The lack of off-street parking and waiting space for 
delivery vehicles at Mallards means that these vehicles are regularly causing highways 
safety issues, partially blocking the pavement, blocking in driveways and causing a hazard 
for pedestrians (note – this is a walking route to Lambs Lane School).  
The parish council is concerned about extended hours causing additional noise and light 
disturbance for residents.  

--------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 
161570 61 Chestnut Crescent. Shinfield, RG2 9EJ 
Proposal Householder application for the proposed erection of a single storey side extension 

following demolition of existing garage 
Planning Officer Charlie Snell Comments by 12 July 2016 
Our comment  Shinfield Parish Council requests that a condition be included requiring that the 

extension, which has the prospect of being a separate dwelling, be retained as ancillary to 
the main dwelling.  

--------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 
161593 68 Oatlands Road, Shinfield, RG2 9DN 
Proposal Householder application for the proposed first floor side extension to existing dwelling 
Planning Officer Stephen Thwaites Comments by 12 July 2016 
Our comment  No comment  
--------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 
161597 20 Fawn Drive, Three Mile Cross, RG7 1WL 
Proposal Full application for the proposed erection of a conservatory to the rear of the property 
Planning Officer Brett Beswetherick Comments by 15 July 2016 
Our comment  No comment  
--------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 
161631 Pulleyn Transport, Church Lane, Three Mile Cross, RG7 1HB 
Proposal Full planning application for the demolition of existing office building and erection of a 

cold store warehouse (B8 use class), with ancillary drivers rest accommodation with 
associated parking and landscaping, the closing of the existing access with formation of a 
new means of access. 

Planning Officer Graham Vaughan Comments by 18 July 2016 
Our comment  No comment  
--------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 
161638 3 Grenadier Close, Shinfield, RG2 9EZ 
Proposal Householder application for the proposed erection of a single storey rear extension to 

dwelling with 2no glazed lanterns 
Planning Officer Nuno Fernandes Comments by 12 July 2016 
Our comment  No comment  
--------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 
161700 22 Seymour Avenue, Shinfield, RG2 9DT 
Proposal Householder application for proposed erection of two storey side extension to dwelling 
Planning Officer David Maguire Comments by 18 July 2016 
Our comment  No comment  
--------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 

161749 62 Ryhill Way, Earley, RG6 4AZ *Adjoining parish consultation* 
Proposal Householder application for the proposed erection of a replacement rear conservatory to 

dwelling. 
Planning Officer Stephen Thwaites Comments by 26 July 2016 
Comment No comment    
--------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 
 

105



This page is intentionally left blank



ITEM NO: 60 
 
Development 
Management 
Ref No  

No weeks 
on day of 
committee 

Parish Ward Listed by: 

161328 9/8 Ruscombe Remenham, 
Wargrave and 
Ruscombe 

Scheme of 
Delegation 

 
Applicant Wokingham Housing Limited 
Location Land adjacent to 9 Middlefields, Ruscombe Postcode  RG10 9DG 
Proposal Full application for the proposed erection of 2no two bedroom semi-

detached dwellings with associated parking 
Type Full 
PS Category 13 
Officer Graham Vaughan 
 
FOR CONSIDERATION BY Planning Committee on 12th October 2016 
REPORT PREPARED BY Head of Development Management and Regulatory 

Services 
 

SUMMARY 

The application site is within a modest development location in Ruscombe. The site was 
formerly used for the garaging of vehicles and whilst the garages have been removed, 
the area is still used as an informal parking area and therefore consists primarily of hard 
standing. The surrounding area is residential but there are some local shopping facilities 
within walking distance from the site.  
 
The application is for full permission for the redevelopment of the site to erect a two 
storey building comprising of two x two bed units. The building picks up on the design 
elements of existing properties in the street with a two storey form, gable end roof and 
similar materials. Parking would be provided to the front of the building and amenity 
space to the rear. 
 
The proposal would utilise brownfield land and provide two units toward the housing 
stock. No harmful impact would occur on residential amenity due to the orientation of 
the building. Although the site would not be used for informal parking, a parking survey 
has demonstrated there is sufficient capacity on the local highway network to 
accommodate further on street parking and therefore no objection is raised in highway 
terms. As such, it is considered all other aspects would be satisfactorily mitigated 
through the use of conditions and therefore, the scheme is compliant with the 
development plan and is recommended for conditional approval. 
 
The application is before Planning Committee as it is submitted by Wokingham Housing 
Limited on behalf of the Council. 

 

PLANNING STATUS 

 Modest development location 

 Groundwater zone 2 and 3 

 Wind turbine safeguarding zone 

 Sand and gravel extraction  

 Contaminated land consultation zone 

107

Agenda Item 60.



 

RECOMMENDATION 

That the committee authorise the GRANT OF PLANNING PERMISSION subject to 
the following:  
 

A. Conditions and informatives: 
 
Conditions: 
 

1. The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the expiration of three 
years from the date of this permission. 
Reason: In pursuance of s.91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as 
amended by s.51 of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004). 

 
2. This permission is in respect of the submitted application plans and drawings 

numbered ‘2158 06A’ and ‘2158 07A’ received by the local planning authority on 
12th August 2016. The development shall be carried out in accordance with the 
approved details unless otherwise agreed in writing by the local planning 
authority. 
Reason: For the avoidance of doubt and to ensure that the development is 
carried out in accordance with the application form and associated details hereby 
approved. 

 
3. Before the development hereby permitted is commenced, samples and details of 

the materials to be used in the construction of the external surfaces of the 
building/s shall have first been submitted to and approved in writing by the local 
planning authority.  Development shall not be carried out other than in 
accordance with the so-approved details. 
 Reason: To ensure that the external appearance of the building is satisfactory. 
Relevant policy: Core Strategy policies CP1 and CP3 

 
4. Prior to the commencement of the development  there shall be submitted to and 

approved in writing by the local planning authority a scheme of landscaping, 
which shall specify species, planting sizes, spacing and numbers of trees/shrubs 
to be planted, and any existing trees or shrubs to be retained.  
Planting shall be carried out in accordance with the approved details in the first 
planting and seeding seasons following the occupation of the building(s).   
Any trees or plants which, within a period of 5 years from the date of the planting 
(or within a period of 5 years of the occupation of the buildings in the case of 
retained trees and shrubs) die, are removed or become seriously damaged or 
diseased shall be replaced in the next planting season with others of similar size 
and species or otherwise as approved in writing by the local planning 
authority.Reason: To ensure adequate planting in the interests of visual amenity. 
Relevant policy: Core Strategy policy CP3 and Managing Development Delivery 
Local Plan policies CC03 and TB21  (and TB06 for garden development) 

 
5. No development shall take place until a measured survey of the site and a plan 

prepared to scale of not less than 1:500 showing details of existing and proposed 
finished ground levels in relation to a fixed datum point) and finished floor levels 
shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority and 
the approved scheme shall be fully implemented prior to the occupation of the 
building 

108



Reason: In order to ensure a satisfactory form of development relative to 
surrounding buildings and landscape.  Relevant policies: NPPF, Core Strategy 
policies CP1 and CP3 

 
6. No development shall take place, including any works of demolition, until a 

Construction Method Statement has been submitted to, and approved in writing 
by, the local planning authority. The approved Statement shall be adhered to 
throughout the construction period. The Statement shall provide for: 
i)     the parking of vehicles of site operatives and visitors, 
ii)    loading and unloading of plant and materials, 
iii)   storage of plant and materials used in constructing the development, 
iv)   the erection and maintenance of security hoarding including decorative 
displays and facilities for public viewing, where appropriate, 
v)    wheel washing facilities, 
vi)   measures to control the emission of dust and dirt during construction, 
vii) a scheme for recycling/disposing of waste resulting from demolition and 
construction works. 
Reason: In the interests of highway safety & convenience and neighbour 
amenities. Relevant policy:  Core Strategy policies CP3 & CP6. 
 

7. Prior to the commencement of the development hereby permitted details of 
secure and covered bicycle storage/ parking facilities for the occupants of the 
development shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning 
authority. The cycle storage/ parking shall be implemented in accordance with 
such details as may be approved before occupation of the development hereby 
permitted, and shall be permanently retained in the approved form for the parking 
of bicycles and used for no other purpose. 
Reason: In order to ensure that secure weather-proof bicycle parking facilities 
are provided so as to encourage the use of sustainable modes of travel. Relevant 
policy: NPPF Section 4 (Sustainable Transport) and Core Strategy policies CP1, 
CP3 & CP6 and Managing Development Delivery Local Plan policy CC07. 
 

8. No part of the building hereby permitted shall be occupied or used until the 
vehicle parking spaces have been provided in accordance with the approved 
plans.  The vehicle parking spaces shall be permanently retained and remain 
available for the parking of vehicles at all times 
Reason: To ensure adequate on-site parking provision in the interests of highway 
safety, convenience and amenity.   Relevant policy: Core Strategy policies CP3 
and CP6 and MDD Local Plan policy CC07 

 
9. No building shall be occupied until the vehicular access has been surfaced with a 

permeable and bonded material across the entire width of the access for a 
distance of 4.8 metres measured from the carriageway edge. 
Reason: To avoid spillage of loose material onto the highway, in the interests of 
road safety. Relevant policy:  Core Strategy policy CP6. 

 
10. No part of the building hereby permitted shall be occupied or used until the bin 

storage has been provided in accordance with details to be submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The bin storage spaces shall 
be permanently retained and remain available for the storage of bins at all times 
Reason: In order to ensure that secure bin storage facilities are provided in the 
interests of residential and visual amenity.  Relevant policy: NPPF; Core Strategy 

109



policies CP1, CP3. 
 

11. The existing vehicular access(es) to the site shall be stopped up and abandoned, 
and the footway and/or verge crossings shall be re-instated within one month of 
the completion of the new access(es) in accordance with details to be submitted 
to and approved in writing by the local planning authority. 
Reason: In the interests of highway safety and convenience. Relevant policy:  
Core Strategy policies CP3 & CP6. 
 

12. In the event that contamination is found at any time when carrying out the 
approved development it must be reported in writing immediately to the Local 
Planning Authority. Any subsequent investigation/remedial/protective works 
deemed necessary by the LPA shall be carried out to agreed timescales and 
approved by the LPA in writing. If no contamination is encountered during the 
development, a letter confirming this fact shall be submitted to the LPA upon 
completion of the development. 
Reason: To ensure any contamination on the site is remedied to protect the 
existing/proposed occupants of the application site and adjacent land. Relevant 
policy: NPPF, Core Strategy policy CP3 
 

13. No additional windows or similar openings shall be constructed in the first floor 
level or above in the north west or south east elevations of the building hereby 
permitted except for any which may be shown on the approved drawings. 
Reason: To safeguard the residential amenities of neighbouring properties. 
Relevant policy: Core Strategy policy CP3 

 
14. The windows of the development hereby permitted shown on the approved 

drawings to be fitted with obscured glass shall be permanently so-retained. The 
window shall be non-opening unless the parts of the window which can be 
opened are more than 1.7 metres above the finished floor level of the room in 
which the window is installed and shall be permanently so-retained.  
Reason: To safeguard the residential amenities of neighbouring properties. 
Relevant policy: Core Strategy policy CP3 

 
15. No works related to the development hereby approved, including works of 

demolition or preparation prior to building operations, shall take place other than 
between the hours of 8.00am and 6.00pm Monday to Friday and 8.00am to 
13.00pm on Saturdays and at no time on Sundays or Bank or National Holidays 
unless otherwise agreed in writing with the Local Planning Authority 
Reason: To safeguard amenity of neighbouring properties.  Relevant policies: 
NPPF, Core Strategy Policies CP1 and CP3 

 
Informatives: 
 

1. The development hereby permitted is liable to pay the Community Infrastructure 
Levy.  As an affordable housing development a claim for relief can be made. This 
is a matter for the developer.  The Liability Notice issued by Wokingham Borough 
Council will state the current chargeable amount. Anyone can formally assume 
liability to pay, but if no one does so then liability will rest with the landowner. 
There are certain legal requirements that must be complied with. For instance, 
whoever will pay the levy must submit an Assumption of Liability form and a 
Commencement Notice to Wokingham Borough Council prior to commencement 

110



of development. For more information see - 
http://www.wokingham.gov.uk/planning/developers/cil/cil-processes/. 
 

2. Thames Water will aim to provide customers with a minimum pressure of 10m 
head (approx. 1 bar) and a flow rate of 9 litres/minute at the point where it leaves 
Thames Waters pipes.  The developer should take account of this minimum 
pressure in the design of the proposed development. 
 

3. Any works/ events carried out by or on behalf of the developer affecting either a 
public highway or a prospectively maintainable highway (as defined under s.87 
New Roads and Street Works Act 1991 (NRSWA)), shall be co-ordinated and 
licensed as required under NRSWA and the Traffic Management Act 2004 in 
order to minimise disruption to both pedestrian and vehicular users of the 
highway. 
 
Any such works or events, and particularly those involving the connection of any 
utility to the site must be co-ordinated by the developer in liaison with the 
Borough's Street Works team (0118 974 6302). This must take place AT LEAST 
three months in advance of the intended works to ensure effective co-ordination 
with other works so as to minimise disruption. 
 

4. The Head of Technical Services at the Council Offices, Shute End, Wokingham  
[0118 9746000] should be contacted for the approval of the access construction 
details before any work is carried out within the highway (including verges and 
footways).  This planning permission does NOT authorise the construction of 
such an access or works.  

 

PLANNING HISTORY 

 F/2014/1808 - Proposed erection of 2no 3 bedroom semi-detached dwellings 
with associated parking withdrawn on 30th October 2014 

 F/2015/0100 - Proposed erection of 2 x 2 bedroom semi-detached dwellings with 
associated parking withdrawn on 19th June 2015 

 

SUMMARY INFORMATION 

Site Area 0.03 hectares  
Existing units 0 

Proposed units 2 
Existing parking spaces Approximately 12 (Former garages have been removed) 
Proposed parking spaces 4 (2 per dwelling) 

 

CONSULTATION RESPONSES 

Thames Water No objection subject to informative (1) 
WBC Highways No objection subject to conditions (6 - 11) 
WBC Biodiversity No comments received 
WBC Tree and Landscape No objection subject to condition (4) 
WBC Environmental Health No objection subject to condition (12) 
WBC Waste Services No comments received 

 

REPRESENTATIONS 

Ruscombe Parish Council: No comments received 
 

Local Members: No comments received 

111

http://www.wokingham.gov.uk/planning/developers/cil/cil-processes/


 
Neighbours: Six letters of objection received with regards to the following: 

 Loss of parking in an already congested area 

 Loss of privacy and light 

 More on street parking would make it difficult for emergency vehicles to pass 

 Increased noise from houses 

 

APPLICANTS POINTS 

 Development provides affordable housing 

 Uses brownfield land  

 

PLANNING POLICY 

National Policy NPPF National Planning Policy Framework 

Adopted Core Strategy DPD 2010 CP1 Sustainable Development 

 CP3 General Principles for Development 

 CP4 Infrastructure Requirements 

 CP5 Housing mix, density and affordability 

 CP6  Managing Travel Demand 

 CP7 Biodiversity 

 CP9  Scale and Location of Development 
Proposals 

Adopted Managing Development 
Delivery Local Plan 2014 

CC01 Presumption in Favour of Sustainable 
Development 

 CC02 Development Limits 

 CC03 Green Infrastructure, Trees and 
Landscaping 

 CC04 Sustainable Design and Construction  

 CC10 Sustainable Drainage 

 TB05 Housing Mix 

 TB07  Internal Space standards 

 TB21 Landscape Character 

Supplementary Planning Documents      
(SPD) 

BDG Borough Design Guide – Section 4 

  DCLG – National Internal Space 
Standards 

 

PLANNING ISSUES 

 
Description of Development: 
 

1. The scheme is for erection of a pair of semi-detached property comprising of two 
x two bedroom dwellings. Each property would be 6.4 metres in width, 7.5 metres 
in length and would have a gable roof with a ridge height of 7.7 metres and an 
eaves height of 5.0 metres. Windows would be provided on all elevations 
however the side elevations would contain smaller windows to serve the stairs 
and hallways only.  

112



 
2. Internally, the properties would mirror each other with the main door providing 

access to a toilet, storage and stairs and then an open plan living/kitchen/dining 
area on the ground floor. On the first floor, two bedrooms as well a bathroom 
would be provided. There would be ground floor access to the rear amenity 
space and two parking spaces per dwelling would be provided to the front 
interspersed with some soft landscaping. 
 

3. Two previous applications for similar type of development were withdrawn due to 
concerns regarding design and lack of information in terms of the impact on 
parking.  
 

Principle of Development: 
 

4. The National Planning Policy Framework has an underlying presumption in 
favour of sustainable development which is carried through to the local 
Development Plan. The Managing Development Delivery Local Plan Policy CC01 
states that planning applications that accord with the policies in the Development 
Plan for Wokingham Borough will be approved without delay, unless material 
considerations indicate otherwise. 
 

5. The site is located within a modest development location and within a settlement 
boundary and as such the development should be acceptable providing that it 
complies with the principles stated in the Core Strategy. Policy CP3 of the Core 
Strategy states that development must be appropriate in terms of its scale of 
activity, mass, layout, built form, height, materials and character to the area in 
which it is located and must be of high quality design without detriment to the 
amenities of adjoining land uses and occupiers. 
 

Character of the Area: 
 

6. The character of the area is defined by semi-detached or terraced properties set 
forward in long, narrow plots with a slightly staggered building line. Each dwelling 
is two storeys with a dual pitched roof and gable ends. The properties have an 
area of amenity space to the front of the property and a driveway leading to a 
detached single storey garages set marginally behind the front elevation of the 
dwellings.  At the end of the road, two areas of garages are located as well as 
parking and access for bungalows. The detailing on the properties includes 
canopy porches in the centre of the dwelling (although it is acknowledged some 
of these porches have been ‘filled in’), brick walls with hung tile cladding at first 
floor at the front and similar sized windows with two at first floor and one at 
ground floor. It is noted that the adjacent street Pennfields (which is also adjacent 
to the application site) contains properties with similar detailing albeit in a 
terraced format. The site itself was formerly used for the garaging of vehicles and 
whilst the garages have been removed, the area is still used as an informal 
parking area. Currently just the parking spaces remain however it is noted there 
is a stepped level difference with the land rising to the north west. 
 

7. The proposal is for the erection of a pair of semi-detached properties set back 
from the road by car parking spaces and some landscaping. In this sense, the 
scheme could be considered to physically integrate into the general character of 
the area. Properties on Middlefields are set on a staggered building line of which 

113



the proposal would reflect but would be set at an angle and further forward of 9 
and 10 Middlefields. Due to the staggered building line, it is acknowledged that 
there is an expectation in the street to see the gable ends of the properties. In 
this respect, the orientation of the dwelling is not considered to be overly harmful 
to the street scene. Whilst there is a level difference between the site and the 
street, the ridge height of the proposal would be approximately a metre higher 
than neighbouring properties which is not considered to be harmful.   
 

8. The properties would be set forward in their plot and, whilst the gardens would 
not be as long as other gardens in the area (ranging from 11 to 18 metres 
approximately), the gardens would be of a suitable depth to reflect the character 
of the area and spaces around buildings. The area to the front of the properties 
would differ from the character of the area in that existing dwellings have a 
garden in front of them and parking to the side. However, complete replication is 
not always necessary with infill schemes and indeed given the size of the site 
and the fact both parking and landscaping would be proposed, the scheme is not 
considered to have a harmful impact in this respect.  
 

9. In terms of the visual integration into the street scene, the proposal would have a 
dual pitched roof with gable ends, a similar ridge and eaves height and would 
replicate the fenestration detailing that can be seen in the street scene. As a 
result, it is considered the proposal would have an acceptable impact on the 
character of the area. 
 

Residential Amenities: 
 

10. Due to the separation distance to neighbouring properties (16.6 metres to 
Pennfields and 11 metres to 9 Middlefields), it is considered no harmful loss of 
light or overbearing impact on the properties would occur as a result of the 
proposal. There would be some loss of light to the rear of the rear gardens of the 
terraces on Pennfields however this is not considered to be detrimentally harmful 
to the extent the application should be refused on this basis. 
 

11. The proposal would accord with the advice in the Borough Design Guide 
regarding separation distances and the configuration of the rooms has resulted in 
the windows for non-habitable rooms being located on the side elevations. As 
such, no harmful overlooking impact would occur subject to conditions 13 and 14.  
 

Access and Movement: 
 

12. The site previously had garages on it but these have since been removed with 
the resultant space still used for parking. The proposal would result in the loss of 
this parking which is used by local residents and as a result, a parking survey 
has been submitted. The survey was undertaken using the ‘Lambeth 
methodology’ which is a recognised method for such surveys. It was undertaken 
at 4 am mid-week and noted the location of cars and where there was provision 
on the highway network for any further parking (taking into account location of 
driveways). The survey concludes that of the 79 spaces available in the area 
there are 36 available equating to 46%. Even taking into account the parking that 
occurs on the grass verge around Pennfields, it is considered the survey 
demonstrates that there is sufficient capacity within the immediate highway 
network to accommodate the parking that currently occurs on the site.  

114



 
13. The Highways Officer has considered the survey and raises no objection to the 

methodology or the results. As such, there is no highways objection to the loss of 
the parking currently occurring on the site. In terms of the proposal itself, two 
spaces for each dwelling would be provided and this meets the parking 
standards. The spaces would be of a sufficient size and accessed directly from 
the highway and this is considered acceptable.  

 
Flooding and Drainage: 
 

14.  The site is located in Flood Zone 1 (low probability of flooding) and is not 
considered to be at a significant risk from flooding. Additionally, the site is 
covered in hard standing and the introduction of soft landscaping would improve 
permeability across the site. As such, no harmful impact is considered to occur.  
 

Landscape and Trees: 
 

15. The area is residential in character and although trees are present in the street 
scene they are not a defining characteristic. The site comprises primarily of hard 
standing and therefore provides little amenity value. As a result, the 
establishment of a garden to the rear and some landscaping to the front would 
have a positive impact. Furthermore, although a tree at the edge of the site would 
be removed, it could be replaced as part of the landscaping to the front. As such, 
it is considered subject to details required by condition (4), no harmful impact 
would occur.  

  
Environmental Health: 
 

16. No known contamination issues exist on or in close proximity to the site however 
the site is used for the parking of vehicles and this could potentially lead to some 
contamination from oil spills.  As such, and due to the residential use of the 
proposal, the Environmental Health Officer requires a condition for further work in 
the event contamination is discovered (12).   
 

Amenity Space for future occupiers: 
 

17. The Borough Design Guide states that new dwellings should have a minimum of 
11 metres useable garden space. The proposal would provide gardens with a 
depth of 10.0 metres. Whilst this does not meet the 11 metre guideline, the 
gardens would be 8.0 metres in width resulting in a roughly rectangular space 
that would receive daylight and could be used for typical garden activities. As a 
result, the proposed gardens meet the requirements of the Borough Design 
Guide in all other respects and therefore, on balance, the proposal is acceptable. 
 

18. It is also noted that if the garden depth were to be increased, it is likely another 
aspect of the scheme would be compromised e.g. parking provision or internal 
space standards. Given that the impact of this minor shortfall is relatively low, it is 
considered acceptable in this instance, on balance.  

 
 
 
 

115



Internal Space Standards: 
 

19. Internal space standards are set nationally. For dwellings of this type, the 
minimum requirement is 79m2. The proposal meets the requirement for this being 
84m2 for both dwellings. Therefore no harmful impact would occur.  
  

Ecology: 
 

20. As no buildings would need to be demolished and the site is used for the parking 
of vehicles, no harmful impact on biodiversity is considered to occur.  
 

Sustainable Design/Construction: 
 

21. Due to the replacement of the Code for Sustainable Homes with national 
standards in building regulations, the proposal is not required to meet Code 4 in 
line with Policy CC04 of the MDD. However, the policy does require that all 
development should incorporate suitable waste management facilities including 
on-site recycling. It is considered that sufficient internal and external storage 
could be provided to accommodate this. 
 

Community Infrastructure Levy, Affordable Housing and Special Protection Area 
(SPA): 
 

22. Community Infrastructure Levy: As the proposal is for new residential floor 
space, it would be a CIL liable development. CIL is charged at a rate of £365 per 
square metre.  

 
23. Affordable Housing: The proposal does not exceed the threshold required for 

the provision of affordable housing as per Policy CP5 of the Core Strategy. 
However, it is acknowledged that the applicant intends to provide both dwellings 
as affordable units.  
 

24. SPA: The site is not within 5km of the Thames Basin Heaths Special Protection 
Area and therefore there is no requirement to mitigate against any impact on this.  

 

CONCLUSION 

The application is considered to be acceptable in terms of the impact on the character 
of the area, neighbouring properties and future occupiers. The parking that would be 
lost as part of the proposal would be successfully accommodated within the existing 
highway network and therefore is considered acceptable. Given the current use of the 
site, the proposal is considered to have a positive impact on the area and would be 
beneficial in terms of affordable housing provision. As such, the proposal is 
recommended for conditional approval. 

 

CONTACT DETAILS 

Service Telephone Email 

Development 
Management and 
Regulatory Services 

0118 974 6428 / 6429 development.control@wokingham.gov.uk 

 

116



117



This page is intentionally left blank



119



This page is intentionally left blank



121

Agenda Item 61.



This page is intentionally left blank



123



This page is intentionally left blank



125



This page is intentionally left blank



From: Penny Stoodley on behalf of Development Control
To: Graham Vaughan; Planning Enquiries
Subject: FW: 161452 ~[UNCLASSIFIED]~
Date: 15 June 2016 11:23:35

 

From: BPC Clerk and BVH [mailto:clerk@barkham-parishcouncil.org.uk] 
Sent: 15 June 2016 09:58
To: Development Control
Cc: John Kaiser(private)
Subject: 161452
 
For Graham Vaughan
 
161452
Outline application for the erection of 3 no 4 bedroom detached dwellings and 1 no 2
 bedroom bungalow with additional parking for 1 – 3 Coppid Hill (appearance, landscaping
 layout and scale to be considered)
Land to the rear of and side of 1 -  3 Coppid Hill, Barkham Road.
 
The Parish Council are opposed to this application in its current form.  We are not against
 development on this site in principle but dislike the outline application submitted.
 
The site lies within the settlement boundary but the current design is not in keeping with the
 original cottages or the Village Design Statement for Barkham.  The site lies in an important part
 of the village on the brow of the hill and therefore it is important that the designs blend in with
 the surrounding area.  The houses appear to be very crammed in and the style which is a very
 square and box like design lacks imagination. Finally, the two proposed entrances are not ideal,
 BPC would prefer to see one entrance on to the site from Barkham Road, this would then
 preserve the existing well established hedge.
 
The Parish Council  have requested that this application is Listed for consideration at the
 Development Control Meeting should you be minded to approve it.
 
Regards
 
Judith Neuhofer
 
Clerk to Barkham Parish Council
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Click here to report this email as spam.

127

mailto:/O=EXCHANGELABS/OU=EXCHANGE ADMINISTRATIVE GROUP (FYDIBOHF23SPDLT)/CN=RECIPIENTS/CN=2A3A37240F6A4DCB82FB5671109A0E44-PENNY STOOD
mailto:/O=EXCHANGELABS/OU=EXCHANGE ADMINISTRATIVE GROUP (FYDIBOHF23SPDLT)/CN=RECIPIENTS/CN=E71A3F4652D54AA7BD1C1910D361D41C-DEVELOPMENT
mailto:Graham.Vaughan@wokingham.gov.uk
mailto:planning.enquiries@wokingham.gov.uk
https://www.mailcontrol.com/sr/yGNT!r71QsDGX2PQPOmvUlH6w!zi4BaJiLSjU9Bss8eyQ0N1oJPI2Y97lKc1iNFg7GvV8ykX5+hjDxGYc2QXWA==


This page is intentionally left blank



1

Graham Vaughan

From: BPC Clerk and BVH <clerk@barkham-parishcouncil.org.uk>
Sent: 14 September 2016 06:48
To: Graham Vaughan
Cc: John Kaiser(private)
Subject: RE: Barkham and bearwood ~[UNCLASSIFIED]~

Dear Graham, 
  
The concerns of BPC relate to the exit on to Bearwood Road, this would be directly opposite the exit from the 
properties opposite  (4 houses are exiting onto Bearwood Road) and is extremely close to the junction with Barkham 
Road.  An exit off Barkham Road would be preferable.  This application shows the layout of the site only, this is not 
visible on the WBC web site and it is felt that it is extremely difficult to make a decision with only half of the 
information.  The new houses need to be compatible with the existing cottages and the Barkham VDS.  Therefore it 
is still our intention to request that this application is listed. 
  
Regards 
  
Judith Neuhofer 
  
Clerk to Barkham Parish Council  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  

From: Graham Vaughan [mailto:Graham.Vaughan@wokingham.gov.uk]  
Sent: 25 August 2016 20:45 
To: 'BPC Clerk and BVH' <clerk@barkham‐parishcouncil.org.uk> 
Cc: John Kaiser(private) <jk2gk@aol.com> 
Subject: RE: Barkham and bearwood ~[UNCLASSIFIED]~ 
  
Dear Judith, 
  
Guess it can’t be done any other way. Please let me know as soon as you can after the meeting as I’ll need to factor 
in committee deadlines if that is the outcome of the meeting. 
  
Kind regards,  
  
Graham Vaughan 
Senior Planning Officer (Development Management and Regulatory Services) 
Tel: 0118 974 6694  
Wokingham Borough Council, Civic Offices, Shute End, Wokingham, RG40 1WR 
  
Please note, this email is an opinion of an officer of this council which is of an advisory nature only, and is given without prejudice to any formal 
decision taken in respect of development under the Town and Country Planning Act.  
  

From: BPC Clerk and BVH [mailto:clerk@barkham-parishcouncil.org.uk]  
Sent: 25 August 2016 07:06 
To: Graham Vaughan 

129



2

Cc: John Kaiser(private) 
Subject: RE: Barkham and bearwood  
  
Dear Graham, 
  
We originally expressed concern that as this a focal point of the village, on the brow of a hill we wanted to be 
assured that the appearance would be in keeping with the VDS.  As far as we can see nothing has changed.  This will 
be discussed on 13/9 at our meeting.  So until then no formal response can be made. 
  
I trust this will be acceptable. 
  
Regards 
  
Judith Neuhofer 
  
Clerk to Barkham Parish Council  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  

From: Graham Vaughan [mailto:Graham.Vaughan@wokingham.gov.uk]  
Sent: 24 August 2016 16:02 
To: John Kaiser <John.Kaiser@wokingham.gov.uk> 
Cc: clerk@barkham‐parishcouncil.org.uk 
Subject: FW: Barkham and bearwood ~[UNCLASSIFIED]~ 
  
Dear Councillor Kaiser, 
  
I emailed some time ago about planning application 161452 at Coppid Hill on Barkham Road; unfortunately it has 
taken a bit of time to get appropriate plans. You have listed the application but I said I was hoping to get some 
changes in order to improve the scheme and hopefully remove the listing request. The main points to note are:  
  

‐          The parking to the north has been reduced in size and a greater amount of landscaping has been provided 
to help with the green route designation. 

‐          The amount of hard standing to the south has been reduced and again a larger amount of landscaping 
could be provided. 

‐          Houses 2 and 3 have been pulled together which has resulted in a larger gap between them and the 
bungalow and with house 1. It has also meant house 1 has been pulled away from the boundary of the site. 
This now means the gaps between the dwellings exceed the borough design guide recommendations and 
are more appropriate given the character of the area. 

‐          For clarity, garden depths are met or exceeded and highways have not raised any objection to the new 
accesses. 

  
As a result, and given that the application is for outline permission, I am satisfied with the impact on the character of 
the area. Please could you advise if this overcomes yours and the parish council’s (cc’d) concerns or would you still 
wish for it to be determined by the planning committee? 
  
Kind regards,  
  
Graham Vaughan 
Senior Planning Officer (Development Management and Regulatory Services) 

130



ITEM NO: 62 
 
Development 
Management 
Ref No  
162396 

No weeks on 
day of 
committee 
8/9  weeks 

Parish 
Wokingham 
Without Parish 

Ward 
Wokingham 
Without 

Listed by:  
Applicant is 
member of 
WBC senior 
management 

     
 
Applicant: Mr and Mrs S and J Rowbotham  
Location: 2 Holme Green, Easthampstead Road, Wokingham       Postcode  RG40 3AG   
Proposal: Application to remove condition 6 of planning consent F/2009/0075 for the 
proposed erection of single storey rear extension, first floor side dormer extension and 
creation of porch on front elevation. Condition 6 restricts permitted development rights 
relating to enlargements or alterations, alterations to the roof, construction of porches and 
construction of enclosures or outbuildings. 

 

Type: Section 73, variation of conditions.  
PS Category: 21  
Officer: Stefan Fludger  
 
FOR CONSIDERATION BY Planning Committee on 12th October 2016 
REPORT PREPARED BY Head of Development Management and Regulatory 

Services 
 

SUMMARY 

 
The application site is a two storey dwelling located on Easthampstead Road. The 
dwelling is semi-detached with No. 1 adjoining. The application site is within the 
settlement boundary. Holme Green is a collection of houses of a similar style, which are 
semi-detached and arranged in a formal fashion along Easthampstead Road. 
 
This application under section 73 of the Town and Country Planning Act proposes the 
removal of condition number 6 of previously approved planning application 
F/2009/0075. This condition restricts development rights for this property for classes A, 
B, C, D and E, the reason for which is to safeguard the character of the area, with 
specific reference to the property being in the countryside. This condition is applicable 
because application F/2009/0075 has been part-implemented, with the approved single 
storey rear extension having been constructed. The proposed side dormer and porch 
have not been constructed.  
 
The report concludes that a change in the material planning situation of this property (it 
is no longer in the countryside) means that it no longer passes the six tests which justify 
the inclusion of conditions and therefore it is no longer required. The application is 
before the committee as the owner of the property is a member of the corporate 
leadership team at Wokingham Borough Council. 

 

PLANNING STATUS 

 

 Major Development Location: Wokingham 

 Strategic Development Location: South Wokingham 

 Thames basin Heath Special Protection Area 5 & 7km mitigation zone 

 South East Water Supply Area 

131

Agenda Item 62.



 Farnborough Aerodrome consultation Zone. 

 Heathrow Aerodrome safeguarding for wind turbine developments 

 Green route enhancement area 
 

 
 
 
 

RECOMMENDATION 

 
That this application is approved, subject to the amendment of the decision  notice as 
follows: 
 
Condition 6 will be removed. 
 
All other conditions with the exception of condition 1. (the development hereby 
permitted shall be begun before the expiration of three years from the date of this 
permission) of planning permission F/2009/0075 apply to this planning permission: 
 

1. The materials to be used in the construction of the external surfaces of the 
extension hereby permitted shall match those used in the existing building, 
unless otherwise agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  
Reason: To ensure that the external appearance of the building is satisfactory. 
Relevant policy: Wokingham District Local Plan Policy WOS3. 
 

2. This permission is in respect of plan nos. 2667/01 received by the Local Planning 
Authority on 20/01/09 and 2667/02 REV D received by the Local Planning 
Authority on 26/02/09. The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in 
accordance with the approved details unless otherwise agreed in writing by the 
Local Planning Authority. 
Reason: To ensure that the development is carried out in accordance with the 
approved details. 

 
3. The bathroom window in the side elevation of the development hereby permitted 

shall not at any time be glazed other than with obscured glass. It shall be fixed 
shut, with the exception of a top hung openable fanlight and be permanently so 
retained thereafter.  
Reason: To safeguard the residential amenities of the occupiers of neighbouring 
properties. Relevant policies: Wokingham District Local Plan Policy WOS3 and 
Supplementary Planning Guideline B2. 

 
4. Notwithstanding the provisions of the Town and Country Planning (General 

Permitted Development) Order 2015 (or any Order revoking and re-enacting that 
Order with or without modification) no additional windows or similar openings 
shall be constructed in the first floor level or above in the side elevation(s) of the 
extension hereby permitted except for any which may be shown on the approved 
drawing(s). 
Reason: To safeguard the residential amenities of the occupiers of neighbouring 
properties. Relevant policies: Wokingham District Local Plan Policy WOS3 and 
Supplementary Planning Guideline B2. 

 
 

132



PLANNING HISTORY 

 
Application 14140 for the demolition of the existing garage and erection of a new garage 
was approved on 23/10/1980. 
 
Application F/2008/1314 for a single storey rear extension, first floor side dormer 
extension, and creation of porch roof on front elevation to number 2 Holme Green was 
refused on 13/08/2008. This was on the based on the negative impact on the character 
of the area of the side extension in combination with the incoherent design of the front 
porch extension.  
 
Application F/2009/0075 for a single storey rear extension, first floor side dormer 
extension and creation of porch on front elevation was approved on 11/03/2009 after 
the simplification of the porch roof and amendments to the rest of the application, 
subject to conditions. 
 
Certificate of lawfulness application 161756 for the proposed erection of a dormer 
extension to the side roof slope to the dwelling was withdrawn on 22/08/2016 
 
Application 161764 for the proposed erection of a single storey front extension to 
dwelling to form entrance porch and installation of roof light into front roof slope was 
approved by the Planning Committee on 17/08/2016. 
 

 
 

CONSULTATION RESPONSES 

 
Parish/Town Council: “This is a countryside area meaning that extensions should not 
result in a disproportionate increase over the scale of the original dwelling.  This form of 
condition is regularly used by the Council when extensions are permitted in countryside 
locations as a method of controlling future development.  An applicant is always at 
liberty to make a planning application for extensions which can then be determined 
against policy. Such proposals can then be tested against Policy CP11 and the NPPF.   
It is noted from the application form that pre-application discussions have taken place, 
although no details are given.  There is reference in the application to a letter of 
justification which does not appear to be on the public web site.  This is not helpful since 
it might clarify the position and assist neighbours to make an informed judgement 
whether or not to respond.  In the absence of this information it would appear therefore 
that the applicant is using this application as a vehicle to restore full permitted 
development rights.  
 
In the absence of specific proposals to demonstrate that there will not be an adverse 
impact on neighbours or the character of the area in terms of resulting in a 
disproportionate increase in scale were these conditions to be removed, it is 
recommended that the application be REFUSED.  In addition, to lift such conditions may 
well result in further such applications on other sites and also resistance from 
developers to imposing such conditions in the future.  As such, a decision to approve 
may set an unwelcome precedent in terms of the Council's future approach to controlling 
countryside development. Suggest that the applicant submit plans and ask for it to be 
lifted at the same time.  Or submit plans for a decision.” (Officer Note: Property is no 
longer in the countryside) 
 

133



Local Members: No comments received 
 
Local Residents:  No comments received         
 

 

REPRESENTATIONS 

 
No representations received 
 

 

APPLICANTS POINTS 

 
Summarised Below: 
 
Condition 6 was imposed because the approved development was to occur in a rural 
area where the sizes of extensions to houses were restricted by planning policy. The 
site now falls into an SDL location and this goes against previous planning policy which 
sought to protect the character of rural locations.  
 
Current policy will allow the construction of many new homes in this area, which is 
contrary to previous policy and therefore there is no longer a justification for removing 
permitted development rights and condition 6 is no longer reasonable or necessary. 
 

 
 
 

PLANNING POLICY 

 

National Policy NPPF 

 

NPPG 

National Planning Policy 
Framework 

National Planning Policy 
Guidance 

Adopted Core Strategy DPD 2010 CP1 Sustainable Development 

 CP3 

 

CP11 

General Principles for 
Development 

Proposals Outside Development 
Limits (including Countryside) 

Managing Development Delivery 
Local Plan        

CC01 

 

CC02 

Presumption in Favour of 
Sustainable Development  

Development Limits 

 CC04 

 

 

Sustainable Design and 
Construction  

 

Supplementary Planning 
Documents      (SPD) 

BDG Borough Design Guide SPD  

 

 
 
 
 

134



PLANNING ISSUES 

 
Principle of Development 

 
1. The National Planning Policy Framework has an underlying presumption in 

favour of sustainable development which is carried through to the Local 
Development Plan. The Managing Development Delivery Local Plan Policy CC01 
states that planning applications that accord with the policies in the Development 
Plan for Wokingham Borough will be approved without delay, unless material 
considerations indicate otherwise. 
 

2. The site is located within the Major Development Location of Wokingham, and as 
such the principle of development has changed since the original planning 
application, when the property was located in the Countryside. 
 

3. The application is before the committee as the applicant is a senior manager at 
Wokingham Borough Council. 

 
 
Description of proposal 

 
 

4. This application proposes the removal of condition 6 of planning application 
F/2009/0075. This application was for the erection of a single storey rear 
extension, first floor side dormer extension and front porch was approved on 
11/03/2009 with conditions. This permission has been part-implemented, through 
the construction of the approved single storey rear extension. For this reason, the 
conditions on that application have come into force. 
   

5. Condition 6 states that ‘Notwithstanding the provisions of the Town and Country 
Planning (General Permitted Development) Order 1995 (as amended) (or any 
order revoking and re-enacting that order with or without modification) no 
buildings, extensions or alterations permitted by Classes A, B, C, D and E of Part 
1 of the Second Schedule of the 1995 order (as amended) shall be carried out.  
 
This condition removes permitted development rights which are listed below: 
 
Class A – The enlargement, improvement or other alteration of a dwellinghouse. 
Class B – The enlargement of a dwellinghouse consisting of an addition or 
alteration or alteration to its roof. 
Class C – Any other alteration to the roof of a dwellinghouse. 
Class D – The erection or construction of a porch outside any external door of a 
dwellinghouse. 
Class E – The provision within the curtilage of the dwellinghouse of – 
 

(a) Any building or enclosure, swimming or other pool for a purpose incidental to the 
enjoyment of the dwellinghouse as such or the maintenance, improvement or 
other alteration of such a building or enclosure; or 
 

(b) a container used for domestic heating purposes for the storage of oil or liquid 
petroleum gas.  
 

135



 
6. The reason given for the relevant condition on the decision notice of application 

F/2009/0075 is as follows:  
 

 ‘To safeguard the character of the area. Relevant policies: Wokingham District 
Local Plan Policies WOS3 and WCC1 and PPS7: Sustainable Development in 
Rural Areas. 
 
Impact on the Character of the Area 
 

7. It is important to note that The Wokingham District Local Plan has since been 
superseded by the Core Strategy and The MDD Local Plan. PPS7 (which applied 
to development in rural areas) has been replaced by the NPPF. However the 
historic policies will be explored below in order to provide a background which 
explains the original reason for the attachment of this condition to the planning 
approval. It is also important to acknowledge the Parish Council’s objection to 
this application; however it is evident that the comments are based on the fact 
that the application site is still in the Countryside, which is now not the case, as 
the current designation in the Local Plan is a Major development location.  
 

8. The quoted policies in the reason must be read in conjunction with one another. 
WOS3 stated that development proposals must be ‘…appropriate in scale of 
activity and character to the area in which they are located and be integrated into 
their local context…’ The context in the case of this dwellinghouse at the time 
that the application was approved is that it was outside of the development limits. 
For this reason, the planning application was assessed against a second policy: 
WCC1 Development in the Countryside, which outlined the categories of 
development which are allowable in the Countryside. PPS7 (now revoked) 
encouraged Local Planning Authorities to ensure that buildings in rural areas are 
of appropriate scale and design.  
 

9. Reference to the Officers Report for F/2009/0075 also makes it clear that further 
Guidance was received from Supplementary Planning Advice Note B5, which 
suggested that a 50% volume increase should usually be the maximum amount 
of extension allowed in the countryside. 
 

10. The attachment of the condition restricting further permitted development rights 
does not prevent further extensions or alterations entirely. However it requires an 
application for planning permission to be submitted for works which would 
normally fall under permitted development. Therefore the Local Planning 
Authority can retain greater control over further development in the countryside, 
in accordance with the relevant policies.  
 

11. However, since the approval of that planning application, the situation of the 
property has changed materially in planning terms, due to the fact that it is no 
longer outside of the settlement boundary (in the countryside). The property now 
falls into a Major Development Location, as well as the South Wokingham 
strategic development location and therefore Countryside policies no longer 
apply. Due to the fact that this condition was attached in order to safeguard the 
character of the countryside, the previous conditions must be assessed against 
the six tests for planning conditions, as outlined by the governments Planning 
Practice Guidance (NPPG). The NPPG states that planning conditions should 

136



only be imposed where they are: 
 

 Necessary – ‘…it is needed to make the development acceptable in 
planning terms. If a condition is wider in scope than is necessary to achieve the 
desired objective it will fail the test of necessity’. 

 Relevant to Planning  

 Relevant to the development to be permitted ‘…it must be justified by the 
nature or impact of the development permitted…’ 

 Enforceable 

 Precise  

 Reasonable in all other respects ‘…Conditions which place unjustifiable 
and disproportionate burdens on an applicant will fail the test of reasonableness’. 

 
12. It is considered that the existing condition, which restricts a wide range of 

permitted development rights in order to safeguard the character of the area (with 
specific reference to the countryside) and control further volume increases would 
now fail three of these tests. The condition is considered unnecessary, not 
relevant to the development which was permitted and unreasonable. 
 

13. The property is no longer in the countryside and therefore such restrictions on 
volume increases no longer apply, neither is there a necessity to restrict 
permitted development rights in terms of potential impacts on the character of the 
area, it is therefore unnecessary. The development would have had a significant 
impact at the time, however due to the fact that the property is no longer in the 
countryside, it is now considered irrelevant as the nature and impact of the 
development which was permitted is now materially different. The lack of 
necessity of the condition and its irrelevance under the current materially different 
planning considerations make it unreasonable.  
 

14. Below follows an assessment of the current material planning considerations: 
 

Impact on the Character of the Area (outside the countryside) 
 

15. As has been previously discussed, the application site now falls into the major 
development area of Wokingham. 2 Holme Green is a two storey dwelling 
located on Easthampstead Road. It is semi-detached with number 1 adjoining. 
Holme Green is a collection of houses of a similar style which are mainly semi-
detached and arranged in a formal fashion along Easthampstead Road. The 
removal of condition 6 of planning application F/2009/0075 would allow permitted 
development under classes A, B, C, D and E of schedule 2, part one of the 
General Permitted Development Order 1995 (now 2015) to be carried out. 
 

16. Various alterations and extensions of these buildings have been carried out, 
which broadly reflect the type of development which is falls under permitted 
development (which is not to say that they would be possible under permitted 
development) and therefore it is not considered that were permitted development 
rights to be restored to this property that there would be a significant detrimental 
impact on the character of the area. This is especially apparent in the case of 
both the attached and unattached neighbours, which have made alterations to 
their properties which are visible from the street frontage. For this reason, it is not 
considered that the restoring of permitted development rights to this property for 
the relevant classes would be detrimental to the character of the area and 

137



therefore the proposal is in accordance with Core Strategy Policy CP3 and the 
Borough Design Guide.  
 

 

 

CONCLUSION 

 
Due to this site no longer being in countryside Condition 6 from planning application 
F/2009/0075 is no longer considered to be necessary, relevant or reasonable. 
 
Therefore the removal of condition 6 is recommended as it would accord with the NPPG 
and Wokingham Development Plan Policies. 

 

 

CONTACT DETAILS 

Service Telephone Email 

Development 
Management and 
Regulatory Services 

0118 974 6428 / 6429 development.control@wokingham.gov.uk 

 

138



139



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Wokingham Without Parish Council Consultation Sheet 

 Officer Stefan Fludger 
 No F 2016162396 
 Proposal Remove conditions 5 & 6 of F/2009/0075. Condition 5 relates to no additional 
 windows/similar openings shall be constructed in the 1st flr level and condition  
 6 relates to no buildings, extnsn or elevations 

 Site 2 Holme Green, Easthampstead Road Wokingham Berkshire RG403AG 

 Committee's Comments 
 REFUSED.  This is a countryside area meaning that extensions should not result in a disproportionate 

increase over the scale of the original dwelling.  This form of condition is regularly used by the Council when 

extensions are permitted in countryside locations as a method of controlling future development.  An applicant is 

always at liberty to make a planning application for extensions which can then be determined against policy. Such 

proposals can then be tested against Policy CP11 and the NPPF.   

It is noted from the application form that pre-application discussions have taken place, although no details are 

given.  There is reference in the application to a letter of justification which does not appear to be on the public 

web site.  This is not helpful since it might clarify the position and assist neighbours to make an informed 

judgement whether or not to respond.  In the absence of this information it would appear therefore that the 

applicant is using this application as a vehicle to restore full permitted development rights.  

In the absence of specific proposals to demonstrate that there will not be an adverse impact on neighbours or the 

character of the area in terms of resulting in a disproportionate increase in scale were these conditions to be 

removed, it is recommended that the application be REFUSED.  In addition, to lift such conditions may well result 

in further such applications on other sites and also resistance from developers to imposing such conditions in the 

future.  As such, a decision to approve may set an unwelcome precedent in terms of the Council's future 

approach to controlling countryside development 

Suggest that the applicant submit plans and ask for it to be lifted at the same time.  Or submit plans for a 

decision. 

 

Signed :________________________________ 
 Clerk to Wokingham Without Parish Council 

 07 September 2016 

141



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	54. Minutes of Previous Meeting
	57. Application no - 161839 Bell Farm, Bell Foundry Lane, Wokingham
	Appendix Ai - Site layout
	Appendix Aii - Illustrative Landscape Masterplan
	Appendix Aiii - Bell Foundry Lane Elevations
	Appendix Aiv - Green Link and Ashridge Stream Elevations
	Appendix B - Wokingham Town Council Full Comments

	58. Application no - 161747 Land at Arborfield Garrison, Biggs Lane ('Parcels A-G')
	161747_ Site Layout
	161747 Arborfield Comments
	161747 Barkham Comments
	161747 Finchampstead Comments

	59. Application no - 161631 Pulleyn Transport, Church Lane, Three Mile Cross
	Plan 2 - Existing Elevations
	Plan 3 - Proposed Site Plan
	Plan 4 - Proposed Ground Floor Plan
	Plan 5 - Proposed First Floor Plan
	Plan 6 - Proposed Elevations
	Plan 7 - Church Street Elevations
	Parish Council Comments

	60. Application no - 162328 Land adjacent to 9 Middlefields, Ruscombe
	Plan 1 - Location and Site Layout
	Plan 2 - Elevation and Floor Plans

	61. Application no - 161452 1-3 Coppid Hill, Barkham Road, Barkham
	Plan 2 - Sight Lines
	Plan 3 - Indicative Site Layout
	Parish Council Comments 1
	Parish Council Comments 2

	62. Application no - 162396 2 Holme Green, Easthampstead Road, Wokingham
	Location Plan - 162396
	Parish comments - 162396


